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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | present herewith
to the shareholders of the Group the annual report and audited
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

RESULTS OF THE YEAR

The media business of the Group has been affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over the world since
the year of 2019. Business activities slowed down and some of
the film and TV drama projects currently being developed by the
Group have been postponed.

Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income
of TV drama and film investments of the Company significantly
and negatively affected the operating results regarding these
investments, which in turn reduced the amount of revenue
recognized during the years of 2021 and 2020. The recorded
gross loss for the year of 2021 of approximately HK$95.4 million
(2020: gross loss of approximately HK$28.2 million) was mainly
attributable to the amount of amortization recognized exceeded
the revenue recognized from these investments.

Revenue from its media and culture business for the year of
2021 was approximately HK$199.4 million (2020: approximately
HK$47.8 million). The Group reported an net loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$401.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
HK$162.3 million).

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
48.70 HK cents (2020: loss per share 19.70 HK cents). Net
liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$190,867,000
(2020: Net assets of approximately HK$176,575,000).

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRS

FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Referring to the sections of “Disclaimer of Opinion”, “Basis
for disclaimer of opinion” and “The Board’s response to the
Auditor’s Opinion”, the Company will continue to strive to
improve its operating results and financial position and provide
further information and communicate with the Company’s
auditors from time to time for their assessment of the going
concern assumption for subsequent financial reporting periods.

While the management would strive to recover the trade
receivables of gross carrying amount of HK$114,560,000 as at
31 December 2021 to further improve its financial position, and
procure the possible loan or equity finance where necessary
and in due course, the Company will continue to allocate more
resources to media and culture segment (e.g. film and TV series
investment and production) which are the Group’s major growth
drivers.

With an aim to safeguard a higher shareholder’s return, the
Group is in the process of reviewing the future prospect and
development of its other business segments, and at the same
time exploring new business opportunities and making more
efforts to explore market opportunities in Mainland China.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all the employees of the Group
for their dedication. | would also like to thank our shareholders,
suppliers, bankers and customers for their continuous support.

Mr. Tang Liang
Chairman

Hong Kong
21 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The media business of the Group has been affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over the world since
the year of 2019. Business activities slowed down and some of
the film and TV drama projects currently being developed by the
Group have been postponed.

Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income
of TV drama and film investments of the Company significantly
and negatively affected the operating results regarding these
investments, which in turn reduced the amount of revenue
recognized during the years of 2021 and 2020. The recorded
gross loss for the year of 2021 of approximately HK$95.4 million
(2020: gross loss of approximately HK$28.2 million) was mainly
attributable to the amount of amortization recognized exceeded
the revenue recognized from these investments.

Revenue from its media and culture business for the year of
2021 was approximately HK$199.4 million (2020: approximately
HK$47.8 million).

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$401.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: approximately HK$162.3 million).

The Group will continue to monitor the development of
COVID-19 situation closely and assess its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

Media and Culture

The Group’s movies and TV drama series products and
investments, projects incubated by film directors and related
prepayments amounted to approximately HK$387.5 million as at
31 December 2021, and the followings are some highlights:
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Media investments and products

Crazy Rich Asians

The movie was invested and released by Warner Bros. Pictures,
co-invested by the Group and directed by director Jon M. Chu
(who has entered into an agreement with the Group), and was
released in August 2018. The film was adapted from a best-
selling novel written by Kevin Kwan under the same title, which
has a solid reader base. The movie stars Constance Wu, Henry
Golding, Michelle Yeoh, and etc. The highly anticipated movie is
the first major film that is not a period piece in Hollywood in two
and a half decades to feature an all ethnically Asian cast. As the
first adapted work of the novel series, there is also expectation
for it to develop into commercially successful film series where
the stories of the two sequels mainly take place in China. To
date, according to Box Office Mojo, its worldwide gross is
US$238,532,921.

Greta

The thriller/crime movie is directed by Neil Jordan who won
the Academy Award for Best Original Screenplay and starring
French actress Isabelle Huppert who has been nominated for
the Academy Award for Best Actress. The international sales of
the movie are undertaken by veteran sales agency Sierra/Affinity.
To date, international sales are anticipated to be US$9.5 million.
The movie premiered at the Toronto International Film Festival in
September 2018 and was released in March 2019.

Midway

The Group arranged the investment in the epic drama movie,
directed by the well-known director Roland Emmerich (who
has entered into an agreement with the Group), produced by
Mark Gordon and starring Woody Harrelson, Mandy Moore
and Luke Evans. It started principal photography in 2018 and
was released on 8 November 2019. The movie is also the first
World War Il film of Roland Emmerich. It is adapted from the true
stories of the Battle of Midway and tells rarely known stories of
war heroes. The total budget is approximately US$100 million. In
terms of distribution, Summit Entertainment, LLC is responsible
for the U.S., Bona Film Group is responsible for the Greater
China area and Accelerate Global Content, LLC is responsible
for overseas sales. The Deadline Magazine has provided
extensive coverage in this regard and the commentary described
the movie as “one of the biggest movies on-sale at Cannes”.
During the pre-sales period, excluding the Greater China area,
overseas pre-sales has exceeded US$30 million.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The movie topped the North American box office only in its
opening week. According to Box Office Mojo, its worldwide
gross amounted to US$126,696,475. In addition, the movie also
enjoyed positive buzz among audiences since releasing, with
being scored by up to 92% of audiences (Audience Score) on
Rotten Tomatoes, a professional film critics website.

Scary Stories to Tell in the Dark

The movie is distributed in US by Lionsgate, co-financed by
CBS Films, eOne, the Group and Rolling Hills and was released
in August 2019. The film is adapted from a bestselling series of
short horror stories, written by Alvin Schwartz under the same
title. It is directed by André Q@vredal, produced by Academy
Award Winner Guillermo del Toro, written by Dan Hageman,
Kevin Hageman, and Guillermo del Toro. Starring Zoe Margaret
Colletti, Michael Garza, Gabriel Rush, etc., the movie’s
international distributor is Entertainment One and Sierra/Affinity
is the foreign sales agency of the picture. Produced for US$25
million, the movie earned US$21 million at the domestic box
office in its opening weekend. To date, according to Box Office
Mojo, its worldwide gross is US$104,545,505.

Malignant

Malignant is a 2021 American horror film directed by James Wan
from a screenplay by Akela Cooper, based on a story by Wan,
Ingrid Bisu, and Cooper. The film stars Annabelle Wallis as a
woman who begins to have visions of people being murdered,
only to realize the events are happening in real life. Maddie
Hasson, George Young, Michole Briana White, and Jacqueline
McKenzie also star. Malignant was theatrically released in the
United States on September 10, 2021, by Warner Bros. Pictures
simultaneously streamed on HBO Max for one month. It is
streaming on YouTube, Apple TV, Google Play Movies & TV,
Vudu, Amazon Prime Video, YouTube TV and Hulu now.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEmRO

Posted to his Twitter handle, Stephen King, the legendary horror
author praises Wan’s Malignant. In one short sentence, King
sums up his feelings, saying, “/ watched MALIGNANT on HBO
and thought it was brilliant.” King’s tweet already has over 2,461
retweets and 33,000 likes. While critics and fans seem mixed
over Wan’s new horror movie, King sincerely feels the film is
brilliant. Given King’s expertise in all things horror, receiving
praise from the author must feel like a high honor. For many fans
who have yet to see Malignant, King’s high praise is sure to peak
their interest.

Malignant was released to high reviews and good word of
mouth. David Stratton from The Australian mentioned that “Wan
cheerfully draws on the extreme work of horror film aficionados
such as David Cronenberg and Dario Argento as he piles on the
bloody violence.” Becca James from Chicago Reader mentioned
that “Malignant is the type of movie that requires viewers to
strap in and shut up from the onset.” A.A. Dowd from AV Club
mentioned that “There’s no way to watch this deranged follow-
up and not conclude that Wan'’s back where he belongs.” Alison
Shoemaker from Fox 710 Phoenix mentioned that “Wan’s final
twist is so maniacal and so (and this is a compliment) deeply
and thoroughly stupid that it more than makes up for the minor
missteps along the way.” Perri Nemiroff from YouTube mentioned
that “James Wan swings for the fences and it pays off big time.
Malignant is a bonkers and bloody delight that showcases a
multitude of different skills and styles Wan’s honed through his
horror fims over the years.” The IMDb rating of Malignant is
6.3/10. And, the Tomatometer of Malignant reaches 76%.

Malignant won the ReFrame Stamp for Best Feature at ReFrame
2022. It was also nominated for 1) BloodGuts UK Horror Awards
at BloodGuts UK Horror Awards 2022 2) Best CCA Super
Awards at Critics Choice Super Awards 2022 3) Dorian Award
at GALECA: The Society of LGBTQ Entertainment Critics 2022
4) HFCS Award at Hawaii Film Critics Society 2022 5) HCA
Award at Hollywood Critics Association 2022 6) HCA Awards
At Hollywood Critics Association 2021 7) INOCA at International
Online Cinema Awards (INOCA) 2022 8)MCFCA Award at the
Music City Film Critics’ Association Awards 2022 9) PCC Award
at the Phoenix Critics Circle 2021 10) PCA Award at the Portland
Critics Association Awards 2021.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Marshall

The movie was obtained by the Group through acquisition.
It is internationally distributed by Sony Pictures Worldwide
Acquisitions Inc., and distributed by Open Road Films, LLC
in North America. The movie is produced by Paula Wagner,
an experienced Hollywood producer, and starring Chadwick
Boseman, the leading actor of “Black Panther”, and Sterling
K. Brown, an Emmy Award winner and the leading actor of
“This Is Us”. The movie was nominated for Oscar Best Original
Song (theme song: Stand Up For Something) and received Top
Ten Films of African American Film Critics Association Awards,
Audience Choice Award of Chicago International Film Festival,
Annual Song Award of Hollywood Film Awards, Best Original
Song Award of Annual Satellite Awards as well as 18 other
internationally renowned awards nominations.

My Robot Boyfriend

My Robot Boyfriend, an urban love sci-fi comedy directed by Lai
Chun Tsang and starring Chao Jiang and Xiaotong Mao, which
has been firstly broadcasted on Zhejiang Satellite TV on 21
October 2019 with concurrently releasing on Tencent Video and
Mango TV.

PROJECTS INCUBATING BY FILM
DIRECTORS

With the commitment in further diversifying and enhancing
the entertainment business of the Group so as to broaden the
income sources, the Group has engaged 8 film directors.

James Wan, Roland Emmerich, Jon M. Chu, Robert Zemeckis,
Alan Taylor, Jonathan Liebesman, F. Gary Gray, Sylvester
Stallone, Nattawut Poonpiriya and Sam Raimi in relation to the
development and production of motion picture projects, which
enable the Group to tap into the business of film production
and distribution. Reference may be made to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 March 2020 for details of the profile
of some of the projects under development. With respect
to those projects that have not been completed prior to the
terminations or expirations of the development agreements, the
Company and those directors will continue to collaborate on the
development of those projects.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s revenue
generated from media and culture business amounted to
approximately HK$199.4 million (2020: approximately HK$47.8
million), with a gross loss of approximately HK$95.4 million
(2020: approximately HK$28.2 million).

Since the year of 2019, the media business of the Group has
been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all
over the world. Business activities slowed down and some of
the film and TV drama projects currently being developed by the
Group have been postponed.

Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income of
TV drama and film investments of the Company significantly and
negatively affected the future cash flow projections regarding
these investments, which in turn reduced the amount of
revenue recognized during the year. The recorded gross loss
was therefore mainly attributable to the amount of amortization
recognized exceeded the revenue recognized from these
investments.

Entertainment and Gaming

As this segment was no longer revenue or profit generating
to the Group, and the management decided to allocate more
resources to media and culture segment, this segment’s
business was ceased in February 2020 and the underlying
companies of this segment were either dissolved or disposed of
during February 2021.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group reported a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$401,089,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: approximately HK$162,275,000).

The Board considers that the continued losses incurred by
the Group were mainly attributable to the gross losses of
HK$95,392,000 and the recognition of impairments of assets
totaling HK$288,636,000 during the year.

Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
48.7 HK cents (2020: approximately 19.70 HK cents). Asset
deficiency of the Group were approximately HK$190,867,000
(2020: net assets of approximately HK$176,575,000).
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Below are material factors underlying the Company’s Results
and Financial Position

(i) the cost of sales increased by approximately
HK$218,781,000 from approximately HK$75,997,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (“FY2020") to
approximately HK$294,778,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021 (“FY2021”) was mainly attributable to
the increase in amortization recognised as a new film
investment of the Company was released in the year of
2021.

(i)  the selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$17,674,000 from nil in FY2020 to
approximately HK$17,674,000 in FY2021 was mainly
attributable to the efforts provided by the Group in relation
to selling and distribution of a new film investment of the
Company as well as recognition of project costs previously
prepaid/capitalised.

(i) the loss on disposal of subsidiaries of the amount of
HK$26,810,000 in FY2021 was mainly attributable
to the amount of HK$25,010,000 of non-controlling
interest (In equity) released from reserves, the amount of
HK$4,061,000 of exchange reserve (In equity) released
from reserves, which is partly offset by the amount of
gain of HK2,261,000 upon derecognition of the Gaming
Operation’s underlying assets and liabilities upon
dissolution/disposal to an independent third party for a
nominal consideration of HK$39 in February 2021.

(iv)  Total impairment losses increased by approximately
HK$198,200,000 from approximately HK$90,436,000 in
FY2020 to approximately HK$288,636,000 in FY2021
was mainly attributable to the increase in impairment of
HK$233,407,000 of a film investment, prepayments, other
receivables and other assets which was partially offset by
the decrease in the impairment losses of HK$35,207,000
on financial and contract assets.

(v) the total prepayments, other receivables and other
assets decreased by approximately HK$54,041,000 from
approximately HK$404,567,000 as at 31 December 2020
to approximately HK$350,526,000 as at 31 December
2021 was mainly attributable to the impairment by
approximately HK$155,584,000 from HK$1,921,000 as
at 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$155,584,000
as at 31 December 2021. For details of the increase of
impairment, please refer to note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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(vii)

Certain current portion of investment in film and television
programs and program rights was reclassed to non-
current portion of investment in film and television
programs and program rights during the year of 2021.
Such reclassification is due to full recoupment of this asset
being estimated to be taken place beyond the Company’s
normal business cycle and thus satisfying the definition of
non-current assets.

The total investment in film and television programs
and program rights decreased by approximately
HK$155,825,000 from approximately HK$301,062,000 as
at 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$145,237,000
as at 31 December 2021 is mainly attributable to
impairment loss on a film investment of HK$80,223,000
and amortization of HK$294,778,000.

Please see the disclosure under the impairment
analysis of fim investment set out in “Notes to Financial
Statements-20. Investment in Film and Television
Programs”.

the financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
increased by approximately HK$192,023,000 from nil as
at 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$192,023,000
as at 31 December 2021 mainly attributable to several co-
investment agreements with investors in film production
projects, which entitled the investors to receive a variable
income based on the investor’s investment amount and
expected rate of return as specified in the respective co-
investment agreements. All these films had been released
and the carrying amount at the end of the reporting period
represented the fair value of the estimated net future cash
flows from these films attributable to the investors. The
repayment dates of these liabilities are normally after 30
days every time the Company receives cash receipts from
distributors. The fair value gains on remeasurement of fair
value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss amounting to HK$81,850,000 during the year. Please
see the disclosure under the impairment analysis of film
investment is set out in “Notes to Financial Statements—25.
Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss”.

(vii)
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FUTURE PLANS AND PROSPECTS

Referring to the sections of “Disclaimer of Opinion”, “Basis
for disclaimer of opinion” and “The Board’s response to the
Auditor’s Opinion”, the Company will continue to strive to
improve its operating results and financial position and provide
further information and communicate with the Company’s
auditors from time to time for their assessment of the going
concern assumption for subsequent financial reporting periods.

While the management would strive to recover the trade
receivables of gross carrying amount of HK$114,560,000 as at
31 December 2021 to further improve its financial position, and
procure the possible loan or equity finance where necessary
and in due course, the Company will continue to allocate more
resources to media and culture segment (e.g. film and TV series
investment and production) which are the Group’s major growth
drivers.

With an aim to safeguard a higher shareholder’s return, the
Group is in the process of reviewing the future prospect and
development of its other business segments, and at the same
time exploring new business opportunities and making more
efforts to explore market opportunities in Mainland China.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL

There is no material acquisition and disposal conducted by the

Group during the year that should be notified to the shareholders
of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
NIL).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s capital deficiency was
approximately HK$189,848,000 (2020: equity attributable to its
owners of approximately HK$202,548,000).

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Total Impairment losses amounted to approximately
HK$288,636,000 for the year, comprising impairment losses on
financial and contract assets of HK$55,229,000 (details refer
to notes 17 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements),
impairment losses on a film investment of HK$80,223,000
(details refer to notes 20 to the consolidated financial
statements), and impairment loss on prepayments, other
receivables and other assets of HK$153,184,000 (details refer to
notes 18 to the consolidated financial statements).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operation by internally
generated cash flow, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
and film investment loans, amount due to a holding company,
and through issuance of promissory notes and convertible
bonds.

The major shareholders of the Company have been able to
provide financial resources (in form of loan advance, equity
finance etc.) to support the Group’s operations. For example,
the Group obtained an advance of HK$472,229,000 (equivalent
to RMB415,000,000) (“Advance”) from the then controlling
shareholder CI[2 2B X1EEFEEBRAT) in the year of
2019. The Group has fully repaid the Advance and the then
controlling shareholder also confirmed the full repayment of the
Advance during the year of 2020. The Company believes that
its shareholders will continue to provide financial support to the
Group where necessary and in due course.

BEEE

RIE_—F+_"_HB=+—H8 > AATERFML
189,848,000 7T (CE_ZF : HEA AELRE
% #9202,548,000% 7) ©

R {ERSE

Em;‘EJZfEFé??E%@%E,%’\sts,eses,ooo%ﬁ’@%ﬁﬁm
SHEERMERES5,229,0008 T (F1E5H2
??éﬁﬁkiﬁ%«%ﬁﬁﬁw&w) CEERERERE
80 223,000 T GEIERE 2B H B REME20)
MERBARE EMERRIEREMEERERIE
153,184,00058 7T GX B2 REG SV BREM
18) ©

RHEERMEER

FEE-RUAREEZRERE SHRRITRHE
thEEURBEEREEN BY—BERARNRE
REBETAREBEBRAIBKRESAHEEHEE
RMHEE-

FAABEERFAIUBRGER RERELE S NIR
HEYBEERUIFAEFEEE -FW  AEERZ
E-NEEHERZIZERREIREEXLEE
BIEATEBHERA72,229,0008 T (HENRAR
#£415,000,0007%) (TBFR)) - AEBERHEER
P BHERZIERBRETIN S _SFERIEBRN
ZRUEB - AABHEERFEZELER LB
mEnAERREMEER-




_{ \ [

Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank balances and
cash amounted to approximately HK$157,105,000 (2020:
HK$142,837,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the current ratio was approximately
0.51 (2020: approximately 2.03) based on current assets of
approximately HK$461,019,000 (2020: HK$1,012,292,000)
and current liabilities of approximately HK$909,907,000 (2020:
HK$497,876,000).

Further details regarding the liquidity of the Group are set out
in “going concern assumption” of note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN
EXCHANGE RATES

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and business transactions
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and U.S.
dollars which have been relatively stable during the year. The
Group was not exposed to material foreign exchange risk
and has not employed any financial instruments for hedging
purposes.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

The Group employed 22 (2020: 27) employees as at 31
December 2021. The Group’s remuneration policies are primarily
based on prevailing market salary levels and the performance of
the respective companies and individuals concerned. Employees
may also be invited to participate in the share option scheme of
the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group has entered into
agreements with lenders of other borrowings and film investment
loans of the Group, among others, to extend the repayment
date of the other borrowings and film investment loans and to
mitigate the liquidity issues of the Group. Further details are set
out in “going concern assumption” of note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Other than disclosed above, there is no major event after the
reporting period that should be notified to the shareholders of
the Company.
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MAJOR VARIANCE BETWEEN AUDITED
RESULTS AND UNAUDITED RESULTS

Set out below are the reasons for the major variances between
the Unaudited Results and the Audited Results provided on
pages 35 to 38 in the Audited Results Announcement pursuant
to Rule 13.49(3)(ii)(b) of the Listing Rules:

I. Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

(@)

Revenue: increased by HK54,094,000 is mainly
attributable to increase in revenue recognized of film
investments with information subsequently available
to the Company;

Cost of sales: increased by HK135,272,000 is
mainly attributable to increase in amortization of
HK$135,272,000 of a film investment (with its at-
cost value increased) with information subsequently
available to the Company;

Other income and gains: decreased by HK2,321,000
is mainly attributable to decrease of other income of
HK$3,839,000 of a receipt which was subsequently
classified as contract liabilities, offset by other
adjustments of HK$1,518,000;

Selling and distribution expenses: increased by
HK9,637,000 is mainly attributable to recognition of
expenses of HK$9,637,000 previously capitalized as
film investment;

Administrative expenses: increased by HK$245,000
is mainly attributable to recognition of additional audit
fee of HK$245,000;

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: increased by
HK$26,810,000 is mainly attributable to an amount
of HK1,800,000 reclassed from loss for the year
from discontinued operation and to amount of non-
controlling interest (In equity) of HK$25,010,000
released from reserves;

Impairment losses on financial and contract
assets, net: increased by HK$12,773,000 is mainly
attributable to increase in recognition of impairment
loss of HK$12,773,000 of a contract asset;

BEGFRAXEEERGRHZE
EER

T 5 AR iR A 13.49(3)(ii) (b E R & B 1 2
ENEFEISEISEREMNAKLEZRELEAKLEZ
EERZTEEZENERRA

. FEEHER

(a) Wa : 1E054,094,0008 0 FERHN
BEXRBHRAESNENEDBR
BREW@B ;

(b) SHERIZ @ 18N135,272,0008 7 =&
EHRBEAABDEBIESHNER
BB EINIE 135,272,000/ T (3%
A EEIE ) ;

) HtWARWK= : #12,321,0008
T EEBR BN HE Mt U AER B D
3,839,000t ERDEAGNERIL
#2 EL S8 %£1,5618,00078 Jo P8

(d) #HERDHMEZ  1EMN9,637,000% 7T »
TERHNBEBAMNEF TRBERRE
HIBH29,637,0008 7T ;

(e) 1THIRAX : 1BN245,000/8 7T T EREH
PSR ERINMZ B B A 245,000 7T ;

H BEEWEBASEIE @ 1EM26,810,000
AT TERHRRERIECEEHZ
FABEREH 1,800,000 7T K
BREBPBRRIFERED Gt AR
25,010,000 7T ;

(0 =M EERERIE P8 M
12,773,0008 70 FERHNREREH
= EREREEIN12,773,0008 7T ;




A

Management Discussion and Analysis

(h)  Impairment losses on a film investment: increased by
HK$80,223,000 is mainly attributable to impairment
recognition regarding a film when adjusting its book
amount (after amortization) to value-in-use amount
as at 31 December 2021;

(i) Impairment losses on prepayments, other receivables
and other assets: increased by HK$153,184,000 is
mainly attributable to recognition of impairment of
HK$153,184,000 upon completion of an impairment
assessment of the Company;

() Changes in fair value of financial and derivative
financial liabilities: increased by HK$81,131,000
is mainly attributable to changes in fair value of
HK$81,131,000 of financial liabilities reclassed from
film investment loans;

(k) Finance cost: increased by HK$3,304,000 is mainly
attributable to the recognition of imputed interest
expenses of HK$2,123,000 of interest-free film loans
and recognition of film loan interest of HK$1,181,000
with information subsequently available to the
Company;

(I) Other expenses: increased by HK$16,005,000 is
mainly attributable to increase in recognition of late
charge and default interest of HK$12,484,000, and
other adjustments of HK$3,521,000; and

(m) Income tax credit: increased by HK$20,326,000 is
mainly attributable to derecognition of deferred tax
liabilities of HK$14,949,000 and derecognition of tax
payables of HK$5,334,000 upon completion of USA
tax review.

Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position

Non-Current Assets

(n) Prepayments, other receivables and other assets:
decreased by HK$128,029,000 is mainly attributable
to impairment of HK$127,717,000, and other
adjustments of HK$312,000;

Current Assets

(0) Trade receivables: increased by HK$6,384,000
is mainly attributable to increase in revenue
of HK$6,384,000 recognised with information
subsequently available to the Company;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIEE wm R Ah

Prepayments, other receivables and other assets:
decreased by HK$27,422,000 is mainly attributable
to impairment of HK$25,947,000 recognised and
other adjustments of HK$1,475,000;

Contract assets: decreased by HK$13,047,000 is
mainly attributable to impairment of HK$12,775,000
and other adjustments of HK$272,000;

Investment in film and television programs and
program rights: net decreased by HK$18,629,000
is mainly attributable to increase in amortization of
HK$135,272,000 and recognition of impairment of
HK$80,223,000, which was partly offset by increase
in film cost of HK$196,866,000 recognised with
information subsequently available to the Company;

Cash and cash equivalent: increased by HK$114,000
is attributable to the recognition of bank balance of
HK$114,000 with information subsequently available
to the Company;

Current Liabilities

()

Other payables and accruals: decreased by
HK$108,306,000 is mainly attributable to amount of
HK$21,398,000 reclassified to film investment loans,
amount of HK$67,615,000 reclassified to contract
liabilities, amount of HK$48,138,000 recognized
as revenue, which is partly offset by amount of
HK$12,484,000 recognized as late charge and
default interest, amount of HK$8,381,000 recognised
as expenses accruals, amount of HK$7,800,000
recogised with information subsequently available
to the Company and amount of HK$180,000
reclassified from amount due to a director;

Contract liabilities: increased by HK$24,669,000 is
mainly attributable to amount of HK$67,615,000
reclassed from other payables and amount of
HK$3,853,000 recognized as reversal of other
income, which is partly offset by an amount of
46,799,000 reclassed to film investment loans;
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(vy  Amount due to a director: decreased by HK$180,000
is attributable to the amount of HK$180,000
reclassified to other payables and accruals;

(w) Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and film
investment loans: decreased by HK$11,206,000 is
mainly attributable to an amount of HK$274,172,000
reclassified to financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, which is partly offset by amount
of HK$194,769,000 recognised with information
subsequently available to the Company, amount of
HK$46,799,000 reclassified from contract liabilities,
and an amount of HK$21,398,000 as reclassified
from other payables;

(x) Derivative financial liabilities: increased by
HK$815,000 is mainly attributable to increase in
change in fair value of derivative financial liabilities of
HK$815,000;

(yy  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
increased by HK$192,023,000 is mainly attributable
to an amount of HK$274,172,000 reclassified from
film investment loans, partly offset by decrease in
fair value in the amount of HK$81,850,000, and
exchange realignment of HK$299,000;

(zz Amount due to a major shareholder: increased by
HK$1,227,000 is attributable to reclassification of
HK$1,227,000 from non-current liabilities;

(aa) Tax payable: decreased by HK$5,334,000 is
attributable to an amount of HK$5,334,000
derecognised upon completion of USA tax review.;

Non-Current Liabilities

(bb) Amount due to a major shareholder: decreased
by HK$1,227,000 is mainly attributable to
reclassification of the HK$1,227,000 to current
liabilities; and

(cc) Deferred tax liabilities: decreased by HK$14,949,000
is attributable to an amount of HK$14,949,000
derecognised upon completion of USA tax review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
(the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
including those revised code provisions which became effective
on 1 April 2012, 1 September 2013, 1 January 2016 and 1
January 2019. During the year ended 31 December 2021 the
Company complied with all applicable provisions of the Code
for their respective applicable periods except for the deviations
stated below:

Code Provision A.6.7

Under code provision A.6.7, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of
the views of the shareholders. Due to other pre-arranged
commitments, three of the independent non-executive directors
were unable to attend the Company’s annual general meeting
held on 23 June 2021.

Code Provision E.1.2

Under code provision E.1.2, chairman of the board should
attend the annual general meeting. Due to other pre-arranged
commitments, the then chairman of the Board was unable to
attend the Company’s annual general meeting held on 23 June
2021.
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THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s business strategic
decisions and performances.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised six Executive
Directors, Mr. Tang Liang (Chairman), Mr. Chau Chit (Deputy
Chairman), Mr. Luo Lei (Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Zhou
Jingbo, Mr. Sang Kanggiao and Ms. Wu Xiaoli; and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Wai Kwan, Mr.
Michael Ngai Ming Tak and Mr. Jing Xufeng.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are
persons with academic and professional qualifications in the
fields of accounting and/or appropriate expertise. They provide
strong support towards the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board. Each Independent Non-executive
Director gives an annual confirmation of his independence to
the Company and the Company considers these directors to be
independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Details of Directors’ attendance records during the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out below:
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Meetings Attended/Held

BERE/ BTEERH
Anti-money Investment
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Executive Laundering Steering
Directors i3 AGM Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
REEEAE fE4 EnEES REZEE HHESS #7EEE  RABHEEE KEESEEE
Executive Directors #rEs
Mr. Tang Liang ERtE 0/ m 1 1 00 00
Mr. Chau Chit BiifE il mn 2% 00
Mr. Luo Lei BErE o m 00 0/0
Mr. Zhou Jingbo (appointed on 15 July 2021) BEREL M-E--FtA+LRESRA 00 0 00 00 00
Mr. Sang Kanggjao ERERE 011 41 1 00
Ms. Wu Xiaoli BIELT on 6/7 00
Mr. Gao Qun (resigned on 15 July 2021) BELE (M -E--FtBTIRED 0/ 45
Independent Non-executive Directors BU4nER
Mr. Wong Wai Kwan TRERE on mn 33 22 1 00 00
Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tek BEELE on m 33 22 1 00
MrJing Xufeng (appointed on 12 May 2021) SBEEE (R-E--FRAT-REEA 0/ 34 10 1 00 00
Mr. Ma Runsheng (resigned on 12 May 2021) ERLEE (RZF--ERAT-ARG) 000 3 2 0 000 00
Mr. Wong Wai Hung (resigned on 12 May 2021) BEREE (RZE_-ERAT-ARG) 000 113 22 0/ 000 00
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Apart from the above regular board meetings of the year, the
board of Directors will meet on other occasions when a board-
level decision on a particular matter is required. The Directors
receive details of agenda items for decision and minutes of
committee meetings in advance of each board meeting. The
board of Directors has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering corporate strategy, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment, succession planning, risk management,
major acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions, and other
significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the board of Directors
to the management include the preparation of annual and interim
accounts for board approval before public reporting, execution
of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the board
of Directors, implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with
relevant statutory requirements, rules and regulations.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Non-executive Directors of the Company including Independent
Non-executive Directors, are appointed for terms of one year or
three years. In addition, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting pursuant
to the Bye-laws of the Company.

According to the Company’s Bye-laws, Directors appointed to fill
casual vacancies shall hold office until the next following general
meeting and can be eligible for re-appointment at that time.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are continually encouraged to update themselves
with legal and regulatory developments, and the business
and market changes to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities.

All Directors are requested to provide the Company with their
respective training records pursuant to the Code.
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During the year, the Directors have confirmed their participation
in appropriate continuous professional development activities by
ways of attending seminars or self-reading.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors throughout the year
ended 31 December 2021.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012.
[t comprises one Executive Director and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, and is currently chaired by Mr. Tang Liang.

Its primary objectives include reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board under diversified perspectives set out
in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate.

The Company has formulated the nomination policy, and factors
which would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for director
include, inter alia, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy, willingness to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as Board member, diversity of the Board, and
such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee held 2 meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2021.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a board diversity policy which aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Group.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Under the code provision B.1.1, the Company should establish
a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly
with its authority and duties. The roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee include the determination of the
specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and
senior management of the Company, including benefits in
kind, pension rights and compensation payments, such as any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and make recommendations to the board of the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

As at the date of this report, members of the Remuneration
Committee included:

Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak
Mr. Tang Liang

Mr. Wong Wai Kwan

Mr. Jing Xufeng

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee were held in 2021
to discuss remuneration related matters.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and reviewed
the existing terms of employment contracts of the executive
Directors and appointment letters of the non-executive
Directors with reference to the factors including salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the Directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the
Company and desirability of performance-based remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee considers that the existing
terms of employment contracts of the executive Directors and
appointment letters of the non-executive Directors are fair and
reasonable. Details of the emolument policy of the Directors are
set out in note 8 of this report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditors are Ernst & Young (the
“Auditors”). The audit committee of the Group (the “Audit
Committee”) is responsible for considering the appointment
of the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions
performed by the external auditors, including whether such non-
audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse
effect on the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
auditor’'s remuneration is HK$3,068,000 (31 December 2020:
HK$2,446,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As required by Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
established an Audit Committee with written terms of reference
which deal clearly with its authority and duties. Its principal
duties are to review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems. As
at the date of this report, members of the Audit Committee
included:

Mr. Wong Wai Kwan
Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak
Mr. Jing Xufeng

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the Auditors on the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021, and is of the opinion that the preparation of
the consolidated results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The Audit Committee considered that the existing terms in
relation to the appointment of the Group’s external auditors are
fair and reasonable.
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ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING
COMMITTEE

An Anti-money Laundering Committee was established on 12
February 2015. At the date of this report, members composed
of two Executive Directors and two Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Company’s anti-money laundering policy and procedures and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board, monitoring the implementation and compliance with
the Company’s standard operation procedures for anti-money
laundering and reviewing such policy, as appropriate, and
making recommendations on any revisions that may be required
to the Board.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

An Executive Committee was established on 13 April 2018. At
the date of this report, members composed of five Executive
Directors. The Committee is responsible for monitoring the day-
to-day operation of the Company and any of the Company’s
subsidiaries (“Subsidiary”) from time to time and should be
reported to the Board.

INVESTMENT STEERING COMMITTEE

An Investment Steering Committee was established in June
2010. At the date of this report, members composed of two
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Committee is responsible for the consideration,
recommendation of potential investment projects. Ad-hoc
meetings will be held when potential projects are identified.
During the meeting, they will review individual project’s position
and action to be taken if necessary, and to recommend to the
board for consideration and approval.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the accounts and the
responsibilities of the Auditors to the shareholders of the
Company are set out on pages 58 to 59 of this report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an adequate
risk management and internal control system and for reviewing
its effectiveness on an annual basis, in respect of controls on
financial, operational, compliance and risk management, to
safeguard shareholders’ interest and the Group’s assets.

The risk management and internal control system are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The system
aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in
achieving the Company’s objectives.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control system

The objectives of the risk management and internal control
framework of the Group include:

° to enhance corporate governance standards;

o to continuously establish and improve the company-wide
and top-down approach risk management and internal
control system;

. to strengthen the Group’s risk management and internal
control in compliance with the Main Board Listing Rules
requirements; and

o to address on-going changes and challenges and reduce
uncertainties.
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Three-Line defense risk management model

The Group has used a three-line defense risk management
model to identify, assess, mitigate and manage risks. At the
first line of defense, operational departments are responsible for
identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with each
business. The management, as the second line of defense, sets
out policies and procedures, defines management structure, and
provide guidance on risk management. It ensures that risks are
within the acceptable range and that the first line of defense is
effective. As the third line of defense, the Audit Committee, with
the assistance of the Group’s internal audit department, ensures
that the first and second lines of defense are effective through
on-going assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control system.

Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Significant Risks
The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Identification

° Identifies risks that may affect the Group’s businesses.

Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment

baseline developed by the management; and

° Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Responding

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk

assessment; and

. Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.
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With the assistance of the Group’s internal audit department for
implementation of risk management framework, management
promptly identifies risks, evaluates the likelihood and impact of
risks, assesses the adequacy of action plans to manage these
risks and monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the actions
plans. A risk register is prepared to summarise the identified key
risks, the assessment of risk and related risk mitigating actions
and tabled for discussion by the Audit Committee, and for
reporting to the Board through the Audit Committee members.
The risk register summary facilitates the Board in reviewing the
changes in the nature and extent of significant risks, the Group’s
ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment, as well the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing risk monitoring and related mitigating internal control
measures.

Internal Control

The Group's internal audit function is performed by an internal
audit team. The team plays an important part in the assessment
of the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group
and reports directly to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.
The team conducts internal audit reviews on material controls
and compliance with policies and procedures of the Group.
Plans and tools for corrective actions and control improvement
are identified and communicated with operations management
to address any issues or deficiencies identified. The team
monitors the implementation of remediation plans and actions
by the operations management and reports the outcome to the
Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board
conducted a review of the Group’s system of internal control
to ensure the effective and adequate risk management and
internal control system and convened meetings regularly to
discuss financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

Based on the foregoing, the Group concludes that the
Group’s risk management and internal control system, as
well as resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, is adequate and effective.
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Material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the issuer’s ability to continue as a going
concern

Reference should be made to the material uncertainties relating
to going concern were mentioned in the Disclaimer of Opinion
and Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion of the Independent Auditor’s
Report in this annual report.

The board'’s response to the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion can
be referred to Directors’ Report in this annual report.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Audit Committee also ensures that proper whistleblowing
policy is in place so that employees can report any concerns,
including misconduct, impropriety or fraud in financial reporting
matters and accounting practices, in confidence and without
fear of recrimination, for a fair and independent investigation
and the appropriate follow-up action. Employees can report
these concerns to either the Group internal audit department
or chairman of the Audit Committee. The identity of the
whistleblower will be treated with the strictest confidence.

In 2021, no incidents of fraud or misconduct were reported
from employees, Shareholders or stakeholders that had a
material effect on the Company’s financial statements or overall
operations.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board ensures the inside information is kept strictly
confidential until the relevant announcement is made. The
Directors are not aware of any significant areas which need to be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY’S TRAINING

During the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Li and
Mr. Cheung has received no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to refresh his skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings can send a written request to the Board or the
Secretary of the Company to request a Special General Meeting
(“SGM”).

The written request should be deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2001, 20/F,,
118 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The written request must state the resolution(s), accompanied by
a statement of the matters referred in the proposed resolution(s)
and signed by the shareholder(s) concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon its confirmation that the request is proper and in order,
the Company will convene a SGM within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of the request. The actual SGM shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of the written request.

Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meeting

The procedures for shareholder(s) to put forward proposals at
SGM include a written notice of those proposals being submitted
by the shareholder(s) of the Company, addressed to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong at Room 2001, 20/F., 118
Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

Procedures for nomination of Directors for
election

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director are available on the Company’s website at
www.starlightcul.com.hk.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in general meeting
may from time to time declare dividends in any currency to be
paid to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the board of directors of the Company (the
“Board”) and the Board may from time to time pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the Board to
be justified by the profits of the Company, in accordance with the
provision of the memorandum of association and Bye-laws of
the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) and the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended from time to time) (the “Companies Act”).

In accordance with the applicable requirements of the Bye-
Laws and the Companies Act, the Company shall not declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of profits available for
distribution if:

(@ it would render the Company unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(o) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby become less than its liabilities.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
shares. The Board may further resolve that such dividend be
satisfied wholly or in part by the distribution of specific assets
of any kind and in particular of paid up shares, debentures or
warrants to subscribe securities of the Company or any other
company, or in any one or more of such ways, and where any
difficulty arises in regard to the distribution the Board may settle
the same as it thinks expedient.

In respect of any dividend that the Board or the Company in
general meeting has resolved that such to be paid or declared
on any class of the share capital of the Company, the Board may
further resolve either:

(@ that such dividend be satisfied wholly or in part in the form
of an allotment of shares credited as fully paid up, provided
that the Shareholders entitled thereto will be entitled to
elect to receive such dividend (or part thereof if the Board
so determines) in cash in lieu of such allotment; or
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(b) that the Shareholders entitled to such dividend shall be
entitled to elect to receive an allotment of shares credited
as fully paid up in lieu of the whole or such part of the
dividend as the Board may think fit.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the
Board, which will take into account, inter alia, the following
factors when considering the payment or declaration of
dividends:

(@ the Group’s actual and expected operations, financial
performance and conditions and liquidity position;

(o)  the Shareholder’s interests;

(c) the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

() statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(99 general economic conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have any impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company; and

(h)  any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to
review the dividend policy and reserve the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend
policy from time to time, and the dividend policy shall in no way
constitute an assurance or a legally binding commitment by
the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend in any particular
amount for any given period.
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AMENDMENT TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no
significant changes to the Company’s constitutional document.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company discloses relevant information to shareholders
through the Company’s annual report and financial statements,
the interim report, as well as the AGM. The AGM allows the
Directors to meet and communicate with shareholders.

To further promote effective communication, the corporate
website is maintained to disseminate Company announcements
and other relevant financial and non-financial information
electronically on a timely basis.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Liang (“Mr. Tang”), aged 44, has been appointed as
an executive director on 18 September 2020. Mr. Tang has been
serving as (i) a director of Tencent Music Entertainment Group, a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock symbol:
TME), since April 2014, (i) an independent non-executive
Director of CMGE Technology Group Limited (Fr F Rl 5 £ F
BBR/AE]), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 00302), since September 2019,
(i) the chairman of China Investment Financial Holdings Fund
Management Company Limited (&R ESEEFRAE)
since April 2015, (iv) a director of CAS Health Industry (Beijing)
Company Ltd. (FEMEEEEZ JER) B2 &) since December
2016, (v) the chairman of Hefei CICFH Industry Investment
Management Company Limited (GBI EEKREEIER
FR/A &) since December 2016, (vi) the chairman of Hefei China
Film CICFH Investment Management Company Limited (& AE

TR EEERRAFT) since March 2017, and (vi)) a
director of Zhongke Zhiyun Technology Company Limited (F17%}
BERZHR AT since June 2018.

Mr. Tang graduated from Peking University in July 2000 with a
bachelor’s degree in law. Mr. Tang received a master’s degree
in litigation law from Peking University in July 2002, a master’s
degree in law from Yale University in June 2003 and a master’s
degree in science of law from Stanford University in June 2005.

Mr. Chau Chit (“Mr. Chau”), aged 57, was an Executive
Director of the Company on 22 July 2013. Mr. Chau currently
serves as the chairman of the Hong Kong Jiangyin Trade
Association and the vice president of Federation of HK Jiangsu
Community Organisations Limited. He holds a bachelor degree
in chemistry from Zhejiang University and an EMBA degree
(Executive Master of Business Administration) from Zhejiang
University.
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Mr. Chau was appointed as an executive director and as the
Chairman of Green Economy Development Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange in Hong
Kong (stock code: 1315)) on 22 July 2015 and 23 September
2015 respectively. He was re-designated to Co-Chairman and
appointed as the chief executive officer of Green Economy
Development Limited on 1 March 2017. Mr. Chau was re-
designated as the Chairman of Green Economy Development
Limited and ceased to act as the Co-chairman of Green
Economy Development Limited on 7 September 2018.

Mr. Chau was appointed as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Sino Stride Technology (Holdings) Ltd (Stock
Code: 8177). Mr. Chau was appointed an executive director,
the managing director, the chairman of the executive committee
and a member of the investment committee of HNA International
Investment Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 521) in June 2006.
Mr. Chau resigned his positions at HNA International Investment
Holdings Limited with effect from 24 October 2013.

Mr. Luo Lei (“Mr. Luo”), aged 52, is a television and film
director and producer. A graduate of the prestigious Directing
Program of Beijing Film Academy and a member of the
Producers Guild of America, Peter has been involved in film and
television productions for decades. Peter produces powerful,
innovative and diverse visual narratives that sit at the intersection
of prestige and wide commercial appeal, like F&F “Marshall”,
&334 “Crazy Rich Asians”, F# 8 “Midway”, 2SR
ZE “Scary Stories to Tell in the Dark”, EEEE “Wuhan Wuhan”,
HEnAE “Malignant”, fT# “Umma” and so on. Peter also
worked as an executive producer, director, screenwriter, and
showrunner, making many critically acclaimed and highly-rated
film and television programs, starting in 2001. These include:
EERECIRIEEE “Love in Sunshine”, which was the first TV
drama in China that finished the whole production outside the
country; ZEZH1ERS “Blooming Hibiscus,” which was the first
TV drama with a city marketing plan in China; the TV series
BIREE “Plainclothes Policeman,” which was broadcast on
CCTV-1, ranked in the top three in ratings for a year, and won
many awards including ‘The Five Best National Works’ and the
‘Outstanding TV Drama Awards from the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television’; Z & “Snowy Eagle”, which
was broadcast on CCTV-1, and was the highest-rated show of
that year, while also setting a record of 1.5 billion views online;
and BESHEAM[FE RV SE “Papa, Can You Hear Me Sing,” which
was the highest-rated show in China the year it debuted. Due
to Mr Luo’s contribution to promote diversity and inclusion in
the industry, Mr. Luo has been awarded the Griot Gala Award
in 2020 and has been rated as one of the Top dealmakers in
Hollywood in 2020 by the Variety Magazine.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Mr. Zhou Jingbo (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 39, has been appointed
as an executive Director on 15 July 2021. Mr. Zhou has
years of experience in the field of investment, mergers and
acquisitions, capital markets and corporate management.
From 2005 to 2015, Mr. Zhou worked in China International
Capital Corporation Limited (FEEH % REE R A=) and
held the positions of vice president of the investment banking
department, executive director of the growth enterprise
investment banking department* (B & & %% & R1TENIT
42#%18) , head of East China* (FER&& & A)and head of the
mergers and acquisition business* (B EE A). From
2015 to 2016, Mr. Zhou served as the managing director of
group mergers & acquisitions centre of Greenland Holding
Group Limited (A%#13ZERE BB R/AE]) . From 2016 to 2020,
Mr. Zhou was the head of the strategic investment department
of Bailian Group Co., Ltd* (B¥iEEEBRAE)), director and
deputy general manager of Shanghai Commercial Investment
(Group) Co., Ltd* (E/BMEERKRE (&E) BRAR]), director
and a member of the audit committee of Shanghai No.1
Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (E/85—BZKMDERAE), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600833),
and a non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of Lianhua Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd. (B %=
MR BBRATE), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 00980). From 2020 to 2021,
Mr. Zhou was the chief financial officer and group vice president
of the Guiyang Xingli Department Store Group Limited* (&%
ENBEEEAMRAT). Since 2021, Mr. Zhou has been the
managing director of China Investment Financial Holdings Fund
Management Co., Ltd (FIZHHMESEEEGRAH).

Mr. Zhou obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics (major in
finance) from Fudan University in 2005. Mr. Zhou obtained a
master degree in business administration for senior management
staff from Fudan University in 2019. Mr. Zhou was admitted as
a fellow of CPA Australia in 2020. Mr. Zhou obtained the PRC
Practicing Certificate of Securities Industry* (FREIz5 % 3£ & 2 55
£)issued by the Securities Association of China (FREIEE 35 217
=) in 2006.
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Mr. Sang Kanggiao (“Mr. Sang”), aged 46, has been
appointed as an executive Director on 20 February 2020. Mr.
Sang obtained a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering from
Beijing Institute of Technology. Mr. Sang has over 19 years of
experience in the securities investment industry in Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China. Mr. Sang also serves as an
executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of
U Banquet Group Holding Limited (BEE£EIZEREIRAT),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1483).

Ms. Wu Xiaoli (“Ms. Wu”), aged 32, has been appointed as an
executive Director and a member of the Executive Committee
on 23 July 2019. Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor Degree in English
from China Jiliang University in 2012. She was the general
manager of FINEEIZERBRAF], a company established in
the PRC, from 2012 to 2017. Since 2017, Ms. Wu has served
as the general manager of HIMNFEIXERIRBRAE (‘HZ
Bochuang”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Wai Kwan (“Mr. Wong”), aged 54, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in accountancy from City University of Hong
Kong in 1992 and a master’s degree in business administration
from Washington University in St. Louis, U.S.A. in 2009. He
is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Wong was the general manager
of the financial audit department of Shanghai Fosun High
Technology (Group) Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of
Fosun International Limited, whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00656). Mr. Wong
has extensive working experience in the audit and consulting
areas, particularly in initial public offerings, risk management and
mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Wong was an independent non-
executive director of Shougang Concord Technology Holdings
Limited (now known as HNA Holding Group Co. Limited), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 00521) and a member of each of the audit
committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of that company, for the period from June 2010 to
October 2013.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited
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Mr. Wong was previously appointed an independent non-
executive director of the Company from September 2013
to November 2014 and served as a member of each of the
audit committee, the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the investment steering committee of the
Company. He has been an independent non-executive director
of Green Economy Development Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
01315) since July 2015 and is a member of each of the audit
committee and nomination committee of that company.

He has been a non-executive director of Vobile Group Limited,
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 03738) since June 21, 2017 and is a
member of the audit committee of that company.

Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak (“Mr. Ngai”), aged 54, is
Chairman of The Red Group, Chairman of Asia GreenTech Fund,
President of Green Economy Development Limited (HKSE:
1315), and was previously Managing Director of UBS AG. He
has a wealth of experience in the international financial sector.

Mr Ngai is also an independent non-executive director of
CRRC Corporation Limited (HKSE: 1766, SHSE: 601766), an
independent non-executive director of China Longyuan Power
Group Corporation Limited (HKSE: 916), and an independent
non-executive director of True Partner Capital Holding Limited
(HKSE: 8657).

Mr Ngai is also a member of the National Committee of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”); a
Standing Committee member and Convener of the Heilongjiang
Provincial CPPCC; Honorary Citizen of Harbin City, Heilongjiang
Province; Chairman of Hong Kong Finance Association; Fellow
Commoner and Development Advisory Council Member of Clare
Hall, University of Cambridge; and Council Member of The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology.

Mr Ngai graduated from University of Cambridge.
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Mr. Jing Xufeng (“Mr. Jing”), aged 51, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 12 May 2021.
Mr. Jing has years of experience in the fields of news media,
audiovisual, culture media and investment management. From
July 1994 to May 2010, he served in Xinhua News Agency (£
1) as the reporter of Jiangsu Branch, director of television news
centre* (BRRFEIFL), director of news and information centre*
FrE{E S0, assistant to director of Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Editorial Department* (i ZE+t Z R ¥ B4R EE ) as
well as person-in-charge and director of Xinhua News Agency
Audio News Desk* (i =& H0)) . From October 2008 to
October 2013, he served as the director of the China Audiovideo
and Digital Publishing Association (FEIZF & EH F HRH D) .
Subsequently, he held various management positions in different
companies, including serving as the director of 360 Enterprise
Security Technology (Beijing) Group Co., Ltd. (3601 2 % 2 5 iy
(=) EEABRAE) from October 2017 to December 2018,
the chairman of Tengyue Culture Media (Beijing) Group Co., Ltd.
(BRI bEE JtR) £EAER AR from September 2016 to
December 2020, the executive director of Beijing Jinhui Graham
Investment Limited Gt REEEKREEBARAR) from April
2019 to December 2020, the chairman and manager of Tianjin
Tengyue Tianxia Culture and Technology Co., Ltd* (K2R
KT BRI AEBRAE) since June 2017, the vice chairman of
Zhongan Huixin Investment Management Co., Ltd. (122 E{5#%
EEEARAF) since July 2017, the director of Moer Xingling
(Beiing) Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (EERE T (JtR) 4848
B ABR/AT) since September 2017, the director of Zhejiang
Talent Television & Film Co., Ltd. G IEEFRBRMHDERAE),
a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock
code 300426, since May 2019 and the independent director
of CITIC Press Corporation (F{EHAREBRMNDERAZT), a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock
code 300788, since September 2016.

Mr. Jing graduated from Yangzhou University majoring in
Chinese Language and Literature in June 1994.
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The Directors hereby presents their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of Starlight Culture
Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the year and up to 31 December 2021, the company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were involved in the following
principal activities:

° media and culture business

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 60 of
the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The media business of the Group has been affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic which has spread all over the world since
the year of 2019. Business activities slowed down and some of
the film and TV drama projects currently being developed by the
Group have been postponed.

Delays in distribution, settlement as well as receipt of income
of TV drama and film investments of the Company significantly
and negatively affected the operating results regarding these
investments, which in turn reduced the amount of revenue
recognized during the years of 2021 and 2020. The recorded
gross loss for the year of 2021 of approximately HK$95.4 million
(2020: gross loss of approximately HK$28.2 million) was mainly
attributable to the amount of amortization recognized exceeded
the revenue recognized from these investments.

Revenue from its media and culture business for the year of
2021 was approximately HK$199.4 million (2020: approximately
HK$47.8 million). The Group reported an net loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$401.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: approximately
HK$162.3 million).
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Basic loss per share for the year amounted to approximately
48.70 HK cents (2020: loss per share 19.70 HK cents). Net
liabilities of the Group were approximately HK$190,867,000
(2020: Net assets of approximately HK$176,575,000).

The Group will continue to monitor the development of
COVID-19 situation closely and assess its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

Key Risks Factors

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties
which the Group faces. It is a non-exhaustive list and there
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to the key risks
factors outlined below. Besides, this report does not constitute a
recommendation or advice for anyone to invest in the securities
of the Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

1. Local taxation may increase and tax liability may increase
for future amendment of tax rules.

2. The impact of COVID-19 and the weakening in economic
and credit market conditions may continue to adversely
affect film boxing revenue and the profitability of our media
business.

3.  Risk regarding material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the issuer’s
ability to continue as a going concern may be referred
to the Disclaimer of Opinion and Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion of the Independent Auditor’'s Report in this
annual report, and the board’s response to the Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion can be referred to Directors’ Report
in this annual report.
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Future development and important events
after the end of the financial year

Details of events after the reporting period has been disclosed in
note 40 to financial Statements of page 206 of this report.

Looking ahead, the business environment remains very
challenging as downward pressure on economy of the PRC, the
global financial and economic conditions are expected to remain
unstable in view of the impacts of COVID-19. Nevertheless, the
Group will cautiously review and adjust the business strategies
from time to time, and seek the best returns to maximise value of
the Shareholders.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. We are
aware that, minimizing the consumption of resources and
adoption of best environmental practices in the business
process of the Group to the extent practicable is our underlying
commitment to preserving and improving the environment.
Acting in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopts effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction. Green initiatives include recycling of used papers,
energy saving and water saving.

The 2021 environmental, social and governance report
(the “ESG Report”) which depicts the performance on the
sustainability of the Group are available in the “Investor
Relations” section of the website of the Company at www.
starlightcul.com.hk and on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited at www.hkexnews.hk.

Relationship with suppliers, customers,
employees and other stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers, employees and other
stakeholders to meet the Group’s medium and long-term goals.
The Company creates a framework for motivating staff and
a formal communication channel in order to maintain healthy
relationships with its employees and other stakeholders.
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Compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations

In relation to human resources, the Group is committed to
complying with the requirements of the ordinances relating to
disability, gender, family status and racial discrimination, as well
as the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance
and ordinances relating to occupational safety of employees of
the Group, so as to safeguard the interests and well-being of its
employees.

There is no reported case of non-compliance with relevant laws
and regulations in relation to the groups’media and culture, and
entertainment and gaming business.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorised share capital of the
Company during the year. Details of the movement in the issued
share capital of the Company are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 65 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company had no distributable reserves at 31 December
2021 calculated under The Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The Company’s share premium account, in
the amount of HK$556,778,000 at 31 December 2021 (2020:
HK$556,778,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus account of the Company is available for
distribution. However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(@ it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than
the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, sales to the largest one and five largest
customers accounted for 92% and 100% respectively of the
total sales for the year. Purchases from the largest one and five
largest suppliers accounted for 86% and 99% respectively of the
total purchases for the year.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors of the
Company own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year, none of the Directors of the Company is
interested in any business apart from the Company’s businesses
which compete or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly
with businesses of the Company.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Chairman
Mr. Tang Liang

Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Luo Lei

Executive Directors

Mr. Chau Chit (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Zhou Jingbo (appointed on 15 July 2021)
Mr. Sang Kanggiao

Ms. Wu Xiaoli

Mr. Gao Qun (resigned on 15 July 2021)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Wai Kwan

Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak

Mr. Jing Xufeng (appointed on 12 May 2021)
Mr. Ma Runsheng (resigned on 12 May 2021)
Mr. Wong Wai Hung (resigned on 12 May 2021)
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In accordance with Bye-laws 86(2), 87(1) and 87(2) of the
Company’s bye-laws, Mr. Luo Lei, Mr. Zhou Jingbo, Mr. Sang
Kanggiao and Ms. Wu Xiaoli shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and being
eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

None of the directors being eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”)) which were disclosed
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), or as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in the Appendix 10 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“the
Listing Rules”) were as follows:
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each of the ERATEREEABTZELER (F
Company (Long positions) 2)

Approximate
Number of ordinary percentage
shares held of issued
Name of Director personal interests share capital
FAEEAEZZ weRTREZ
B SiEREA B H S L
Mr. Sang Kanggiao EEERE 13,629,500 1.65%
Mr. Chau Chit BESLE 49,693,600 6.03%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of PR ENFIIREZEIN R_E_—F+_B=+—
the Directors nor the Chief Executive of the Company nor their H>IEX AT EEREETHAENKREZHE
associates had any interest or short position in the shares, ATHRARATHEFFEEZE (EERESH&E
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its & &G EEXVER) Z R0~ IR R EE T HEFIR
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the B E5REAEEFIEXVE 2 $57 %80 IR EEIK
SFO) which were required to be disclosed to the Company and BFARAT KRR WX BN AT REETER
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of EAEKHIE352E BF FE 2 B M IRIBEZEST
the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the  BIZBBITAI G AA B KB 2 ERER LKA o

Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise

disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS EENEAXAYNZIEDS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business AT XEHEMAKBE AT MET U EREATE
(as defined in the Listing Rules) to which the Company or any SZEFNEEEEEAEGMNERBLR _Z
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the — —FEABRARNAFEEZEREAERERK
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, ZEAE4 (EER EHRA) o

subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year of

2021.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws of the Company provide that each Director,
secretary or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which any of them may incur or sustain
in or about the execution of the duties in their respective offices.
The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate
insurance to cover potential legal actions against its Directors.

The above provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 1 June 2012
(“Share Option Scheme”). No options have been granted under
the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as the Share Option Scheme of the Company, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, so far as was known to the Directors
and the Chief Executive of the Company, the following persons
(other than any director and chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as recorded in the register to be kept by the

Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified X2 :

to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

g
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FERRZEmRRE

—E+ZR=+—H 'RERAESERE
ETBASRA U AL (RRBERESEKE
EITHABRIN REARE Z KRG RABERKRG %
BRBEFRPAERGEXVERBE2KR3DE 2 FX

MARRRABIREZ BEIKR > IRBEEF R
ERPIFE3B6RAREADFEZELMPAALERZ
e EZ/J\)E B TNERNAT R BIPRZ m

Approximate

percentage
Number of of issued
ordinary share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
BEATERT
IRRER, BB g1 Fr¥s&i@EREBE RABEATESEE
(Note 1)
(PfF5E1)
Timcha Investment Limited Beneficial owner (note 2) 181,513,514 (L) 22.04%
(B "E B R AT (“Formerly
known as CICFH Innovation
Investment Limited”)
HAKRERRATE BmEA A ([52)
(TATFECICFH Innovation
Investment Limited 1)
IREEXEEBEERAR Interest of corporation controlled 181,513,514 (L) 22.04%
by you (note 2)
BT ESIR AR R (EE2)
ARBEIRFSAERERRAR Interest of corporation controlled 181,513,514 (L) 22.04%
by you (note 2)
BTG EEER (H5E2)
IR EEEERAR Interest of corporation controlled 181,513,514 (L) 22.04%
by you (note 2)
BT ERIR EE s (EE2)
Mega Start Limited Beneficial owner (note 3) 49,693,600 (L) 6.03%
BmkEA A ([5E3)
Chau Chit Interest of corporation controlled 49,693,600 (L) 6.03%

BE

by you (note 3)
BT ERIREE D (I5E3)

A
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(L) Al the shares are long positions.

1. The percentages are calculated based on the total number of
issued shares of the Company of 823,564,799 shares as at 31
December 2021.

2. The entire issued share capital of Timcha Investment Limited
(“Formerly known as CICFH Innovation Investment Limited”) is
wholly and beneficially owned by ;I[2E2EXCEEERAE,
which is owned as to 34.97% by SIS IRIHFAIZREARA
B, which is wholly and beneficially owned by ST FERI 3 ifis &
BEIEAIR/AF. By virtue of the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
AIREBXEEERERRAE, IRBINFZAEREERA
B and JIRRIEMIMIEEEBIEBRAE are deemed to be
interested in all the shares in which Timcha Investment Limited is
interested under the SFO.

3. The entire issued share capital of Mega Start Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Chau Chit. By virtue of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, Mr. Chau Chit is deemed to be interested
in the 49,693,600 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
and is not aware of any other persons who had an interest
or a short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31
December 2021.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company had no outstanding convertible securities,
warrants or other similar rights as at 31 December 2021
and there has been no exercise of any convertible securities,
warrants or similar rights during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into for the year are set out in
note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

L FERMKEREFREC

1. ZEEQUDREBR-_Z_—HF+"A=+—HZ
KNB B EITRINARE823,564, 79908 51 & ©
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3. Mega Start Limited 2 EEETRAHBESLES
EREGHEE RIEESRBERA BELEWR
AT A A 49,693,600 A 1D R EA Eam o
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is based
on their merits, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, upon considering the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchase sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to and within
the knowledge of the Directors, it is confirmed that there is a
sufficient public float of the issued share capital of the Company
throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE LISTING RULES

Following is the changes in the information of Directors since
the date of the 2021 Interim Report of the Company, which
are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules: As agreed by Ms. Wu Xiaoli, Ms. Wu’s annual
director’s remuneration would be reduced to HK$240,000
effective from the year of 2021.

EFGREE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interests of shareholders. A report on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out on
pages 21 to 35 of the annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young (“EY”) will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (‘“AGM”)
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
AGM. A resolution for the reappointment of EY as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Independent Auditor’s Report on the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021

As disclosed in sections headed “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” and “Disclaimer of Opinion” in independent auditor’s
report contained on pages 56 to 59 of this report, the auditor
of the Company did not express an audit opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 as the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$401,139,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021, and as
at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current liabilities and
total deficiency in net assets of approximately HK$448,888,000
and HK$190,867,000, respectively. During the year, the Group
defaulted on the repayment of overdue other borrowings and film
investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) amounted to
HK$308,495,000, and have a further other borrowings and film
investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) in an aggregate
amount of HK$277,093,000 which will be due for repayment
in June 2023 or before, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$157,105,000 as at 31 December 2021.
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The Board’s response to the Auditor’s Opinion

In regard to the matters described in the section headed “Basis
for Disclaimer of Opinion” in the Independent Auditor’s Report,
the Board would like to take this opportunity to provide the
Board’s response and other relevant information, as well as
measures taken or to be taken by management of the Company
for information purpose.

The Board’s response to the basis for
disclaimer of opinion

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have been
undertaking measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position, which are set out in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources
of finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The following
plans and measures are formulated to mitigate the liquidity
pressure, to improve the financial position of the Group, and to
remediate the overdue repayments to the lenders:

a) The management is closely monitoring the development
of the COVID-19 pandemic in major markets of the
Group’s business, which has a significant negative impact
on the film and cinema industry and in turn the Group’s
film investment business, the Group’s plans to raise new
financing and to realise its assets in the normal course of
business when needed.

b) The Group has been actively negotiating with all the
lenders for renewal and extension for repayments of the
overdue borrowings. The Group entered into extension
agreements with lenders of other borrowings and film
investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
in the amount of approximately HK$332,920,000 to
extend the repayment due date to June 2023. Lenders
in respect of other borrowings and fim investment loans
(including financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial liabilities) of approximately
HK$26,520,000 preliminarily intended to renew or extend
certain overdue borrowings, however, no formal agreement
has been reached yet. The Directors are confident that
such lenders will not exercise their rights to demand the
Group’s immediate repayment of the borrowings and the
Group will reach final agreements with such lenders in due
course.

i
s

Directors’ Report
EETHRES

EFTHZRMME R ZOME

MBUIZHBMBRE I ERBRR 2 EE I —BRMRL
ZEE EFEEHELNERHEETE I NRRA
BN URkARFEEEE S HRIMNFHKIRZ
B AHEE o

EFREHAERBRZBEZMOE

XABESE ((EF)) EERINEHASEER R
BETRMBR ERR GG BRRME2-

AFETEERSHENBERFACENTEY
BERR BEXCERSEAEENRKMBES
REBRUKRAHBUBER - AEE B HI] T
B RERUER R ECE N AEREBNYH
AT R B R A FL 2 A B R T AR -

a) EBEBIEZYIIECOVID-19ZENAERE
KRREFTEMSTNERRKT BRI
BT ENEAamsE EmY
REBNEFREEBURKAER RN ER

NEtBIEMEREETE-

by XEEB-—BERBEGEFMERNBEAMEERIE
HEBRABEEEETER AEEMSEY
332,920,000 Tt HMEEKRBHXKEE
N (EBEBRAFEFAEGZNESREERTT
A BRE AT ILIER RS Ui
BEHIBAEEE S -_=F/,8 #B4
26,520,000 B T2 EMEEREFEREEN
(BERAFEAAEGENERaBERITE
SHEd) ERACREBEAVNTREZEERILERE
ETAAEE BEREREXHE ESE
FE RERBEABASTEERIMEREAE
EENREEEE BAEEBBREZEN
BAER R E-

EXLBREERMBRAT
T —FFH

"

1\

54



P R

Directors’ Report

EEOHREE

Subsequent to 31 December 2021, the Group has also
been negotiating with financiers of the film industry to
secure new sources of financing. The Directors believe
that, given the Group’s track record of film investment and
relationship with famous film directors, the Group will be
able to obtain new financing.

The Group will continue to take active measures to
control administrative costs and prioritise film investment
expenditures. In this connection, the Group has agreed
with third party film production companies for the
withdrawal of prepaid investments in the amount of
HK$63,181,000 made subsequent to 31 December 2021
which will generate cash flows to the Group in a longer
run.

The management is closely monitoring and planned to
take action in the first half of 2023 to re-finance the other
borrowings and film investment loans (including financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities) with repayment due date postponed
to June 2023 due to their low finance cost. However, the
Directors are confident that the Group will secure new
sources of financing to refinance the other borrowings
and film investment loans (including financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities), or to further extend the repayment due date,
or otherwise negotiate with lenders not to take actions
against the Group before their due date in June 2023.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Tang Liang
Chairman

Hong Kong

21 June 2022
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To the shareholders of Starlight Culture Entertainment
Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 206,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group due to significance of the matter
leading on multiple uncertainties of the Group’s going concern.
Because of the potential interaction of the multiple uncertainties
and their possible cumulative effect on the consolidated
financial statements as described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, it is not possible for us to form an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Lk st EFEFR
ERMECRREEITISR  Fax HH: +852 2868 4432
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple uncertainties relating to going
concern

As set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group incurred a net loss of HK$401,139,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021, and as at 31 December 2021,
the Group had net current liabilities and total deficiency in net
assets of approximately HK$448,888,000 and HK$190,867,000,
respectively. During the year, the Group defaulted on the
repayment of overdue other borrowings and film investment
loans (including financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) amounted to
HK$308,495,000, and have a further other borrowings and fim
investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) in an aggregate
amount of HK$ 277,093,000 which will be due for repayment
in June 2023 or before, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$157,105,000 as at 31 December 2021. These
conditions, together with other matters disclosed in note 2.1 to
the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of
material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have been
undertaking measures to improve the Group’s liquidity
and financial position, which are set out in note 2.1 to the
consolidated financial statements and prepared cashflow
forecast for an eighteen months period ending 30 June 2023 for
the going concern assessment. The validity of the going concern
assumption on which the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple uncertainties, including whether i)
the COVID-19 pandemic will soon be controlled or contained
in major markets of the Group so that the film and cinema
industry which is negatively impacted will recover to enable the
Group to continue to carry out its film investment business, to
raise financing, and to realise its assets in the normal course
of business when needed; ii) new financing will be obtained
to support its operating cash outflows; and i) re-finance or
extensions will be obtained to extend the due date of the
other borrowings and film investment loans (including financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities) before their due date in June 2023.

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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(continueq)

Multiple uncertainties relating to going
concern (continued)

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to
issue an auditor’s report. Our report is made solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. However, because of the
matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section
of our report, it is not possible for us to form an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of FEthics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Siu Fung Terence Ho.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 June 2022
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raiEm
Year ended 31 December 2021 & ZE Z—F -+ = H = BlE
2021 2020
g% “BIEF
Notes HK$’000 HIK$'000
M 5 FET TAET
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEREXRS
REVENUE g 5 199,386 47,761
Cost of sales HE AR (294,778) (75,997)
Gross (loss) ESNE)) (95,392) (28,236)
Other income and gains H AU A B Uz 5 3,135 3,775
Selling and distribution expenses & & HFE X (17,674) a
Administrative expenses TR (35,149) (24,219)
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of REMEAS (18 /&
subsidiaries (26,810) 2,455
Impairment losses on ETHMEENEEREBERIE
financial and contract assets, net  ;F%8 (55,229) (90,436)
Impairment loss on a film investment & 5% & B {E 518 (80,223) -
Impairment losses on prepayments, F&15 =18 ~ EL 4t FE R IE K
other receivables and other assets H & E R EE 18 (153,184) -
Changes in fair value of ETMETEEMEE
financial and derivative N (EEE)
financial liabilities 83,751 14,390
Finance costs %N 7 (14,987) (18,602)
Other expenses HMFEsz (24,927) (12,143)
(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM FERE T 2 FRIRA
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (&518) 6 (416,689) (148,016)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrfiEe, () 10 15,550 (11,785)

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM HESEEB L ER (518)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS (401,139) (159,801)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS B#RILEEE
(Loss) for the year from discontinued B4 IEE&E 272 £ 1
operations (518) 1 - (2,067)

(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR F£R (5518) (401,139) (162,408)




AREERmR

Consolidated Statement o

Year ended 31 December 2021 HiE_E_—F+_BA=+—HILFEE

2021 2020
g% BB
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 FHET TAET
Attributable to: DUR A LB
Owners of the parent BREHE A (401,089) (162,275)
Non-controlling interests R R (50) (133)
(401,139) (162,408)
(LOSS) PER SHARE BAREBESZRFAA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO FE{LERE (B548)
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 18
Basic and diluted BEXRRi#HE
— For loss for the year —FANEE HK(48.70) cents#fll  HK(19.70) centsi&
— For loss for —FEREER Y
continuing operations 518 HK(48.70) cents#fll  HK(19.38) centsEL
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idated Statement of Comprehenswe Income .
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2021 2020
g% BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR T
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (401,139) (162,408)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hth 2w z=
Other comprehensive income that E?ﬁﬁﬁ Mol pEEHOER
may be reclassified to profit or S EMEEmWE
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: ]
Exchange differences on translation RGN EFREL >
of foreign operations 8,687 8,631
Net other comprehensive income HEAB 0 gEEFOER
that may be reclassified to profit Bar Bt mEmEls
or loss in subsequent periods 8,687 8,531
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FREM2EE #RE)
INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX 8,687 8,531
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FRNERH (5518) 8%
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (392,452) (1563,877)
Attributable to: DUF AL RS
Owners of the parent @ﬁ%ﬁ A (392,396) (153,748)
Non-controlling interests (56) (129)
(392,452) (153,877)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBARRR

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
lbES FAT TAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment YDZE -~ R R 5% 14 1,720 1,781
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 4,191 4,384
Prepayments, other receivables FEfIRRIE ~ HAFE Y =RIE
and other assets REMEE 18 242,250 =
Investment in film and television B NBEHREE KR
programs and program rights ﬁ'ﬁ BRRiERE 20 11,700 =
Total non-current assets ERBEEEE 259,861 6,165
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Trade receivables B 5 EW RIS 17 33,650 67,233
Prepayments, other receivables FETFUIE ~ HEWERIE K
and other assets H&EE 18 108,276 404,567
Contract assets BNEE 19 28,451 94,025
Investment in film and television B AERGEKNE
programs and program rights hR % & 20 133,537 301,062
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIASEEER 21 157,105 142,837
Assets of a disposal group PDEAFEHENERE
classified as held for sale HREE 11 - 2,568
Total current assets MBEEMEE 461,019 1,012,292
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEafE
Other payables and accruals Hih e RIE R B E B 22 162,502 156,656
Contract liabilities aNa’E 23 105,040 92,618
Interest-bearing bank and FERITREMEEUR
other borrowings and film BEREEM
investment loans 24 391,056 184,830
Derivative financial liabilities mEERas 24 16,140 17,945
Financial liabilities at fair value BAFESABRN
through profit or loss G =N 25 192,023 =
Amount due to a BN —2EERERIE
major shareholder 39 1,227 -
Promissory notes AR EE 26 - 1,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 2,653 1,938
Tax payable FET#R1E 39,266 38,056
Liabilities directly associated BNEARFEHEEE
with the assets classified BEEERENEaE
as held for sale 11 - 4,833
Total current liabilities mENB RAEEE 909,907 497,876
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES),  %i#h (&) EE3E
ASSETS (448,888) 514,416
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT @B EREHa®E
LIABILITIES (189,027) 520,581




nsolidated Statement of Financial
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31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

2021 2020
—g—F —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 FHET TAET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JEREIAR
Interest-bearing bank and FTEBITREMEEUR
other borrowings and film ErREE™M
investment loans 24 - 325,089
Amounts due to a shareholder B — B ERRIE 35 - 1,188
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 1,840 2,780
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEAE 16 - 14,949
Total non-current liabilities JEFEN B AR 1,840 344,006
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE) EEPE (190,867) 176,575
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to BATERS AEEEDS
owners of the parent
Share capital [N 27 82,356 82,356
Reserves B 30 (272,204) 120,192
(189,848) 202,548
Non-controlling interests R (1,019) (25,973)
Total (deficiency in net assets)/ (BEFERL) EXEBEE
equity (190,867) 176,575
Tang Liang Chau Chit
B A
Chairman Director

EY:

EF



Consolidated Statemen
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Year ended 31 December 2021 HiE_E_—F+_BA=+—HILFEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEA AR
Capital Statutory Non-
Share Share  redemption reserve Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* reserve* fund* reserves* losses* Total interests equity
BXHEE
Bx  RAEE i EEARE  ERRE  BHEE CEE 200 -, ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHr FHEr FHEr FEr FHr FEr THn FEr THn
(note 27) (note 30) (note 30)
(FizE27) (i5£30) (If3£30)
At 1 January 2020 RZ2Z25-A-H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 (4,421) (284,981) 356,296 (46,744) 309,552
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (162,275) (162,275) (133) (162,408)
Other comprehensive income FREMZANS
for the year:
Exchange differences related to BEBIEREEL
foreign operations EREH - - - - 8,527 - 8,527 4 8,531
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ER2ERE/ (5518) B8
for the year - - - - 8,527 (162,275) (153,748) (129) (153,877)
Walver of an amount payable to HEEA—2FERREZ
anon-controlling shareholder ] N - - - - - - 20,900 20,900
At 31 December 2020 RIEZEF+ZA=+—H 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 4,106 (447,256) 202,548 (25973 176,675




dated Statement of Changes i
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Year ended 31 December 2021 HiE_E_—F+_B=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEA AR
Total
Capital Statutory Non- equity/
Share Share  redemption reserve  Exchange Accumulated controlling  (deficiency
capital premium* reserve* fund* reserves* losses* Total interests in net assets)
g/
BXHEE (BEBE
ks RAEE i EEARE  ERRE  BHEHE Ait FERED )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHr FEr FHr FEr FHEr FEr FHn FEr THn
(note 30) (note 33) (note 33)
(Fi5£30) (Hi5£33) (Hi3£33)
At 1 January 2021 RZ2Z-%-A-AH 82,356 556,778 1,564 5,000 4,106 (447,256) 202,548 (25,973) 176,675
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (401,089) (401,089) (50) (401,139)
Other comprehensive income FREMZANE
for the year:
Exchange differences related to BEBNEBELERER
foreign operations - - - - 8,693 - 8,693 6) 8,687
Total comprehensive loss for the year FM2EESBEE - - - - 8,693 (401,089) (392,39) (56) (392,452)
Dissolution of subsidiaries REREAR = - - - - - - 25,010 25,010
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—-%+-A=+-8 82,356 556,778 1564 5,000 12,799 (848,345) (189,848) (1019) (190,867)

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$(272,204,000) (2020: HK$120,192,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

g tEEFERE

4= A
2N =]

MHBERRETNES B

(272,204,000 7T (Z & - Z4F : 120,192,000 7T) ©



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 December 2021 HiE_E_—F+_BA=+—HILFEE

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FHET TAET
CASH FLOWS FROM REEF2ZMENE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax: PRI AIRESIE
From continuing operations REFERES X (416,689) (148,016)
From discontinued operations REBRIEKEZET 11 - (2,607)
Adjustments for: B REEIEHEE
Finance costs EES= %N 7 14,987 13,602
Interest income FEWA 5 (53) (4)
Gain on waiver of interest B F B2 W 5 (2,504) (3,032)
Loss on disposal of items of HEWME -HE M
property, plant and equipment REEE 2618 101 -
Gain on disposal of items of HEFRAREEZ
right-of-use assets U & (51) =
Loss/(gain) on disposal of BEEMRBABDZERE
subsidiaries (Y z) 33 26,810 (2,455)
Fair value gains, net: N EUWEFEE -
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmMAas 6 (1,901) (14,390)
Financial liabilities measured BAFESAEBERZ
at fair value through THEs
profit or loss 6 (81,850) =
Depreciation of property, Y~ RE R R EITE
plant and equipment 6,14 836 966
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 6,15 2,851 2,719
Amortisation of prepaid FE{T & R
expenditures 1,475 71
Impairment loss on a BERERERIE
film investment 6,20 80,223 -
Impairment losses on A FIE ~ Mt ERENIE R
prepayments, other Hth&EERERE
receivables and other assets 6,18 153,184 —
Impairment losses on financial TR ENEERBERE
and contract assets, net JREE 6 55,229 90,436
(167,352) (62,710)
Change in investment in fimand ~ B MEBREBREHE
television programs and WRiER B ES)  FE
program rights, net 279,028 (3,881)
Decrease in trade receivables B 5 W R IE D 60,665 192,374
Increase in prepayments, other FET A N B ERIE R
receivables and other assets HaheE =g m (99,835) (122,399)
(Decrease)/increase in HENRIBRESTE B
other payables and accruals GRiZb) /10 (19,666) 16,384
Increase in contract assets = ,.‘Jﬁéi“ fn (14,863) (27,360)
Increase in contract liabilities BHEEEMN 67,615 19,012
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Year ended 31 December 2021 HiE_E_—F+_B=+—HILFE

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
MizE FHERT FAET
Cash generated from operations REKSEEZIRE 105,592 11,420
Taxes received/(paid) Bl (BAD) MR 636 (11,300)
Net cash flows from KEHEEEEZ
operating activities REREFEE 106,228 120
CASH FLOWS FROM BREEBZRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEKRKXHFHEE
plant and equipment 14 (866) (1,1006)
Disposal of subsidiaries RERBAE 33 (7) (101)
Interest received B UWF & 53 4
Net cash flows used in BAREEERZ2RE
investing activities REREE (820) (1,203)
CASH FLOWS FROM MEEBEZAERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in amounts due to a PR — & B& B 2 FIBE AN
shareholder - 1,188
Repayment of amounts due to a  {BiEEN—RRE 2 B
shareholder - (175,652)
Repayment of promissory notes BIBEARERE (1,000) (8,000)
Proceeds from film investor KEBRREENFIERIE 31,824 =
New bank loans and other MR TEMKRAEMBEE
borrowings and film UREBTEREER
investment loans 89,140 155,195
Repayment of bank loans and BERBTEAREMES
other borrowings and film URBELREER
investment loans (208,957) (6,152)
Principal portion of lease payments 8 & RIS EB 15 (2,734) (2,656)
Interest paid BEAFE 15 (298) (306)
Net cash flows used in BArmEEFEZ
financing activities REREFH (92,025) (36,383)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows .

0
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Year ended 31 December 2021 HiE_E_—F+_BA=+—HILFEE

2021 2020
—EZ—%F TEIEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TAET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) HERFAESEEEEM
IN CASH AND CASH / GRL) B8R
EQUIVALENTS 13,383 (87,466)
Cash and cash equivalents at EF#ZHRERASEEHIER
beginning of year 142,844 180,404
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXRE e E B
changes, net 878 (94)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS £k ZHE&RREL(EIER
AT END OF YEAR 157,105 142,844
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES RERREEHEEBER
OF CASH AND CASH 7R
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as R BERARETNIRE KR
stated in the statement of BeEEEE
financial position 21 157,105 142,837
Cash attributable to a BRI ESEBEGEIRE
discontinued operation 11 - 7
Cash and cash equivalents as RIBERERZINIRERK
stated in the statement of HE&EEEE
cash flows 157,105 142,844




CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company is Room 2001,
20/F, 118 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

During the year and up to 31 December 2021, the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) were involved
in the media and culture business.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), the single largest shareholder of the Company
is Timcha Investment Limited (formerly known as CICFH
Innovation Investment Limited) (“Timcha”), a company
wholly owned by Iz E2EXLEHEBRAT (Jiangyin
Starlight Communications Co., Ltd. *), a limited company
incorporated in the PRC. In the opinion of the Directors,
as of 31 December 2021, the Company had no single
controlling shareholder.

The English name of the entity registered in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) represents the best efforts
made by the management of the Company to translate its
Chinese name as the entity does not have an official English

name.

Notes to Financial Stateme ts

PR e

31 December 2021 —_E_—F+_HF=+—H

[EREBEH

BNV EREERBERAT ((RXAF) EE
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Notes to Financial State
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1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AEIREBEER @

bt B A B F

FABZEEMBABFRUOT :

follows:
Place of incorporation/  Issued ordinary/
registration and registered Percentage of equity
Name business share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
ML Btk BEITEERRE
218 £ /EmES FAFIEMLRET S TREH
Direct Indirect
Ef ik
Surin Development Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$1 Ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
HEEUHS BERIZET BRERR
Star Media International Limited Republic of Seychelles US$1 Ordinary share = 100%  Film investment
ETARNE EBERIZET BRRE
Starlight Legend Investment  Republic of Seychelles US$1 Ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
Limited
EETHHENE BER1ET REER
Starlight Media Inc. United States of America US$1,000,000 Ordinary share - 100%  Media and movie operation
EH2aRE E48/%1,000,000% 7T BERBTER
Marshall Holding, LLC United States of America  US$7,138,000 Ordinary share = 51%  Investment holding

FHRERE

BIBIR7,138,000% T

REER




CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Place of incorporation/

Issued ordinary/

Notes to Financial Statements .
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31 December 2021 —_E_—F+_HF=+—H

AEIREBEER @

MEBASIER @

registration and registered Percentage of equity
Name business share capital attributable to the Company Principal activities
MR ik BEITEERRE
218 ERHE Vg3t FAREMLRET AL TEER
Direct Indirect
Ef iEE3
Marshall Film, LLC United States of America US$8,413,867 Ordinary share = 46.15%  Media and movie operation
ENBERE EiBAg8,413,867% T BERETER
Marshall Movie, Inc. United States of America US$20,000 Ordinary share - 46.15%  Media and movie operation
B ERE Z38%20,000% 7T BERBTER
Starry Ample Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Film investment
HBRTHE 1E7 EXRE
Beautiful Asia Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100%  Film investment
EBEYEE 1E7 BEXRE
IREECEEERAE  PRC/Mainland China HK$100,000,000 - 100%  Media and movie operation
(Jiangyin Xing Kong Culture
Media Limited)*
IREFEVEERERAT  PE/HERM 100,000,000 7 BERETER
Starlight Culture Entertainment  United States of America US$1,000 - 100%  Media and movie operation
Limited
EH2ARE 1,000% 7T BERETER

* P2 FEEEBERAT (Jiangyin Xing Kong Culture
Media Limited) is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned

enterprise under PRC law. The English translation of the

name is for identification purposes only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

* IREEXCEREERQATDRBPEIEAET
MRIEBELE KXEREHRSE

ERINTESRRIERNELTEXBURE

NEEREEFEZEE

EiPaN: N NS

NE -EFRRDR REHMMBRE 255158

BYRBBRTR
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 21 RRIEE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial instruments which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern assumption

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
incurred a net loss of HK$401,139,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021, and as at 31 December 2021, the
Group had net current liabilities and total deficiency
in net assets of approximately HK$448,888,000 and
HK$190,867,000, respectively. During the year, the Group
defaulted on the repayment of overdue other borrowings
and film investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
amounted to HK$308,495,000, and have a further
other borrowings and film investment loans (including
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
derivative financial liabilities) in an aggregate amount of
HK$277,093,000 which will be due for repayment in
June 2023 or before, while its cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$ 157,105,000 as at 31 December 2021.
The above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

ZEMBRENDERERGMAE (B
GG BHENERBMBREER (&
BUMBREER)) (BREMEEBYHTRS
EABBGER (EBEER) ka2
B) - BBRAREHRAUKREBREFAE 2K
BREMBR ZEMBRERTUELKE
IEWJ%%%J"I‘E?ﬁ/z}ﬂzﬁﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁ,%%\
RTEEMTIARATEFE - BFREEEH
BN ZEUBRRDUBTEIRABE
BEENBRAAERZA T

RFERERR

HE _Z_—F+_A=+—HLEEE XK
EEREE_SE_—F+"_A=+—HIE
EELEFEFE401,139,0008 5 BAER
A _E T —F+_A=+—HZhRHEEZF
BNEEFEBAEED R4 %448,888,000
75 5190,867,000/8 7T o N > ANE B &K FE
EEAPNEMEERBEFREER (B1F%
NEEFABZNESREBRRITESHMEE)
308,495,000 0> BEBEMBEEREF K
EEDN (BREEAFTESAEGNSHERS
EfTEsmaE) 411277,093,000% TR
TE=FBugzaEBEE MR _E
T+ HA=t+—H EREKREEEE
BB %157,105,000% 7T o LAk R FREBEFEE
AR AEBEFECEENEREASEBN
BEATHEERZE-
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

In view of these circumstances, the Directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. The
following plans and measures are formulated to mitigate
the liquidity pressure, to improve the financial position of
the Group, and to remediate the overdue repayments to
the lenders:

a)

The management is closely monitoring the
development of the COVID-19 pandemic in major
markets of the Group’s business, which has a
significant negative impact on the film and cinema
industry and in turn the Group’s film investment
business, the Group’s plans to raise new financing
and to realise its assets in the normal course of
business when needed.

The Group has been actively negotiating with all the
lenders for renewal and extension for repayments
of the overdue borrowings. The Group entered
into extension agreements with lenders of other
borrowings and film investment loans (including
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and derivative financial liabilities) in the amount
of approximately HK$332,920,000 to extend the
repayment due date to June 2023. Lenders in
respect of other borrowings and film investment
loans (including financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) of
approximately HK$26,520,000 preliminarily intended
to renew or extend certain overdue borrowings,
however, no formal agreement has been reached
yet. The Directors are confident that such lenders
will not exercise their rights to demand the Group’s
immediate repayment of the borrowings and the
Group will reach final agreements with such lenders
in due course.

MR R MIEE

31 December 2021 _&E_—F+_B=+—H

21 B

HEEERSR ®

ERLtaER e EEEERSHENE
REBCENTEMBERK EFCER
EZRAEBENRKABES RRFLURAIF
BYMHER - AEBEE® ] T 558 KI5k
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

Going concern assumption (continued)

c)

Subsequent to 31 December 2021, the Group has
also been negotiating with financiers of the film
industry to secure new sources of financing. The
Directors believe that, given the Group’s track record
of film investment and relationship with famous
film directors, the Group will be able to obtain new
financing.

The Group will continue to take active measures
to control administrative costs and prioritise film
investment expenditures. In this connection, the
Group has agreed with third party film production
companies for the withdrawal of prepaid investments
in the amount of HK$63,181,000 made subsequent
to 31 December 2021 which will generate cash flows
to the Group in a longer run.

The management is closely monitoring and planned
to take action in the first half of 2023 to re-finance
the other borrowings and film investment loans
(including financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities) with
repayment due date postponed to June 2023 due
to their low finance cost. However, the Directors are
confident that the Group will secure new sources of
financing to refinance the other borrowings and fim
investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial
liabilities), or to further extend the repayment due
date, or otherwise negotiate with lenders not to take
actions against the Group before their due date in
June 2023.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern assumption (continued)

According to HKAS 1, in assessing whether the going
concern assumption is appropriate, management takes
into account all available information about the future,
which is at least, but not limited to, twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. The COVID-19 pandemic
has a significant negative impact on the fim and cinema
industry, which again has a significant impact on the
normal business operation of the Group. Also, most other
borrowings and film investment loans(including financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities) which have been extended will be due
in June 2023. Therefore, management considers it is
appropriate to extend the going concern assessment to
eighteen months from the reporting date to 30 June 2023.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
forecast prepared by management which covers a period
of eighteen months from the end of the reporting period.
They are of the opinion that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and
meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in
the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors believe
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 on a going concern basis.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq)

21 (RBE »

Going concern assumption (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, significant uncertainties exist
as to whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above. Whether the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern for a period of
eighteen months from the reporting date would depend
upon the following:

(@)  Whether the COVID-19 pandemic will soon be
controlled or contained in major markets of the
Group so that the film and cinema industry which is
negatively impacted will recover to enable the Group
to continue to carry out its film investment business,
to raise financing, and to realise its assets in the
normal course of business when needed;

(b)  Obtaining new financing to support its operating
cash outflows; and

(c) Obtaining new financing to re-finance the other
borrowings and film investment loans (including
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial liabilities) before their
due date in June 2023, or to further extending the
repayment due date, or otherwise negotiating with
the debtors not to take actions against the Group.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to write down the
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects
of these adjustments have not been reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continueq) 21 RYUEBE »

Basis of consolidation (continuea)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (i) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
HKFRS 9, Phase 2
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (early adopted)

Amendment to
HKFRS 16
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate
benchmark is replaced with an alternative risk-free
rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide a practical
expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be
updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for
changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the
change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent
to the previous basis immediately preceding the
change. In addition, the amendments permit
changes required by the interest rate benchmark
reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge
documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could
arise on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide
a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is
designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume
that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk
component to become separately identifiable within
the next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments
require an entity to disclose additional information to
enable users of financial statements to understand
the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an
entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

(continueq)

(a)

(continueq)

The Group had no interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and film investment loans denominated
in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“‘HIBOR”) and United States
dollars based on the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”) as at 31 December 2021.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies
to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has early adopted the amendment on 1
January 2021. However, the Group has not received
covid-19-related rent concessions and plans to apply
the practical expedient when it becomes applicable
within the allowed period of application.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BBk EMZ E B
HONG KONG FINANCIAL HREER
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised REBU RN ZETHBRKRPER TIIEE
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in HmEBRERZ M REETEBHBRSE
the financial statements: ZER
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework’ ERUHREENE: HESEE D
2R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERUMBRSENSE0S KEZRAFELTASEP
and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate or REBGHERNFNR EHEZIAEE
Joint Venture® (ZB——5) 2Bk
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabiliies as ERGHENFIR HEESER BT IETE
Current or Non-current>* AR
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies® ERGHENSIRR  BIHENEE
and HKFRS Practice BBMBREENES
Statement 2 REHR2EETA
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? SREHENEST e BIBHZTE
(CHEN
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and ERGHENRI2%Y HE-XGELZEEREE
Liabilties arising from a Single (CHE BRRIEER B
Transaction®
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: ERGHENSEIORE Y% BERXE . (FET
Proceeds before Intended Use' (CHES JHEFIRI =7
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - SREHENEIIR  EEEEH-ETENH
Cost of Fulfiling a Contract’ (ZHIEN B
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, BEYBHEES BEEUBRSENE 1T
HKFRSs 2018-2020 lllustrative Examples accompanying —E-)1EF ERUBREENENR
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41" TECEFZFENE  BRUBREENF6R
BRI R R EHE
G EREHREZBITK
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 RIE-_—_F—A—HAZERHENFEER
2022 R
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RIZEZ=F—A—HlzEHENFER
2023 RIE
8 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available 8 1 A TE SR I 430 B AR HE BT R AR
for adoption
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong g BEEBSHENFIR BTSN EBRE
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements O BEIRZXNZS - EAN S EEEER
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that EEIFIBEHEFNZHEECNR _EZFE
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in +AFLUERT LU — 18RI A > B4 &0 0
October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no miEE)

change in conclusion
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 238

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EiEfiBRREMZ E B

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments on the Group’s
accounting policy disclosures.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continueq)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and
inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur
on or after the start of that period. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items,
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the
contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied
to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the
amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

° HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lIllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives
when applying HKFRS 16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continueq)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FETHHEHE »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continueq)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or
loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continueq)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEEHHENE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement ATEFE
The Group measures its financial liabilities at fair value FEBEESRGHRBRAFTESTAEBRTE
through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments HemaEad U2 FEFEENME SR T
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value BoRNFEAMBG2HEEENTEHET
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid Z2ERRZHYHEEEMBENHEBREERN
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between TN ZEBE AFEFENENRIEHES
market participants at the measurement date. The fair EXESEREENRINEELEENEET
value measurement is based on the presumption that GET AN EAKBEITEMBNERT  AIRE
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability EFEENRBINMBET FERREF
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or MBBAUNRAEBREINENM S - BEERE
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most BEHNATFENERTZE2EEAEERER
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal EEBFBENRRTE (BT HE2HERKRH
or the most advantageous market must be accessible EHREREFEITE) o

by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes FEHEENAFEHENLNRKFR—STE
into account a market participant’s ability to generate S2HEEFBEREEENESARERER
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and FBREELHETRHEREESRRERR
best use or by selling it to another market participant that NE—2mE2EEMENE LB @

would use the asset in its highest and best use. BES




2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

Level 2 -

Level 3 -

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets,
financial assets, investment properties and non-current
assets/a disposal group classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
a portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g.,
a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of
cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continueq)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(v)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when
it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5. as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEEHHENE @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and ME-BERZBURINE @
depreciation (continued)
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write ME - BERZRESZBERBERESEI
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment EMRHEGHAIERFHAAMBEEREAER
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The RE-MZBENMBZEEFELLEFAF
principal annual rates used or useful life for this purpose BERUT

are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 25% RBRREE 25%
Office equipment 25% MAERME 25%
Land and building 2.5% T RAETF 2.5%
Motor vehicles 30% HE 30%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the HEMERE FAHEAR50% 2 B A2 HE

lease terms and 50%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment NREEWE BERKEEBEESIDH
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated AFERFRAR ZEBEENREAERGER
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is ENREBRED MESEOHEHHEER
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and E-FBE -nERFRARITEREFED
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if REMBEERBT RIZEEFHAE

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including ME- -BREREZEEE (BFEARYRERN
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised BEARED) PHENFEHRERARLERRHIER
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are g EE KRR EN m By BUH FE SR o IREUH
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on REEFETERRERNHENRES
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of ENEAWREHEGEE AHESHEEMS
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is IR EAHREEMNEBNERE

the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.




2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment in film and television programs
and program rights

Investment in film and television programs includes the
unamortised costs of completed and in progress film
and television programs which have been produced or
acquired by the Group.

For films produced by the Group, capitalised costs include
all direct production costs, production overheads and
capitalised interest. Costs of flm program rights comprise
fees paid and payable under agreements, direct costs/
expenses incurred during the production of films, and fees
for the reproduction and/or distribution of films. Production
overheads include allocable costs of individuals or
departments with exclusive or significant responsibility for
production of films and excludes printing and advertising
costs.

Investment in film and television programs and program
rights is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
identified impairment loss. The Group amortises its costs
based on the proportion of projected revenue income over
the life of a film/television. Any portion of the unamortised
amount that appears not to be recoverable is impaired in
the period the loss becomes evident.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

Investment in film and television programs
and program rights (continued)

Investment in film and television programs and program
rights is stated at the lower of amortised cost and
estimated fair value. The valuation of investment in film and
television programs and program rights, whether released
or unreleased, is reviewed on a title-by-title basis, when
an event or change in circumstances indicates that the
fair value of a film or television program is less than its
unamortised cost. In determining the fair value of its film
and television programs, the Group generally employs a
discounted cash flow (“DCF”) methodology that includes
cash flow estimates of a fim’s ultimate revenue and costs
as well as a discount rate. The discount rate utilised in the
DCF analysis is based on the weighted average cost of
capital of the Group plus a risk premium representing the
risk associated with producing a particular film or television
program. The fair value of any film costs associated with
a film or television program that management plans to
abandon is zero. Additional amortisation is recorded in
the amount by which the unamortised cost exceeds the
estimated fair value of the film or television program.
Estimates of future revenue involve measurement
uncertainty and it is therefore possible that reductions
in the carrying value of investment in film and television
programs and program rights may be required as a
consequence of changes in management’s future revenue
estimates.

Film and television programs in progress include the
accumulated costs of production which have not yet been
completed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 FEFHBERME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Buildings 2 — 8 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the assets.
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24 FEFHBRME »

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HE @
Group as a lessee (continued) FEFEZBEA-A @
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HE&®E

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of
a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FTEEHHENE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued) HE @

Group as a lessee (continued) KEEEZAHEAN ©)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value (c) HHEREBEESEHNE
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition AEBRITIAEERTVARRER PN E%
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and WMEkEREZEAHEE REHEEHRKH
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease HEEstEfAA T+ ZEAUT LAEF
term of 12 months or less from the commencement BEEEEEENTES) -BREBEEEM
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also ENBRBETEARERAEEEN
applies the recognition exemption for leases of low- MAERBERFIREBKEE -EXE
value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop MEEBEEEITLHER  2EEARATE
computers that are considered to be of low value. EERENEEREEFHEE AL
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of HEENHEERERBEEEEEMER
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to TAHAIR B AR A AT o

capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets KRERHMEMEE

Initial recognition and measurement LR R E

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as THREENVTRIADEAERITEHEMN
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value - AFESFAEME2ER R KA FE
through other comprehensive income, and fair value FFAIBmEETE

through profit or loss.




2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sale of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sale of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continueq)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FETHHEHE »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (@ 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, derivative financial liabilities, promissory
notes, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries, convertible bonds, amounts due to
a shareholder and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and film investment loans.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continuea)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near
term. This category also includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans
and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continuea)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and the taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continuead)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FETHHEHE »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

Revenue is recognised when the Group has fulfilled the
obligations stated in the contracts, and when the Group
has transferred control over relative services or goods to
the customer, on the following bases:

(@)

Revenue from motion pictures and television
programs

Revenue from motion pictures is recognised at
the later of when the subsequent sale or usage of
the royalties occurs, and when the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales-based
or usage-based royalty has been allocated has been
satisfied (or partially satisfied). The actual amounts
due to the Group under these arrangements are
generally not reported to the Company until after
the close of the reporting period. The Group
records revenue under these arrangements for the
amounts due and not yet reported to the Group
based on estimates of the sales or usage of the
royalties and pursuant to the terms of the contracts.
Such estimates are based on information from
the statement of net receipt, historical experience
with similar genres in that market or territory, the
performance of the genres in other markets, and/or
data available in the industry.

Revenue from television programs is recognised
when master tapes and materials have been
delivered to broadcasting sources and the rights to
broadcast have been licensed in accordance with the
terms of the underlying agreements, and the rights
to receive payments are established, based on the
pre-determined share of the sales proceeds from the
licensing of the related television programs set out in
the respective agreements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continueq)

(b)  Film production services

Revenue from film production services is recognised
over time, using the output method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
services, because the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. The output
method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the work completed relative to the estimated total
work.

(c)  Other services

Revenue from other services is recognised at the
point in time when the service is fully delivered to
the customer, and the right to receive payments is
established.

Other income

Interest income is recognised, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument of the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEGFHHEME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contract assets BHNEE
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange SHNEENMMNERNETEFEENESm X
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the R mMWEAENEN HEXREERE R
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a SR EN TR BEEFEZES RIR
customer before the customer pays consideration or %o RISl BN B R H R ERIBSNEE-
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised SHNEERETRESN G EFFHNE R
for the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract THEERENGBREF -

assets are subject to impairment assessment, details
of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities BHNEE

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is ENEEEAEEERERERTRFIE
received or the payment is due (whichever is earlier) from Hﬁl%)f' IR ENE (URBEE B E) 5
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods RoaNBEEAEEREITEH (BIEHERE
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue E@RE YH&FE’J?%J%%%%%)@ BRF e 5T A U
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers o

control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits EEm=F

Pension scheme Bk &2

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory AEBERBERFELBEEERA > RIiL—
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF BEEEHRDBGMMEABSRAEN B (M58
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes BEE)) - HERSHEREERLFH N —E
Ordinance. Contributions are made based on a percentage BAWSE  wEEBREBRBE S RA K
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the AEMZBERNREGRIOG -RESHEN
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in EEH—EABILIEENESIFE HELER
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets NEEPH AEERREEEFMIENE
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the FHIEHREEMB -

Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s

employer contributions vest fully with the employees when

contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates AEBRFTEAMEENNBAENEEE
in Mainland China are required to participate in a 2MMEt SRR PREBAREHE
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal ZMBRrE BRI ERSNE TE2tEEA
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute RBARBTEFHER - HARERBERRE
certain percentage of its payroll costs to the central R ERAR AR AR RIERRMA

pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FETHHEHE »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowings
and film investment loans costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on
translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

MR R MIEE

31 December 2021 _&E_—F+_B=+—H

24 FETHBEHRE @

S
ZEMBRRUSABDINEEERTZEY -
AERRSERBEEEBINEGE TA
RERUTRENEBEELAZIEGEES
E-XEFEERARNINERZNBERH
ZEENEEBNRXZAMANERER AR
DONESHENEREEREBRRSHRE
BONEEREXRRKBE SREAMNEFEN
MEEENEBRNBEmRESD -

BRINEEEM A ENIFEREEERAG
REBANEXRRE - LUSNESER AT E
SFEMNFERERAREE LA FEEANER
ME-BAVEGENFEREBREESE

HEENER - HLEE (AR FER
mREENEMEENE B ERNIER
R B EBRTR 2 B IC H Mh 2 [ U i S iR b

B

FEEE-BERGAEEMNFEREENR
FEBRERRIEBRIEENHEREE X
R AR IR R EXRE > 18X 5 B
SEERNERIZANREEENIFES
EEFFERERENAM -HEZEEAMN
FAWRE AIAEEEEERMNAENSN
MR 7 B HA o

EAXCREERBIRAR 1
BT —FFR ﬂ




Notes to Financial Statements

RA 5k R MY =X

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currencies (continuead)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the approximate to those prevailing
at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserves. On disposal of foreign operations, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollar at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

24 FEFHBERME »

ShEE )

ETBIBADNINEG R BB TUIN
B -MBEMR AFBRNEEKRERR
REMANEREXRERET HEx

REXS AN EREREENERBRESD
ATTe

PREERERZBENHth2E KRS IR
ERFEFER - HEBIEBR  HthE2EW
mREZNE BN EBEBNLONER

=
At ©

HWBEIEFEENEIOBERBVBEEE
NWEERBRREENEIAQAFERERF
BB EFNEERBRLRARERLR
o

MEERERERMS  BINNBLATNER
TRERRERENRNERRES BT -
REEFEEENEINBATNEEMLR
TREBRFAMETHERRKERBT

FEGTHIE R (G5

MRAEBMBRREFEGEEF D FIE-
et RR&R ZFHE - G5t RERFER
D A EERERZERTEAKRMBEM ZIK
BEMURIRBBEZNE -ZERRRMG
StZ A EERZDEERNANBREREE
EENERZREEFHERFEE-




(\ [

Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

Amortisation and impairment of Investment
in film and television programs and program
rights

The costs of investment in film and television programs
and program rights are amortised upon the release
of a film/television program based on the proportion
of projected revenue over the life of the film/television
program. Any portion of the unamortised amount that
appears not to be recoverable is impaired in the period
the loss becomes evident. The recoverable amounts are
determined with reference to the marketability of each of
the film and television programs, and the current market
conditions. These estimated recoverable amounts can
change significantly due to the variety of factors. This
could have an impact on the Group’s results of operations.
The carrying amounts of investment in fim and television
programs and program rights are disclosed in note 20 to
the financial statements.

Revenue from motion pictures and television
programs

Revenue from motion pictures is recognised at the later
of when the subsequent sale or usage of the royalties
occurs, and when the performance obligation to which
some or all of the sales-based or usage-based royalty
has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied). The actual amounts due to the Group under
these arrangements are generally not reported to the
Company until after the close of the reporting period. The
Group records revenue under these arrangements for the
amounts due and not yet reported to the Group based
on estimates of the sales or usage of the royalties and
pursuant to the terms of the contracts. Such estimates are
based on information from the statement of net receipt,
historical experience with similar genres in that market or
territory, the performance of the genres in other markets,
and/or data available in the industry.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continuea)

Revenue from motion pictures and television
programs (continued)

Revenue from television programs is recognised when
master tapes and materials have been delivered to
broadcasting sources and the rights to broadcast have
been licensed in accordance with the terms of the
underlying agreements, and the rights to receive payments
are established, based on the pre-determined share of the
sales proceeds from the licensing of the related television
programs set out in the respective agreements.

Fair value measurement of financial liabilities

The fair value assessment of financial liabilities of the
Group, which include financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments
measured at level 3 fair value hierarchy, requires significant
estimates, including estimating the projected revenues
ratios and determining appropriate discount rates and
other assumptions. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the respective fair values
of these financial liabilities.

Leases — Estimating the incremental
borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (‘IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted
to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continuead)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
No deferred tax asset relating to tax losses was recognized
as at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2021 amounted
to HK$448,380,000 (2020: HK$247,817,000). Further
details are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FEFHAE R @
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continueq)

Estimation uncertainty (continuead)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geography, product type and customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in different operating
sectors, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in notes
17 and 19 to the financial statements, respectively.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services
and has only one reportable operating segment that
is the media and culture business segment, which
engages in investment in the production and distribution
of entertainment content such as film and television
programs.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
results of its business as a whole for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Geographical information

The Group mainly operates in the United States of
America, Hong Kong and Mainland China, and the
geographical segment information as required by HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented as follows:

(a) Revenue from external customers

Notes to Financial Statements
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(@) FKEIEERZ W a

2021 2020
—E—F TETEE

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FAET

United States of America EFRER 199,386 47,761

The revenue information of continuing operations
above is based on the locations of the customers.
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e




Notes to Financial Statemen

RAF5ER R MIEE

31 December 2021 —_E_—F+_H=+—H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT KEFEEE @
INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information (continued) & &k @
(b) Non-current assets (b) FERBEE
2021 2020
—EZ—F TETEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
United States of America EFRER 206,361 5,028
Hong Kong 58 53,500 1,137
259,861 6,165

The non-current asset information of continuing
operations above is based on the locations of the

assets and excludes deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers individually amounting

tRFBEECERBZIFERBEEEHNTER
EEMEMB RS RIEERIRE E

BERXEERZEH

REENGAEBWEAEAI0%NNEER

to over 10% to the total revenue of the Group is set out PR &SI
below:
2021 2020
—E-—F —FETFE

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHET
Customer A ZEA 165,776 =
Customer B =EFB - 13,372
Customer C EEC - 13,970
Customer D ZAD - 11,176
Customer E EZRE - 7,451
165,776 45,969
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‘ﬂy@

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. W~ HUg A B U =
GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W AT
2021 2020
—E-—& —=o=s
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers HREZFL &2 WE 199,386 47,761
Revenue from contracts with customers kXEBEREHNZWE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (@) iz ER

Media and culture business

BRREER

For the year ended 31 December

#E+_HA=+—HLEE

2021 2020
- - S “ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Segment 7 EB FHET FAET
Types of goods or services SEmE RS EER
Revenue from motion pictures FBEERZWE 199,386 13,391
Film production services B REIRTS - 15,743
Other services HMART - 18,627
Total revenue from contracts with KEEREHZWERIEEE
customers 199,386 47,761
Geographical market h & 15
United States of America EHREREH 199,386 47,761
Total revenue from contracts with REER SN W IEEE
customers 199,386 47,761
Timing of revenue recognition Iy 2 T SR B R
At a point in time RE—RFE RS 199,386 32,018
Services transferred over time WE B B SR AR 75 - 15,743

Total revenue from contracts with FEEREHZ W LEEE
customers 199,386 47,761
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continueq)

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Revenue from motion pictures

Revenue from motion pictures is recognised at
the later of when the subsequent sale or usage of
the royalties occurs, and when the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales-based
or usage-based royalty has been allocated has been
satisfied (or partially satisfied). The actual amounts
due to the Group under these arrangements are
generally not reported to the Company until after
the close of the reporting period. The Group
records revenue under these arrangements for the
amounts due and not yet reported to the Group
based on estimates of the sales or usage of the
royalties and pursuant to the terms of the contracts.
Such estimates are based on information from
the statement of net receipt, historical experience
with similar genres in that market or territory, the
performance of the genres in other markets, and/or
data available in the industry.

Film production services

Revenue from film production services is recognised
over time, using the output method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the
services, because the Group’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date. The output
method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the work completed relative to the estimated total
work.
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(continueq)

(b) Performance obligations (continued)

Other services

Revenue from other services is recognised at the
point in time when the service is fully delivered to

31 December 2021 “E - —&+-F=+—A1

W « H U A Be iz 0

KEBERGHZW@m @

(b) BHEF @
HthBR %

REHEMRB ZWalRFE2BRAF
ZF> BRI WA M Z R Z B RS

the customer, and the right to receive payments is E
established.
2021 2020
—E-—F “ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Other income Hhg A
Management fee EEE - 145
Waiver of interest EAN RIS 2,504 3,032
Bank interest income RITH BEUA 53 4
Others Hth 578 =
3,135 3,181
Gains U 2%
Government subsidies BTN - 594

594
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6. LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’s loss before tax from continuing operations is
arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. FRMAIESIR

AEBREFELCEET ZBFRAEIRTLE
kR Gt UTFRERER:

2021 2020
Notes HK$’0@ HK$’000
B 5 THET TAT
Cost of sales* HHE A 294,778 75,997
Amortisation of investment in =~ B REBEEHE K 20
film and television programs &1 B AR R E 2 i
and program rights* o 294,778 64,425
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERZEITE 14
plant and equipment } - 836 966
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEETE 15(a)
assets ) ) 2,851 2,719
Lease payments not included  Rst AFRE&EEH 15(c)
in the measurement of GEN=ENE
lease liabilities 216 842
Auditor’s remuneration 1Z BT B L 3,068 2,446
Employee benefit expense EBEEAMESX (IREER
(excluding Directors’ and FETHAS 2 F
chief executive’s (HF5%8)) :
remuneration (note 8)): )
Wages and salaries IB8 R 11,614 5,496
Pension scheme contributions 3R K5t &R 151 162
11,765 5,658
Foreign exchange differences, [ERZERE  F%58
net 606 2,381
Impairment of a film investment, BF X B RE  F58 20
net 80,223 =
Impairment of prepayments, AT IE s Mt EWEIBE R 18
other receivables and other HtEERE F58
assets, net _ 153,118 =
Impairment of financial and ERNGNEERE"
contract assets, net: P EE
Impairment of trade B 5 U IR > S4B 17
receivables, net ’ 6,823 65,005
Impairment of contract EHNEERE FE 19
assets, net 48,406 25,431
Impairment of financial assets =t A F&1 70 IE ~ HT’WEH& 18
included in prepayments, MEREMEE
other receivables and other SHEERE FHE
assets, net 66 =
288,636 90,436
Fair value losses/(gains), net:  AFEEE  (lm) - FEE
Derivative financial liabilities mEEMas 24 (1,901) (14,390)
Financial liabilities at fair value A F{Est AB=EB 25
through profit or loss THEE (81,850) =
Loss/(Gain) on disposal of REMBABEE, &) 33
subsidiaries 26,810 (2,455)

Cost of services provided and amortisation of investment

in film and television programs and program rights are

profit or loss.

included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of

* RERFZRAUREF R ERAE REHE

MRAER B 2 M ET A RS

B R E R



FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from continuing operations is
as follows:

RIFEIR ML
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7. MERKAE
HEKESER BN

2021 2020
—E-—HF —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TAT
Interest on bank loans and RITERREMEBEEMU R
other borrowings and film investment ~ BB EHA S
loans 14,678 13,073
Interest on lease liabilities (note 15) HESEME (M5E15) 208 306
Interest expense on promissory notes AR EZEF| BB (H:E26)
(note 26) 11 223
Total interest expense on financial W IR N EET AB @R
liabilities not at fair value through TRBEZH SRR
profit or loss 14,987 13,602

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Mr. Zhou Jingbo was appointed as an executive Director
and Mr. Gao Qun resigned as an executive Director on
15 July 2021. Mr. Jing Xufeng was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and Mr. Ma Runsheng
and Mr. Wong Waihung resigned as independent non-
executive Directors on 12 May 2021.

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. EERFETHASHM

N TEC-—FtRA+TIR BRKCEESRE
RPTESFRSBEAERTATER RN _F
——FRRB+H RBEBAEEZEREIL
FERTEEREBHERERRIER LR TR
TIFHITES-

Bk EmRE S FERQBEAFIE383(1)(@) ~ (b)
C)FMEURAT WBEEEFRER) REF
OEWBE T AFEEE N TEITHA S Z H
W

Group
TEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E°F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Fees BE 2,991 5,549
Other emoluments: HME -
Salaries, allowances and e RMARBEYER
benefits in kind 3,000 3,000
Pension scheme contributions BIREHEHRR 18 18

0
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

(@) Independent non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

8. EFERFETHAEFHM =

(@) BWILFRTES

AFEEMNBIFRNTESTZEEN

Directors during the year were as follows: s 2
2021 2020
- b 2 TEIEE
Notes HK$’000 HIK$'000
BT 5% FHET THET
Mr. Michael Ngai Ming Tak ~ ZRBATEL4E 240 240
Mr. Wong Wai Kwan FRELE 240 240
Mr. Jing Xufeng SBIESLE a 153 -
Mr. Wong Wai Hung (resigned) =34 (BEHE) b 100 240
Mr. Ma Runsheng (resigned) B E&ELE (BFHE) ¢ 88 240
821 960

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive Directors during the year
(2020: nil).

a) Mr. Jing Xufeng was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 May 2021.

b) Mr. Wong Wai Hung resigned as an independent
non-executive Director on 12 May 2021.

c) Mr. Ma Runsheng resigned as an independent non-

executive Director on 12 May 2021.

AEEHERYBIFATESTZHM

s (CE_SEHE) e

a RBEBERER-Z_—FA/F+_

LERBIUFRTES-

by BEHEEER-_B_—FRA+_

EBILIFRTES-

c BHERER-ZE_—HFR/F+Z

EBIUIFATES-
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

(b) Executive Directors, a non-executive
Director and the chief executive

BTSRRI ! f. ?

31 December 2021 — B - —#F+"H= + EI

EFRFETHRASHM @

b) MITES -FRTESTREE
TBRAS

Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
Frg o ERR
ik BYEN BKHBER Mgt
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
s FAR AR AR TER
2021 ZEZ-&
Executive Directors: HITEE !
Mr. Gao Qun (retired) BEHELE BRD a 130 - - 130
Mr. Chau Chit BaE%E - 3,000 18 3,018
Mr. Sang Kanggiao REBRE - - - -
Mr. Tang Liang EREE - - - =
Mr. Zhou Jing Bo B&RRE b
(appointed in 2021) N8B —F
EZ) - - - -
Ms. Wu Xiaoli BNERT 240 - - 240
Chief executive: TETHAE:
Mr. Luo Lei BELE 1,800 - - 1,800
2,170 3,000 18 5,188
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

(continueq)

(b) Executive Directors, a non-executive

8. EFERFETHAEFHM =

b) MITEF FFRATESIREE

Director and the chief executive THAER ®
(continued)
Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e 2R
B EYMEH  BIREER ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET FHET FAT
2020 “EIER
Executive Directors; HOEZ:
Mr. Gao Qun BERE 600 - - 600
Mr. Chau Chit BERE - 3,000 18 3,018
Mr. Sang Kanggiao 2EBELE
(appointed in 2020) M_E_BF
ERT) - - - -
Mr. Hung Ching Fung (retired) B SE (ERE) 480 - - 480
Mr. Tang Liang ERkd
(appointed in 2020) R_B_Z&
ERT) - - - -
Mr. Chen Jie (resigned) BALE (BED 34 = = 341
Ms. Wu Xiaoli SN ke 480 = - 480
Mr. Fang Jun (resigned) HERE (BED) 853 - - 853
2,754 3,000 18 5,772
Non-executive Director: FHTEE
Mr. Wang Shoulei resigned) ~ ESF&E%E (BB 35 - - 35
Chief executive: TETBAS:
Mr. Luo Lei BELE 1,800 - - 1,800
4,589 3,000 18 7,607

a) Mr. Gao Qun retired as an executive Director on 15

July 2021.

b) Mr. Zhou Jing Bo was appointed as an executive

Director on 15 July 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a Director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year.

a) BEEER_E_—FtA+HEHERE
HiTES-

b) RBREEENR_ZE_—FtRA+aR%E
ZERPTES-

AFEHBEESHATETHRABBRENR
FIEBREEMFEN 5k
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. HaREHilES
The five highest paid employees during the year included AFERARETFNEESRENLEERE
four Directors and the chief executive (2020: four Directors ETHAE CE2F WEEERFET
and the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are BA8) BEHFMNEBE N EXXMIzEse
set out in note 8 above.
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FRiFIRA
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as the HRAEBERBEE—_Z - GFRIZE-Z2F
Group did not generate any assessable profits in Hong +ZA=t+—HLEFETERERELEM
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2021 and FEERIR AT B MIEH B BRI EREHE - H
2020. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been e 2 ERER A NBEEAEBLSE X
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions FriERl i E 2 RITMEFE o
in which the Group operates.
Income tax consists of income tax charged on the Group FreaEhBERtREFNRERE (T3
in Mainland China and the United States of America B) HAEBBUEIFTSIE - AR B ETER
(“USA”). Provision for the PRC enterprise income tax was BEDUPREALREBNRBEE_S_—FEZZE
calculated based on the statutory tax rate of 25% on the TEE+ZR=+—HIEFENEZRREA
assessable income of the PRC companies during the BEEREB% T H - RBE_S T —F R
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. USA income ZIEF+ A=+ —HLEFE BRRAE
tax applicable to the Group was charged at the federal tax E BN ERE PTG IR IR I IR T21% R MR =K
rate of 21% and state tax rate, net of federal effect, of 7% 7% GOBRIGFBIRNFE R 28) B o
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
2021 2020
—E-—5F “ETSEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET THETT
Current — Elsewhere BER—H & (571) (120)
Deferred (note 16) IRIE (FT5E16) (14,979) 11,905
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year from FE R B IF B 2T
continuing operations MIE (K%R) S HAEEE (15,550) 11,785
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10. FRIFIRAY @

BRARBRATGEILUARRE REK DM
BRBEAEEEIERKRFREZRNBEFR R
DERREXAEZRBARHK URER
MR ELEERK) BBRRERZHIRWT ¢

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory
tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2021 ot b
Hong Kong United States Mainland
and others of America China Total
FARHEM EHRERE HER Bt
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TET TR FAT TER
Loss before tax from continuing &2 £ RMA
operations B8 (121,435) (216,126) (79,128) (416,689)
Taxat the stautoy taxrate WATHEHENRE  (20,037) 165 (60472 80 (19782 250 (100291) 244
Adjustment from previous HBTBE AR
periods - - (4,961) 23 - - (4,961) 1.2
Expenses not deductible for tax A EJ1#8 2 fix - - 12,070 (5.6) 3 - 12,073 (29)
Uncertain tax positions TRERBER - - 1,535 (©.7) - - 1,535 (0.4)
Tax losses not recognised FREINEHR 20,037 (16.5) 36,278 (16.8) 19,779 (25.0) 76,004 (18.3)
Tax (credt) at BREEEBRREHE
the Group’s effective rate 2B (%) - - (15,550) 7.2 - - (15,550) 37
2020 —ETEE
Hong Kong United States Mainland
and others of America China Total
BEREM FARERE HERH Bt
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TET TAT TET TET
Loss before tax from RECEEBRRA
continuing operations BB (4,185) (32,406) (111,425) (148,016)
Loss before tax from BRIEEEEERA
discontinued operations B (264) - (2,343 (2,607)
(4,449 (32,406) (113,768) (150,623)
Taxatthe statutory tax rate. IR ATIREHENRE (734) 165 (9,067) 280 (28442 %50 (38249) 254
Adjustment from Eapoleailiibatd
previous periods - - 14,511 (44.8) 802 (0.7) 15,313 (10.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax ARIH1MZ % - - - - 2 - 2 -
Uncertain tax positions TRERBER - - 5,539 (17.9) - - 5,539 37)
Tax losses not recognised FEINEER 734 (16.5) - - 28,440 25.0) 29,174 (19.4)
Tax charge/(credt) at RAEEERREHE
the Group's effective rate 2HBZH/

Ciind)

178
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Company’s board of Directors decided to cease
its entertainment and gaming business (the “Ceased
Gaming Business”) on 20 February 2020 in order to
focus its resources on its media and culture business.
The disposal of the Ceased Gaming Business was
competed in February 2021. As at 31 December 2021, the
Ceased Gaming Business was classified as discontinued
operations. With the classification as discontinued
operations, the Ceased Gaming Business segment was
no longer included in the note for operating segment
information.

The results of the Ceased Gaming Business are presented
below:

31 December 2021 —_E_—F+_HF=+—H

11. BRI RS ETE

ARAREEFEREN _TE_TFE_F_+H
RIFPHBRERBEER ((ERIEBEESR))
UREBEREPHREBRERRXEEB - BREE
RIEBEEBR _ZE_—F_AFxmM N
T_—F+-RB=1T—H BRUEBEEH
WOBERERIECEXFT AN DERER
IEEEEE BERIEBEEBDBABIA
RENBER ZMFERA -

ERIEBEEBNEEZIWNT ¢

2021 2020

—E-—& —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Other income and gains H A B Wz - 9

Administrative expenses TEREZ = (2,616)
Loss before tax from the discontinued =~ B4R I A& %55~ (R AT R 18

operations - (2,607)

Loss for the year from the discontinued KB BARIEEEEFE

operations FREE

- (2,607)
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11. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 11.

(continueq)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Ceased
Gaming Business segment classified as held for sale as at
31 December are as follows:

BERIEEESEE »

R+ZRB=+—H2EAKFELENERL
BEEBOIBNIEZEERGEERNNT

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Assets BE
Prepayments, other receivables and A FIE Mt ERENIE R
other assets Hth&EE - 2,561
Cash and cash equivalents HERIBSEEER - 7
Assets classified as held for sale DEAREHENEE - 2,568
Liabilities I=§/-
Tax payable FESIRIE = (190)
Other payables and accruals HMERIB R ETE B - (4,643)
Liabilities directly associated with the BB $EARHEFHEEEBRRE
assets classified as held for sale s lEalEsh =k = (4,833)
Net liabilities directly associated with the £ H & & B HZHRAAY
disposal group BEFEHE - (2,265)

The net cash flows incurred by the Ceased Gaming
Business are as follows:

ERIEBEEFEENRSREFHENT

2021 2020

—E-—&§ —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Operating activities KESEH) - (265)

Net cash outflow b iilaa b | = (265)
Loss per share: SREE

Basic, from the discontinued BER> B AR IEREHETE HKO0.02 cents

operations - 0.027&1ll

Diluted, from the discontinued i REERIEKE X HKO0.02 cents

operations

0.027 1l




11.

12.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(continueq)

The calculation of basic loss per share from the
discontinued operations is based on:

\
31 December 2021 —E2=—&+=-HA=+—8H

1. BERIEREERE »

STHERLEKEEFNERELABEDLER
THRIE:

2021 2020
—E_—F —EEF
Loss attributable to ordinary equity Ef.’&*ﬂ:&"“%i‘“ﬂ’]l’&j
holders of the parent from the BREDEAEAEHEE HK$2,594,000
discontinued operations - 2,594,00078 7T
Weighted average number of ordinary BRI EESREKREBEEZ
shares used in the basic loss I oE R N a8
per share calculation 823,564,799 823,564,799

The Group has no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared during each of the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The Directors
do not recommend the payment of any dividends for 2021
(2020: nil).

KEE-B-—G+-A=+—HLEE
AR B R ST AR B -

145N

Ekﬁ_—\,_—ﬂf&_—«_—«ﬁ'f' E +_
AEFERFEIEKNRNERENRE -F
EWARBRN S —F2EAKE CF

“EEIHE) o

12.
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13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE  13. AR EERERAARLS
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS R 54
OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is EREAGESHEIREIADIEEERT
based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary BAEBGEEEBUAEAFEEETHSE
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average B&INHEF 19 840823,564,7998% (B _ZF ©
number of ordinary shares of 823,564,799 (2020: 8283,564,799f%) 5T H °
823,564,799) in issue during the year.
The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in REBRREE_Z - —FRZTTZEF+Z
issue during the years ended 31 December 2021 and B=+—HIEFEIRSETHNETHEZ
2020. B
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on: BREAGEZHENRELTEIE
2021 2020
=25 —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT
Loss K548
Loss attributable to ordinary BRBEBHERTE AREWN
equity holders of the parent 518
Attributable to: DU 275 h
Continuing operations FEREER 401,089 159,681
Discontinued operations BARIEKEZET - 2,594
401,089 162,275
Number of shares
R &H
2021 2020
—_E-_—&§ —ETEF
Shares B3
Weighted average number of ordinary ~AEE AR FEERER
shares in issue during the year used Rz BETEER
in the basic loss per IOHE &L
share calculation 823,564,799 823,564,799




\
31 December 2021 —E2=—&+=-HA=+—8H

kY
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. ¥ -BERSE
EQUIPMENT
Furniture and Office Motor Leasehold
fixtures equipment vehicles  improvements Total
HIREE WAZRE AE HENERE L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TR TR FAT TR
31 December 2021 ZE--£+ZB=+-H
At 1 January 2021: RIBZ-F-F—-H:
Cost 7N 698 2,528 2,159 230 5,615
Accumulated depreciation and RERRE
impaiment (404) (2510) (690) 230) (3,834)
Net carrying amount REFE 294 18 1,469 - 1,781
At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated R -F=—F—-F—H>
depreciation and imparment NERANERAE 294 18 1,469 - 1,781
Additions RE 201 23 642 - 866
Depreciation provided during the year ~ EREEZ I E (178) (15) (643) = (836)
Disposal HE - - (101) - (101)
Exchange realignment EREE 1 - 9 - 10
At 31 December 2021, net of RIBZ-F+ZR=1+—R’
accumulated depreciation and NBERAMERAE
impairment 318 26 1,376 - 1,720
At 31 December 2021: RZE--£+-A=+-H:
Cost % 902 2,551 2,481 230 6,164
Accumulated depreciation and REHTERRE
impairment (584) (2,525) (1,109) (230) (4,444)
Net carrying amount REFE 318 26 1,376 - 1,720
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

14. ME-BERSEE @

EQUIPMENT (continueq)
Furniture and Office Motor Leasehold
fixtures equipment vehicles improvements Total
BHhREE WAERE AE REMEEE =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TET TAT TAR TET
31 December 2020 “22ZF+ZA=+-H
At 1 January 2020: RIZZE5—F-H:
Cost TN 466 3272 4,317 3,351 11,406
Accumulated depreciation and RTERAE
impairment 063) (3.224) 2.625) (3351) 9,663
Net carrying amount REFE 203 48 1,492 - 1,743
At 1 January 2020, net of accumulated  RZB-BE-F-H>
depreciation and impairment NBREHMERAE 203 48 1,492 = 1,743
Additions RE 241 - 865 - 1,106
Depreciation provided during the year FRBEZTE (149) (28) (789) = (966)
Disposal HE = & (38) = (38)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 33) REMBAD (H:33) = @ (59) = (61)
Exchange realignment ERHE ) = 2 - ()
At 31 December 2020, net of accumulated B-ZF-FE+-F=+—H>
depreciation and impairment NRRTERAR 294 18 1,469 = 1,781
At 31 December 2020; R_E_ZE+_B=+-H:
Cost IS 698 2,528 2,159 230 5,615
Accumulated depreciation and R TERAE
impairment (404) (2,510) (690) (230) (8,834)
Net carrying amount REZE 294 18 1,469 - 1,781




15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
buildings used in its operations, which have lease terms
between 1 and 8 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside
the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use

\
31 December 2021 —E2=—&+=-HA=+—8H

15. fHE

FEEFEREBEA

FEEARANHEEBEENSERTEAEN
BEEH BN F1E8FE - —KRME > &5
EramAEENIALTERZRDBEEEE
7o

(a) FEHAEESE
Ep AEEGAREE S EEERE

assets and the movements during the year are as BT -
follows:
Buildings
g;F
HK$'000
THET
As at 1 January 2020 N ZETEF—H—H 6,062
Additions =1 1,557
Depreciation charge EZH (2,719
Disposal of subsidiaries BEEMB AT (516)
As at 31 December 2020 and C:gigﬁ—l—_ﬁ_‘f——ﬁﬂz
1 January 2021 2 —F—HF—H 4,384
Additions FiN=1 2,982
Depreciation charge EXZYH (2,851)
Disposal of subsidiaries BEEMWEAE (324)
As at 31 December 2021 A _EB_—f#+”"A=+—H 4,191
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. 18 »

The Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

TEBEAEARBEA @
b) HEEE
P AEGE EEEREHNT

2021 2020

—E—F “EIERF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT THET

Carrying amount at 1 January R—B—HZIKREE 4,718 6,312

New leases WEE 2,884 1,557
Accretion of interest recognised FRNERIRTHE

during the year 298 306

Payments (NE/A (3,032) (2,962)

Disposal of subsidiary BRENBAT (375) (495)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—HZKEE 4,493 4,718

Analysed into: DA
Current portion MENE 2,653 1,938
Non-current portion JERENEB D 1,840 2,780

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 38 to the financial statements.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to
all eligible rent concessions granted by the lessors
for leases of certain plant and equipment during the
year.

HESENIMBERDTIRERFHR
&MI5E38°

FEHERETREREEAREAA
REAREES THRE;RE R LR
BEGERETRR-




15. LEASES (continueq)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

()

@

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c)
leases are as follows:

15. 8 @

TEBEEAEBEA @

31 December 2021 — T _—F+_H=+— E

RiBmERAREEHNRENT ¢

2021 2020
—EC-—5F ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaEMNE 208 306
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  fFREBENESH
assets 2,851 2,719
Expense relating to short-term BGHATERRNREX
leases (included in administrative Gt AITERES)
expenses) 216 842
Total amount recognised in RiBm R I RIE 425
profit or loss 3,365 3,867

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash (@)
outflows relating to leases that have not yet
commenced are disclosed in notes 32(c) and 34,
respectively, to the financial statements.

S ARRENEERAZAERE MY
AR T M EABED BIRBER B R

RMIEE32(0) %34 °
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16. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during
the year are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

16. IEJEFRIA
FENREERBEEREEESHNT !

2021
ZEC-&
Impairment
losses on
prepayments, Amortisation of
other investment
receivables in film and
and other television
assets and film Accrued programs and
investment interests program rights Others Total
ERENER
HitEIRRIER
HitngEUR EYRERHA
BEXEE RETERRHE
WERSE EH REREBE Hith At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T FHET FHET
At 1 January 2021 RWIE-—-5—-B—H - 7,346 4,124 2,760 14,230
Deferred tax credited to the FERABRRN
statement of profit or loss EEHRIE (FH10)
during the year (note 10) 18,533 (7,361) 2,186 (2,766) 10,592
Exchange realignment ERRE 61 15 33 6 115
Gross deferred tax assets at RZEZ—-&F+"A=1+—AK
31 December 2021 EEREEERE 18,594 - 6,343 - 24,937
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBE R
2021
ZZ-f
Accrual to
cash adjustment
related to Change in
investment in film fair value of
and television Depreciation of financial and
programs and property, plant derivative
program rights and equipment financial liabilities Others Total
EMERRENR
£ B R 8 B R ERRITE
RENH SR ¥ -BER EHAR
st &R RfEE ATEEH Hitt At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FET TET TET
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—F—H 28,996 183 - - 29,179
Deferred tax charged to the statement E R 1B R ITIREELRIE
of profit or loss during the year (fEE10)
(note 10) (19,828) 35 14,670 736 (4,387)
Exchange realignment ERAR 93 1 49 2 145

RIZZ—4

Gross deferred tax liabilities at




16. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

Notes to Financial Statemerits- , &
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16. IREMIE =

MERMS ETELERBEEERARGB/ERN
MBERRRETERRHE AEERMBR
WRABRKNIEIERBEEF O T -

2021
25
HK$’000
FHERT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the NIRE MBI R ER R EERRY
consolidated statement of financial position LR IBE EFRE 24,937
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RSB RRRETN
consolidated statement of financial position EIEIRIBE S EFER (24,937)
Net deferred tax liabilities IFIERIE AR5 -

At 31 December 2021, under the current tax legislation
of other jurisdictions, the Group’s unused tax losses of
HK$257,026,000 (2020: HK$135,591,000) are available
indefinitely for offsetting against any future taxable profits of
the subsidiary in which the losses arose. Under the current
tax legislation of the PRC, tax loss of HK$191,354,000
(2020: HK$112,226,000) can be carried forward for five
years since the year the loss is incurred. This unrecognised
tax loss is a loss of approximately HK$191,354,000 (2020:
HK$112,226,000) that will expire at various dates up to
and including 2026 (2020: up to and including 2025).

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of the above items as it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the above
items can be utilised.

A B —HF+_HA=+—HB RBEHEM
BAMENROTREZ AEBRFHERIE
B33 7/A257,026,0008 T (Z B2 -2 F .
135,591,000/ 7t) » A ERANIRINES
RN B AR N A REEEREF R
BHREIBETRE 191,354,000 T (ZEB
T 1 112,226,00087T) WRIBERE T B
EREEREEECEEREERLFE RER
TEHE B4 A191,354,0008 T (ZE 24 .
112,226,000 70) " BREEZE_E - E (8
FEeEE) (CE-SF HE_S-FF (8
BE)) WS EARREBEPER-

WHE L HEERREEREBEEE RER
AARPISER BRI eI B A L HMIEE -
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16. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 16. IEIEMRIE =
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of Tt U T IEEMPIRIERIBEE !

the following items:

2021 2020
% TECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TAT
Unused tax losses FEBAMBERIE 448,380 247,817
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a BIEFEEZEMEREZ THRRRMALLZ
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to SNEREMIBEREEST KR EBHW
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises 10%TEH R - ZRMENR ST NE—HB—HEE
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective SN BRAR_ZEELtE+_B=1+—H%
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 Z W Es o e R E O B AN B B B 2 Bl AR
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be B ERWBE AT RBRBEZBOREK.
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China HAEEMS  BAMER10% - AEB AT
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, BERATFTERMNIIZNBABMBE S
the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable NEFE—B—HEEEZWGEFDIKZEEX
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those HEFEINMR o
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
17. TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. 8 5 FEWFRIE
2021 2020
—E-—5F “ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FA&T THEIT
Trade receivables B2 ria 114,560 138,864
Impairment BIE (80,910) (71,631)

33,650 67,233




17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables from royalties from film and television
programs are due when reported to the Group, and usually
received within 30 to 180 days. Trade receivables from
sales of investment in television programs and program
rights are due based on the payment schedule specified
in contracts. Trade receivables from other revenue sources
are usually within 180 days from the date of provision
of services. Except for specific impairment made for a
receivable in respect of the sale of two TV programs on
the basis as set out below, the Group recognises lifetime
ECLs for all trade receivables and measures the lifetime
ECLs on a specific basis according to management’s
assessment of the recoverability of an individual receivable.
Management considers the number of days that an
individual receivable is outstanding, historical experience
and forward-looking information to determine the
recoverability of the trade receivable. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are unsecured
and non-interest-bearing.

An aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice dates and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

RIFEIR ML

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

17. B3 EIWRFRIE @

REBEFKRERNERENEZ BERIEAER
ERTFHAEERAZHABK  BEE302/180
HAWE - HEERBDERE KEEREN
B 5 RWHRIERESQORTHEN AR EIE
HARE U - K AZRIRHN B 7 R IRE S
BRMHERHEEQES180HRNIEL BRI &
wEERE BB E 5 EURIBETR ERE
Sho AEBMAAE B S BUGRIRER 2R
HEEBE LREEEREH @R B UWRE
REMENFERFEREESEZHRBAE
B8 - EEE E B R WEE B FE R IR /Y
RE - BECBRRKABEMENUEEB SR
WRIEAREME - AEBLEREE ZE
WRIBEGEHFAETARFRNEMEE &
ZEWHRADERR RS -

REREHFR EFEERIBEZEZH LN
REREEZ RO

2021 2020

—E—F “ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAETT
Within 1 month BB UA 6,384 =
Over 3 months IEN=R 27,266 67,233
33,650 67,233

N
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq) 17. BB EIRERIE @)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

B RWRUEREBREEZESNT

2021 2020

—E—F “ETEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT TAT

At beginning of year REH 71,631 9,238
Impairment losses (note 6) BEEE (:E6) 6,823 65,005
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RENEAE - (6,632)
Exchange realignment b 0 AR R 2,456 4,020

At end of year REX 80,910 71,631

Impairment losses recognised during the year in an
amount of HK$6,823,000 (2020: HK$65,005,000) included
an additional allowance of HK$5,827,000 for receivables
in respect of investments in two television programs
and program rights sold to a customer in 2019. Certain
incidents happened to the producer and the distributor
of the two television programs led to a limitation of
distribution of television programs they produced. The
Directors, upon consulting its legal advisor, are of the
view that the Group has no additional obligation for the
investments in two television programs and program
rights sold, including the refund of considerations partially
received. The Directors assessed the loss allowance of
these receivables taking into account the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money, and
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

FRMERE£E8%46,823,0008T (ZETF :
65,005,000 7) Z BEBEF AR -
FR—RERPHENMABERERE BB
hRiER B~ B W R IE R SN & 45,827,00078
oM BREBANRR ARETEHE
EHNETEAERRERIFNEREEEN
BITRRH ERLHEAHARBERRIES
AEEBEANCHENZMIBEREBR K
MERERERERIEE BERECK
BRHEORE EFTERETRRREBEZE
BEEROH RUARNEER GBFE;
RIRBREEBHMBAMNHBSHAHE IR
ERSNEMBEER  BERiR R RRREE
HREFEANSERAIEER -




17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type and
customer type). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more than
one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2021

RIFEIR ML

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

17. B3 EIWRFRIE @

RERSAHXBEFREEETREI N
UstERREaEER - BHEXDHERAASE
UEBEEANZERZF D HER BlEtE
ERERREFER) NAHABBEE &t
ERBUARARNMEER EERFERRES
HHARSHNARBESFE BT KARK
B RMERANGERAIEER - —RME
BERWREANBE —FREBARRNSE
AT RS A T LA o

TR FEBEAEREBERGFENESE
WRENEERBRER

R-E-_—F+”"A=+—H

Past due
il
Less 1to Over
Current  than1 month 3 months 3 months Total
BN 1fEB A 1Z3(8AR SEAMNE @it
Expected credit loss rate FHEEHEX 0.00% 10.00% 50.00% 74.79% 70.63%
Gross carrying amount REAE (TED
(HK$'000) 6,384 - - 108,176 114,560
Expected credit losses BREEESE (TET)
(HK$'000) - - - 80,910 80,910
As at 31 December 2020 N ZEEF+ZR=+—H
Past due
pek
Less than 1to Over
Current 1 month 3 months 3 months Total
B REELR 1E3MER EAMU L Azt
Expected credit loss rate BHEEHEX 3.00% 10.00% 50.00% 51.58% 51.58%
Gross carrying amount REAE (TAT)
(HK$'000) - - - 138,864 138,864
Expected credit losses FHEERE (TAT)

(HK$'000)

71,631 7

A
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18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

8. FA(IRIA - Hth U TR IR R H th

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS BE
2021 2020
—E—5F “EIEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE FHT FET
Prepayments and other assets FENRERAEMEE (@) 26,994 28,572
Impairment allowance REREE (25,881) -
1,113 28,572
Other receivables and deposits HtnE W IBE R EE 106,357 101,958
Amounts due from Directors FEWEERIE (FI3E35) (b)
(note 35) 872 2,092
107,229 104,050
Impairment allowance BEEE (66) -
107,163 104,050
Film prepayments B EEREMNNRIE ©)
— Prepayments to film directors —FENFELEENR
5 201,332 191,156
— Prepayments for investment — BN TFEEKRERD
in film and television programs B K B hRERERN
and program rights EQE] 170,555 82,710
371,887 273,866
Impairment allowance B EREE (129,637) (1,921)
242,250 271,945
350,526 404,567
Less: non-current portion B FEBNERER (242,250) =
Current portion BOHAER 108,276 404,567
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18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continued)

Notes:

@)

Prepayments and other assets mainly represent the
accrued input VAT and other prepayments. In 2018,
the Group purchased three TV drama series from third
parties. In connection with the transactions, the purchase
amounts (include input VAT) were fully paid while input VAT
invoices were only partially received with an amounted of
HK$19,000,000 being delayed due to the suppliers’ reason.
According to relevant tax rules of PRC, the suppliers are
required to provide full amount of VAT invoice for the
transactions, and the Group is allowed by tax rule to offset
its output VAT payable upon presenting valid VAT invoice
received from the suppliers. As the input VAT invoices
were long outstanding and the suppliers’ immediate/
intermediate holding companies and the suppliers were
being named, in 2021 and 2022, as “dishonest civil debtors”
(RIEW#ITA, i.e. has capability to execute obligations
under legal documents but did not take action) and “civil
debtors” (##117 A, i.e. the court ordered to enforce for
not executing obligations under effective legal documents),
and after taking into account the circumstances, the
management considered that the probability of collection
of the VAT input invoices was low. Therefore, the input VAT
as at 31 December 2021 has been fully provided for. The
recoverable amount of other prepayments are estimated
based on a value-in-use calculation.

The amounts due from Directors are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Prepayments to film directors represent payments made
to film directors for their work in the preparation of motion
picture development proposal and costs to be incurred
by them in the course of work. These prepayments will
be exchanged for the Group’s investment in the fim to be
produced by the film directors upon the commencement
of production of the film, which the Group has the first
right of refusal to invest in. In the case the Group decided
not to invest, the Group will be reimbursed out of the film
production costs contributed by financiers of the project.
Prepayments for investment in film and television programs
and program rights represent prepayment made for film
or television programs which pre-filming preparation has
begun but production work has not yet started. When
the film or television program production work begins
and the interest of the Group’s investment in the project
is established, these prepayments will be reclassified as
investment in film and television program and program
rights.

Prepayments to film directors which are expected to be
realised within one year, or over one year but in a business
cycle are classified as current assets. Prepayments to
film directors which are expected to be realised over a
business cycle of more than one year which generally has
the characteristic that the production date of new films is
uncertain are classified as non-current.

Mok -

(@)

MR R MIEE

31 December 2021 _&E_—F+_B=+—H

18. gé-ﬁlﬁ H fth R rR IR B H th

AN RIEREME EEBIERHEREER
REMBNRE R _E—-\F AEBBEF
—HBE=HBRERE -UZEXZME
BEMIER (BIEERIZER) BREBE A &
E AR RAEWE O EREERNESR
535119,000,00078 7089 8 SRIE IEIE © 1R 15 P El
HEARERE HEBEEFAXZRMHEH
HERER BAEETERERF  BIRE
SEHEHRINANEERERBIRHH
FEJ RV IRIZETR - M ERIEEIRER RS
KA BHEBNER BEERAS R
BER S _—FR_ZB-__FHRIBIE
ERAT AL BNARENEITERXHRERN
EHERARIITENON) K HEHIT AL ED
ETBITAERERX R EN B ML
"F/v\iﬂﬁﬂ’])\) URA&EBARIBRE BE
SR AR g TR EIR R A AE M BE ° [
ﬁt RIBE-—F+"A=+—H2¥RE
TRIZERM B - B FE (T RUBRY BT Uk O] 28R AR
BEREEEES -

B EFENES BT RERREREE

AN TEXEENTESENBHMESE
E’]g‘gﬁIT’F}S’zITﬁL&EPEEB’JE}Z$W§H
TEHXLBENNE - ZERYRIER N BEH
EHERFATERNERLEERZHIF
BENRE ~EEHILEAEERER I
FEBMAEFRENBERT  ~EEFLUEE
REANESENESHZ R FERMELER AN
TEFNBEROE B RERENMRIAR
M2 AR RN AT 2 TEBHRMBRE
VEX R ERBMEFHNRNNRIA - EEF 2
BREFEIERARETAEEEZEER
SER ZERNARBEN DB RBLRER
EERETERERE -

BRR—FABE—FER —EA/mEEH
NERNANTEXEENREDER/ R
BE RN —EBE— Eﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬁﬂﬁq&;fﬁ
NN FEXLENRBEREE AR BT H

TEEATEER R R BN R IERE) °

EAXCREERBIRAR
B R
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18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

(continueq)

When the Group decides to invest in a film to be produced
with the Group’s prepayment to the film director, the Group
has to provide further funds required for production on its
own or with other investors. A distribution agreement will
be entered into at a later stage between the distributor,
the producer and the investor(s) which sets out the
recoupment corridor for the allocation of the Gross
Receipts (box office receipts, sale of DVD, online sales, pay
and “free” TV, etc.) of the film. For illustrative purpose, a
typical recoupment corridor is in the following order:

1. Distribution fees (income earn by the distributor)
Distribution expenses (out-of-pocket expenses)

Film investment costs/advances made by the
distributor to the investor(s)

Investors’ profit

Bonus/fee for the film director

Other financiers and parties

Further percentage of sharing by the parties

ok S

No ok

The order and percentage of the recoupment corridor
varies from film to film, which depends on circumstances
and bargaining power of the various parties. For a film of
the Group released in September 2021, recoupment of
the Group’s prepayment to the fim director ranked fifth
(in a way similar but not exactly the same as the above
illustrative example). Due to the poor performance of the
box office receipts of the fim influenced by the COVID-19
pandemic, which also subsequently affects non-box-
office income steam, no more Gross Receipts are available
for allocation after the film investment costs are partly
recouped. With the written agreement of the film director,
the Group’s prepayment to the film director is deferred
and to be recouped from the next film the film director will
produce, together with a 20% premium. The prepayment
would has been not recoverable without the subsequent
arrangement with the film directors.

18. i‘éﬁ%ﬁlﬁ‘ L fth FE U wR IE B H th

(&)

FERZARE-BRUCERRGTTFER
BENRERFNEXR  AEEABTN
HHEMREE -—BRERFABENE—TE
T RTH RAARREEREHRMRERE
VETHER ERIASEBRANA (BF
WA DVDIHE - LIHE - NERRE B
REF) WEWRE - BERARAR  HERN
ElWBE R LT IERE )

1. BITER (FETHEPTRIEIKRA)
BOTMAX (BANERA)
BTEHRAREEFENEERER L
B

REEZE G

BEXERICAEH
HhEmEB R AL
BRHENE-—FSEIL

COTS

N O

Y EBENIRF B D LEEBRME  BUR
REFHWBERMZEEN MEEBRR -
T—FNBLEBN—BEXMS > AEEM
WAEBRERRVOMESFRER U LR
BERABLUNE RN K IFT2ERE) o @
Rk EEWARZCOVID-19% 1B & &k
RAE BROEEIFZEEWAZRR WE
BoBEREMAR  WEBWARHEHIE -
KEXEREEARE FEERTEEREBR
BRFHNANRIE UTREXEEREN
T—EMEZHUE FR B T20% 5 E - H
AEBRXERFHBRERS AZBANRE
A UL [E]
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18. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

18. (I FRIE « Hfth FEULrRIA R H th

RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS BEE®w
(continueq)
Also, due to poor performance of films released tEsh > R HR BB E R RIR A E REE
recently, investors have been cautious in making new EERENMBT T RIEFABER EFHA
film investments. The Directors have undergone a detall EEENEFEENRIBEN AU B ETTF
review of recoverability of the Group’s prepayments to MBS MEEHESNSR BENTKES
film directors taking into account the current situation. HIREEABESEGAS ERTEANRE
Where an indication of impairment exists, the asset’s HoUBEBOWEESESEMBEES
recoverable amount is estimated based on a value-in- EHE% RBREAEGASHMBHRREEZESE
use calculation. It is highly judgmental when the fim BHEN EfNErEERNRBTIRBEBE
industry will be recovered so that reasonable profit will be $5129,637,000/8 7T > Z R B A & 1B B [0l U
available for allocation through the recoupment corridor. BEWLDER BERARERBEIRAEE -
Based on information available to the Directors when
the consolidated financial statements are prepared, an
impairment provision of HKD129,637,000 was made for
film prepayments the recoverability of which through the
recoupment corridor is doubtful and when the film will start
production is also uncertain.
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BNRE -EHtMERFEREMEEZ BE
prepayments, other receivables and other assets are as EIEEEESWT
follows:
2021 2020
—E_—% “ETEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
At beginning of year RER] 1,921 136,471
Impairment losses (note 6) RERE (F5E6) 153,184 -
Amount written off as uncollectible b6 =P NN EIE = = (583)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BNEBEAR - (54)
Other assets directly associated with AN EARIEHEEERR
the assets classified as held for sale AN EMEE - (133,913)
Exchange realignment PE AR 479 =

At end of year REXR 155,584

1,827

A
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS

19. BNEE

2021 2020
T % “ECERF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FATT

Contract assets arising from: KEUTEEZENEE .

Film and television program income BEYKBREEMABEWA

and film production MR EREE 105,911 121,888
Impairment BB (77,460) (27,863)
28,451 94,025

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue from
film and television programs and film production services.
For film and television programs released, the receipt of
revenue is conditional on the confirmation from film or
television producer taking into account gross receipt from
various income sources less distribution and other costs.
For film production services, the receipt of revenue is
conditional on the completion of performance obligations
specified in contracts. Upon release of films or drama
series and receipt of settlement statement, the amounts
recognised as contract assets from film and television
programs are reclassified to trade receivables. Upon
completion of film production services and acceptance
by the film producer, the amounts recognised as contract
assets from film production services are reclassified to

trade receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
HK$77,460,000 (2020: HK$27,863,000) was recognised
as an allowance for expected credit losses on contract

assets.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract

assets as at 31 December is as follows:

m,\ﬁﬁé%ﬂiﬁf?&% BEROBUKRETH
TERR# =z W TEEBEOMJLEAEE‘MTE’JES%
REBREBHA LI&U\:E%E?EE% BEREA A
REBEWRARBRNERABEZETREM
PR A8 Z FESR T E » IR BRERERE » WA

BRRARRETHENREENBENEE -1
@-éj%ﬂ ERECEHTHRIEERR M

BRBERERMBGNEEZTEEND
JEE?%%%FEH&?\XIE REBRERERS S TN
TEEBERA ARME BBSBEERIF
BEBEGNEEZSRENDBRES BN
o

REBEE_SE_—F+_A=+—HIEER
DENE ETARE S E18E#77,460,00078 7T
(ZEBZ4F 27,863,000 7T) ©

R+tZA=+—HZGHNEEREINEER
HARFR T ¢

Within one year —FR

2021 2020
—E—F “EIERE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
28,451 94,025




19.

CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

Q0

Notes to Financial Statements .

BIFSIREMIEE |

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

10. BEE »

BNBEEZREBEEEESNT :

2021 2020

g% TECEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FET

At beginning of year REY) 27,863 1,462
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BRSSP EE (fY5E6) 48,406 25,431
Exchange realignment PE R AEEE 1,191 970
At end of year REXR 77,460 27,863

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates for the measurement of the
expected credit losses on the contract assets are based
on those of the trade receivables as the contract assets
and the trade receivables are from the same customer
bases. The provision rates for contract assets are based
on days past due of trade receivables for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by geographical region, product type and customer type).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk

RERSAPRXBEFEEEETREIN
UstERMEEBRR -HEGHNEERBRE
EEHZBEREXTUEBZRBBRIEZBEX
REE RERSANEEKRE S BIRIER
BR—ERER -GHNEEZEFAEXRDER
BERUGEEEANZEAZT R DA &
ZRERENGHA#ETE BRHE - Em
BHRERERNE D) &t ERRIARM
RER SERBEEEMNRSEBHIEH
ERBESEIE BRI IR R KK E IR 18
ANGERFIEER -

TR ERBBEROMNEREAERS

exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision HNEBEZEERRBZER
matrix:

2021 2020
—E-—5F ZETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Expected credit loss rate TEHAEERBEX 73.14% 22.86%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) IREAE (F8T) 105,911 121,888
Expected credit losses (HK$ 000) TERRE B8 (FET) 77,460 27,863
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20. INVESTMENT IN FILM AND
TELEVISION PROGRAMS AND

PROGRAM RIGHTS

The movements in investment in film and television
programs and program rights are as follows:

20. EXREREE KA BiRiER

)Illlh

B RBERNERMEREREEHNT :

Television
Theatrical films programs Total
FRER EREE Ht
2021 —EC-F HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FET

Cost: 5%

At 1 January »—B—H 393,622 85,163 478,785
Additions RE 218,632 - 218,632
Exchange realignment ERAE 2,253 2,818 5,071

At 31 December B+-B=+—H 614,507 87,981 702,488

Accumulated amortisation and S S REE
impairment

At 1 January »w—B—~ (110,928) (66,795) (177,723)
Amortisation during the year FREH (276,167) (18,611) (294,778)
Impairment for the year FRRE (80,223) - (80,223)
Exchange realignment &R (1,952) (2,575) (4,527)

At 31 December R+ZB=+—H (469,270) (87,981) (557,251)

Net carrying amount: IREFE -

At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 145,237 - 145,237




20. INVESTMENT IN FILM AND

31 December 2021 2 _—F+_H=+—H

20. B 5 R B4R 86 B & £ I KR IR

(4
\

-
N

TELEVISION PROGRAMS AND '@
PROGRAM RIGHTS (continued)
Television
Theatrical films programs Total
FhREX BREB oy
2020 T FE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FET FAETT
Cost: 5% 3%
At 1 January R—HB—H 289,305 80,216 369,521
Additions RE 105,668 - 105,668
Exchange realignment ERAHE (1,351) 4,947 3,596
At 31 December R+ZB=+—H 393,622 85,163 478,785
Accumulated amortisation and BErHBHERRE
impairment
At 1 January ®—A—A (70,480) (39,322) (109,802)
Amortisation during the year FREH (40,806) (23,619) (64,425)
Exchange realignment &R 358 (3,854) (3,496)
At 31 December w+—A=+—8 (110,928) (66,795) (177,723)
Net carrying amount: IREEE -
At 31 December B+ZBA=+—H 282,694 18,368 301,062
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20. INVESTMENT IN FILM AND
TELEVISION PROGRAMS AND
PROGRAM RIGHTS (continued)

The status of the investment in film and television
programs and program rights is as follows:

20. EF KR E1AE B K6 B iR

67

B RBERNERMBRERENRENT

2021 2020
—E_—fF TETEE
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F#&T TFAT
Non-current JETRED
Theatrical films EhRER
Released, net of accumulated BT Ik B s a
amortisation 11,700 -
Investment in film and EXRERNBR
television programs and BRI B REE
program rights, net 11,700 =
Current wE
Theatrical films ERER
Released, net of accumulated BT kR RET#HE
amortisation 100,804 21,547
Completed and not released BRMERET - 228,912
Production in progress S{EH 32,733 32,235
133,537 282,694
Television programs EREE
Released, net of accumulated BT IR R 5
amortisation - 18,368
Investment in film and B RERGEK
television programs and BB IR B BEE
program rights, net 145,237 301,062

(@  The non-current investment in film and television programs
and program rights is not reclassed as current because the

full recoupment of this asset is estimated to be taken place
beyond the Company’s normal business cycle and thus
satisfying the definition of non-current assets.

@ BEAERMBERGHERENIFRSKREL
BEROBARPEE ARZBEENTH
WEESHEERRABNERSEFBRRE
£ RN EIFRBEENEE




20. INVESTMENT IN FILM AND
TELEVISION PROGRAMS AND
PROGRAM RIGHTS (continued)

The Group reviews its investment in film and television
programs and program rights regularly to assess if there
is any indicator of impairment and the related recoverable
amount with reference to the marketability of each film and
television program, and current market conditions. The
recoverable amount of the investment in film and television
programs and program rights was determined on a title-
by-title basis.

The Group assessed that if the above investment was
impaired as at 31 December 2021. The COVID-19
pandemic has a significant negative impact on the film
and cinema industry, since the recoverable amount based
on the value-in-use calculation of one film was lower
than the carrying amount, an impairment provision of
HK$80,223,000 (2020: nil) for the film investment was
made.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
contract assets are as follows:

20. EF

IS

31 December 2021 —_E_—F+_HF=+—H

RERE B REBRER
=4

AEESECHREXRERHEZBHE MK
ENHmHEARNERBRTHEEERERDHBE K
MERERE U HESFEE/MBED
KRB B - B KBEREE R

B ER BRI EI AU F R EREE

A B —F+_A=+—8 > ~AEBFTGL
R E 2R IEECOVID-198 EHEE
T EEREAEETE BRNER—
EE%ZE’J@EH%F{Equ%E’J_JLI&lE@%ETEEEAEE
Efﬁ > UL BB RO B 1 R (E $55580,223,000
BT (CETFE HFE) o

BMNEEREBEREEEHNT -

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FHEIT

At beginning of year =S| - .
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEIEFEE (fi56) 80,223 =
Exchange realignment fE AR 297 =
At end of year FER 80,520 =
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20.

21.

INVESTMENT IN FILM AND
TELEVISION PROGRAMS AND
PROGRAM RIGHTS (continued)

The recoverable amount of film investment was determined
based on a value-in-use calculation which uses the present
value of the expected future cash flows arising from
the pre-determined share of proceeds of the film which
was derived from discounting the projected future cash
flows using the discount rates from 21.39% to 23.35%
based on the different status of the films (2020: from
18.10% to 24.08%). Key assumptions for the value-in-use
calculations related to the estimation of cash inflow/outflow
include the budgeted box office revenue, non-box office
distribution revenues, distribution expenses and discount
rate. Such estimation is based on the historical box office
of the same film director and main cast members, the
market comparable data of films with the same theme, the
historic ratio between box office and non-box office, and
management’s expectations of the market. The discount
rate used is before tax and reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to film production and investment business, and
also the life cycle of the similar kind of films.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

20. EF KR E1AE B K6 B iR

(&)

ExrRENKRESEILEREREETE (B
RAEEENIERERAN F21.39%F23.35%
(ZCE-ZF 1 18.10%FE24.08%) MITIR =
TEEARRREEREFHNENELME
REZALETCHEZBRAKRESHRER
B) MEBT BB MA RGBS
AEATENIZERREBEEEEZER KRS
FERE DU DI RAAIRE o 2% h 5t
BERE—EERFTEEENBEETER H
—TEEENTEILEREE - EERIEE
ENESLEELEEBHTISZERENTER -
FTAEMREAMAIMIRE RMEFMEEE
BEEMSTIEREFRIEAEREERSR
BRI REEEFN EamER-

1. RERREFEEE

2021 2020
—E-—% _E_EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT

Cash and bank balances R& R IRITAER
Denominated in RMB MARsHE - 54
Denominated in AU$ LUBITEHE - 57
Denominated in CA$ nscstE 56 -
Denominated in HK$ AETsHE 70 915
Denominated in US$ MUZETTEHE 156,979 141,811
Cash and cash equivalents RBERIAEEEEE 157,105 142,837
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22. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. HithfE(JshIa R EHER

2021 2020

—E-—% _EEEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TAET

Other payables and accruals* HhE( I8 & e B B 162,502 156,656

Other payables and accruals are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. The fair values of other
payables at the end of the reporting period approximated
to their corresponding carrying amounts.

Further details of other payables and accruals based on
their nature are as follows:

HthE I REREFSERAEBRIF - 28K
EREREERE NRESARZHMENRIE

ZRATFEEHARREERES-

BREMEIDNHEMENRBERESERN

E—PHBOT:

2021 2020
=25 _ECE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Deposits/advances from film financiers ZKEEBFREHNESBR 51,216 82,441
Advances due to third parties FENE=FHNE®R 26,595 25,245
Payable for VAT and tax penalties FE(TIG B R R RS SN 26,258 19,315
Loan interest payables FERTERFE 29,660 19,219
Accrued expenses st 28,593 10,436
Amount due to a Director (note 35) R —%EEWFIE
(FF5E35) 180 -
162,502 156,656
23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. 5 &E
2021 2020
- 2 “ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT TATT
Short-term advances WERZ 5 F 42 B30
received from customers
Deferred income PEIEUT A 67,615 =
Sale of film investments and HEBRKRER
rendering of related services IR AERE AR TS 37,425 92,618

105,040

‘ﬂy@

s

1
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 24. A BRITREMESEURER
OTHER BORROWINGS AND FILM REEM
INVESTMENT LOANS
2021 2020
ZEC-F “EI%F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$'000 rate (%) Maturity HK$'000
BRI (%) ) 1 TET  BEANE%) 504 TR
Current i
Borrowings - unsecured fg & — &L HF (note b, d) 3-8 2021-2022 197,625 6-8 2021 67,039
(Fit5EDd) ZE5C-F “ET-E
EIE-CE
Fiminvestment loans ~ EFHEEH  (hotec, d) 6-8 2021-2022 193,431 6 2021 117,791
(GEN) g% “TT-f
F-ECCE
391,056 184,830
Non-current JEENER
Bankloan - secured  SRTEFR-BHERA (note a) - LIBOR+250r 2022 148,735
Eastwest
Bank
prime rate,
with a floor
rate of 3.25
(Fitzka) wEET B CE
FESE)
2.5
REZRT
REEF%
RIERZES
3.25
Borrowings -unsecured (note b) - 3-8 2022 129,819
e R (Fi&th) -2
Film investment loans (note c) - 6 2022 46,635
B REER (HzEc) _ECCF
- 325,089
391,056

509,919




24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS AND FILM
INVESTMENT LOANS (continued)
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24. st BRITREMESEUARER
Eﬁéﬂ )

2021 2020
—E—% TETEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAETT
Analysed into: DrABUTIES !
Bank loans: IRITER .
In the second year RE_F - 148,735
Other borrowings and film investment ~ fEEEHMES K
loans repayable: BEREEN
Within one year —FR 391,056 184,830
In the second year NE_F - 176,354
391,056 361,184
391,056 509,919
Notes: BT -
(@  There was no bank loan as at 31 December 2021. The (a) AR F+A=+—HUmIRTE
bank loan of HK$148,735,000 as at 31 December 2020 MMRZIBZIZEFA+ZA=1+—HZRITE
was secured by the pledge of 100% of the Group’s equity 148,735,000 THAEBMPNEEZEWB L
interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary, Starlight Culture &) » BlStarlight Culture Entertainment Limited
Entertainment Limited, and 100% of the membership EHNRERNE— LB EERENE
interest in a fim production company owned by a film ERABIZZBRERRDFRF - ERENR T
director. The loan was fully repaid in 2021, T FEBEER
() As at 31 December 2021, other borrowings amounted to b) RZEZ—F+ZA=+—HB =85

HK$67,420,000 bearing interest at a rate of 8% per annum
are repayable in 2021, and other borrowings amounted to
HK$130,205,000 bearing interest at rates ranging from 3%
to 8% per annum are repayable in 2022.

67,420,000 T F M E8% T EHNHEHM
BEAR_SZ—FEBE UKTES
130,205,000 LI FH 3% E8% st EMNH
MEEANR B _FEE.
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND
OTHER BORROWINGS AND FILM
INVESTMENT LOANS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©

The film investment loans represented loans from film
financiers which bear interest at rates ranging from 6% to
8% per annum. The repayment dates are subject to the
release dates of films.

During the year, the Group defaulted on the repayment
of overdue other borrowings and film investment loans
(including financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss and derivative financial liabilities) amounted to
HK$308,495,000, and have a further other borrowings and
film investment loans (including financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and derivative financial liabilities)
in an aggregate amount of HK$277,093,000 which will be
due for repayment in June 2023 or before.

The Group has been actively negotiating with all the lenders
for renewal and extension for repayments of the overdue
borrowings. The Group entered into extension agreements
with lenders of other borrowings and film investment loans
(including financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial liabilities) in the amount of
approximately HK$332,920,000 to extend the repayment
due date to June 2023. Lenders in respect of other
borrowings and film investment loans (including financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative
financial liabilities) of approximately HK$26,520,000
preliminarily intended to renew or extend certain overdue
borrowings, however, no formal agreement has been
reached yet.

The remaining film investment loans with principals of
HK$85,022,000 and interests of HK$2,463,000 are due for
repayment in 2022.

24. 5

FE -

c

(#)

B KREETIEREET

RMEANER BE
FK6%ZE8%HE - B AR RN BRI LR
=R

FRC-AERREEEAINAMEERE
EREEN (OERATESABENES/ME
BRITESRIERE) 308,495,000/ T HIE
BEHMEEREXREER (BERATE
FABETNEREBERTES/MEE) a3
277,093,000 TR N _E _=ZF/BHZH
HHREE -

FEE-—ERBEMARBEAREBRIE
REESANEBEETER AEEMSEN
332,920,000 Tz HthEEREFKREE
R (BEEATEFABENEREERNT
EERER) BREATILERBZE UE
BRIBALERE_ZS_=F 8 HH
26,620,000 8 T Z A fEE R BEXREEM
(BERATEFSABRGNERERERITE
THRER ARZBEANSREEENIER
ETARRES BHERERERBE-

TR B IR EE N $£85,022,000%8 7T ° F) £
2,463,000/ Tt BN ZE - ZFEHAEER
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24, INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 24. G BRITRHEMEEURER
OTHER BORROWINGS AND FILM Eﬁéﬂ )
INVESTMENT LOANS (continued)
Film investment loans with a principal amount of BB EHAE193,431,0005 T IZ BRI
HK$193,431,000 bear variable interest rates depending on EYELRBEEZ IHAEASE  WamAT
the royalties generated from the films, which are derivative SO RBHRBELREERDHALIEAFE
components and should be separated from the film FE-BEREEMTEXDEBMENT !
investment loans and measured at fair value. The summary
of movements in the derivative component of the film
investment loans is as follows:
Derivative financial liabilities TEEMaR
2021 2020
—E-—F “ETSEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
At 1 January H—HB—H 17,945 32,477
Change in fair value of derivative METRERAFEED
financial liabilities (1,901) (14,390)
Exchange realignment b O EE R 96 (142)
At 31 December K+ZA=+—H 16,140 17,945

Changes in the fair value of the derivative component of
the film investment loans amounting to HK$1,901,000
(2020: HK$14,390,000) were charged to the statement of
profit or loss during the year.

RERANBEREEFINTESIDAFE
SESEEA1,901,0008B T (CE_24F .
14,390,000/ 7T) » PRIER R AR o
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25. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR 25 MATFEFAEENEMER

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2021 2020
—EZ—%F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFAET
Amount received under the MRATFEIERNBEERE
co-investment arrangements without ZHTBWRIE—
share of copyrights, at fair value ki g 192,023 =

Amount received under the co-investment arrangements
without share of copyrights are mandatorily classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal
and interest.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had
several co-investment agreements with investors in film
production projects, which entitled the investors to receive
a variable income based on the investor’'s investment
amount and expected rate of return as specified in the
respective co-investment agreements. Investors have
no control nor joint control over the investments and are
without share of copyrights.

The Group measured, at initial recognition, the cost of
these amounts received based on the cash consideration
for these investments.

All these films had been released and the carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period represented the fair
value of the estimated net future cash flows from these
films attributable to the investors. The repayment dates of
these liabilities are normally after 30 days every time the
Company receives cash receipts from distributors. Further
details are set out in note 24(d) to the financial statements.

The fair value gains on remeasurement of fair value
of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
amounting to HK$81,850,000 during the year.

BMEREZFTERRE-EDIGREER
FIDERBRAFESABZNEMER
HREAGMNRESRET MRS INEER
FE e

BE_E_—F+-RA=+—HLFE &
EREREEMNEBXRFBEEIIAETHS
REWGR RESBEREBEMBATRE
ENRETERBHALNRK - KEEFHE
WA m e REE T IRE IR HIE
GEGIE BED(GRE

AEERYPRIBFREZFRENRES N
Bt 2T EWRBERIME

ZEBEFXHE LR RBEEHRNKREERE
REEBEZEETHNEG KRR RESR
BHNATE - ZEEENERBHREES L
ABEEBREFETHNREWIERI0BER &
— I HBHRNMBRRME24(d)

ERNENMGFERATEFABENERMER
B9 A B U 25 #381,850,000 7 7T ©




26. PROMISSORY NOTES

The carrying value of the promissory notes measured at
amortised cost is as follows:
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26. AR FE
LA SRR R R RE M T

2021 2020

—E-—F “ETEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FET

At 1 January W—A—H 1,000 9,000

Interest FIE 2,181 2,170
Repayment of principal during the year F£REEAR S

(note a, note b) (MFzka~ FMizEb) (1,000) (8,000)
Repayment of interest during the year ~ EREEF S (Mizta)

(note a) (1,800) -
Waiver of interest ERF B (381) =
Exchange realignment PE SR EEEE - -
At 31 December R+ZHA=+—H - 3,170
Less: Interest payable including in other & : st AEfthE RIB R ESTE

payables and accruals BREMF]E = (2,170)
- 1,000

Notes:

On 2 January 2019, the Group issued promissory notes
which were measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method with the effective interest
rate at 15% per annum with a total principal amount of
HK$266,989,000. In April 2019, the repayment date of the
promissory notes was extended to 28 April 2020.

In September 2019, the Group signed an agreement
with a share subscriber and the promissory note
holder to settle the promissory note with a principal

amount of HK$17,000,000 and interest amounting to
HK$1,290,000 by the share subscriber. In addition, the
Group also paid the promissory notes with a principal
amount of HK$257,998,000 and interest in the amount of
HK$12,634,000.

F5E -

@ MRIZ—hE—RBZH AXEERITASHERE
#5266,989,000% 75 > B EHZE H15% M &
RER ERAERA AR EHER AT E
RIZE—NFEA  AREHENERHIHSIE
BEZZZZFNAZ+N\Be

RIZE—NENA > AEERE LRGB!
ARAREHRFTEAET —BHBZUHRK
HRBAEEASEE17,000,0008 7T K F)
£E71,290,00058 T A R E# o ILHh > A
B 78 % A & %8257,998,00058 T R A E A
12,634,000 TR A R ZE % o

F e
=

N

A

1\
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26. PROMISSORY NOTES (continued) 26. AREE »
Notes: (continued) Wiz @ (&)
(b)  In January 2021, the Group settled the promissory notes (b)

with a payment of a principal amount of HK$1,000,000
and interests of HK$1,800,000, and a waiver of interest of

RIEBEZ—F—RB AEREEASBELOR
1,000,0007% 7t K& 1 B %1,800,0007% 7T Y & 72
=35 2] B A381,0008 7T ©

HK$381,000.
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. I&7s
Shares B 1%
2021 2020
% “EIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAETT
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
823,564,799 (2020: 823,564,799) 823,564,799k%
—EomE
823,564,799}%) 82,356 82,356
Authorised: ETE
20,000,000,000 20,000,000,0000% 2,000,000 2,000,000
A summary of the Company’s share capital is as follows: RABREABE AN T
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
BETRH#E B s
HK$’000
TAET
At 1 January 2021 and N ZE—F—HA—HK
31 December 2021 2+ ZHB=+—H 823,564,799 82,356
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company on 1
June 2012, an ordinary resolution to propose a new
share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”)
was passed. The 2012 Share Option Scheme was thus
approved and adopted at the general meeting and
subsequent approval was granted by the Stock Exchange.
The 2012 Share Option Scheme is valid and effective
for 10 years commencing from the adoption date (i.e., 1
June 2012). The number of shares, which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme and other schemes adopted
by the Group, is not permitted to exceed 30% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in time. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and
other schemes adopted by the Group in aggregate is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at the adoption date. The total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual
is not permitted to exceed (i) 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue, and (i) HK$5,000,000 in aggregate
value based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, in any 12-month period unless such grant
is approved by independent shareholders at a general
meeting.

A consideration of HK$1 is payable by the grantee on
the acceptance of options granted. An option may be
exercised from the date of acceptance of the offer of such
option to the earlier of the date on which such option
lapses and 10 years from the offer date of that option.
The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the
closing price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on
the date of the grant of the options, and the average of
the closing prices of the shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the options.

Since the adoption of the 2012 Share Option Scheme, no
share options have been granted under the scheme up to
31 December 2021.

MR R MIEE
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28. fERetEstE

EARRNBR _E——FA—HBGF2Z2KE
BFEAG L BZE—ENERESS (TZ2
——FEREAE ) 2 ERARRCEREE
TE-CEEREIRALERREAT LB
HEER IR B R AB R REHE — T
——FERESE I HRMABEE B S
FRB—R) Bst+EARABIREM - 1TER
B —FHEREFERAERRMNZH
st 82 Z A B R 1T B8 IR R o B &%
TZROHE  FEEBAEARBEEAAEE
BITHRH 230% - 1R — B — _FEREE
RAREBERMNZ st B0l 5ER H 2 BB
ZERRDEBEHEEARESBERMBIEARL
BB TN Z210% « FEMR+ 18 5 #iR
AEEEMALTRE ZEREZBRBRMDAR
HRSBIB()AA R BTN 20.1% » i)
BRERSELEHERO ZWHETEZRE
ER1BiE5,000,0008 7T RIEARAEHE
BURERREAD EHAER S ER -

RENEMERZBEREFSAGRENE
ToRBREFNAZEMZEFEREZNEHE
EZERESMABERERERZBRER
THFER URFERE) LBBTRE-TEE
HARBDEFEE IR AERERERSD
HARMIEBRPAZKHE R EEERE
REBHMAERZARN ZFHRHEZ

BBE -

BEM_ - _—FBRESIIUR BEZ
T —F+-_A=+—BHMEREFIERY
ERIERE -

EAXCRKERBRAR

CE—_magy 175-
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29.

30.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to
profit or loss represent contributions payable to the MPF
Scheme by the Group at specified rates.

The employees of one of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operates in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The contributions are charged to
the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the retirement

benefit scheme contributions were approximately
HK$153,250 (2020: HK$254,000).

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

29.

30.

BAEFFHE

FERR TS ET _ASHERERFINME
AT HRAIRILZBHMEAREE (T817
T5t8)) ZH B EERAEBCEEDH
BR IHREAERZEERA -

REBE@mNEZBRAENGEEHRDAERR
BEZ MR EOBRD 822 MR

AEBRTEAMEEZHNBATME R
B ASHEMEMTERNFERZPRERE
stE| - BRAMMRIRIE T REBARE S ERA
B AR I B R bR o

REBEE_E-_—F+_-_B=+—HILEFEE"
BB 2 HAAA153,250870 (T2
ZE4F . 254,000 7T) ©

f#h

FEBRTFERBEIFEZ#ERESS
BTN R EEmEE K-

b bt
AEEZ RO EERFAIBRABLEES
e




30. RESERVES (continued)

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly-foreign-owned companies, certain entities within
the Group are required to allocate a certain portion (not
less than 10%), as determined by their boards of Directors,
of their profit after tax in accordance with PRC GAAP to
the statutory reserve fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve
reaches 50% of the registered capital.

The SRF is non-distributable other than in the event of
liquidation and, subject to certain restrictions set out
in the relevant PRC regulations, can be used to offset
accumulated losses or be capitalised as issued capital.

In accordance with the relevant regulations and the
articles of association, a subsidiary registered in the
PRC as a domestic company is required to appropriate
10% of its net profit (after offsetting accumulated losses
from prior years) to the statutory surplus reserve. After
the balance of such reserve reaches 50% of the entity’s
capital, any further appropriation is at the discretion of the
Company. The statutory surplus reserve can be utilised to
offset accumulated losses or increase capital. However,
the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be
maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after such
usages.

I\
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30. {#fE @

AEEE
BEPEBRARIIEEE AT ERER
AEBETHETERANESTRERT
EAREARAUDEFRREEFOE T
2 (RLR10%) BEER#BEE (DEERE
1) EEZHEBEIMELRNS0%ALE -

EEMBERTADIK HEHREBRBRK
R R ARRE o BEUA R P 8 A T IR B A (R 85
RERABREL DB HTRAGRIN -

REBERBEREREREEMA > EPEEM
RRBERRBWE QS AR HEAFAI10%
(ERPEBETFENRABRR EXAERK
EE-NZREBNEHREEZERE THI50%
%> ARBAAIRBIFRERE D BRI
ERFHEDBFHEHERFBERNEE R
me REE L ARE 2O E R R EBAGE
BRAMR ISR DR B AR25%

(
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31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES 31. G H

WITH MATERIAL NON- BH

CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non-

JEVERG R as 2 BB 3 B
/NS

ERBEAERFEREGZAEENBEAF

controlling interests are set out below: FIBEAAT
2021 2020
—EZ—%§ —_E_F
Percentage of equity interest held by R ERSEZRET DL :
non-controlling interests:
Jimei Entertainment Cambodia Jimei Entertainment Cambodia
Development Limited Development Limited - 49%
2021 2020
—EZ—% TETEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TE7T
Loss for the year allocated to FROEFIFERERZ
non-controlling interests: E518 .
Jimei Entertainment Cambodia Jimei Entertainment Cambodia
Development Limited Development Limited - (13)

Accumulated balances of
non-controlling interests at
the reporting date:

Jimei Entertainment Cambodia
Development Limited

RIS B EREmD
REHEER -

Jimei Entertainment Cambodia
Development Limited

(25,010)




31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES
WITH MATERIAL NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)
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3. R EARIEERIER Z S0
BEMEXE =

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRARTD Ea i B A B 2 BB R R o
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts P e 2B E I A B BRI 2 58 ©

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

Jimei Entertainment Cambodia Development Limited has Jimei Entertainment Cambodia Development

been disposed of in February 2021. No transaction was LimitedBER ZZEZ—F ZHHE -RHEHR
incurred before the disposal. W EE RIS

Jimei

Entertainment

Cambodia

Development

Limited

2020 —EEE HK$’000

F#T

Revenue & -

Total expenses Bz 4R%A (27)

Loss for the year and total comprehensive loss for K518 K £ N 2 E k5184858

the year (27)

Current assets BB E 2,509

Non-current assets ERENEE -

Current liabilities TmEaE (75,302)

Non-current liabilities Eli =N =

Net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities

KEXBFRREREFHR -
REEFH 2 REMEFE -
MEXBZRERE PR -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

ReEkFESEEE R FER -

\
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 32. FRRERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions @ FEFREXRS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions FR - AEBBEMABLATHENEER
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HrERAREEREEEENIERE
HK$2,982,000 and HK$2,884,000, respectively, in N4 Bl %&2,982,0007% 75 5% 2,884,000
respect of lease arrangements for office space (2020: B (ZTEZEHF 11,657,000tk
HK$1,557,000 and HK$1,557,000). 1,557,000 7T) ©
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MIEEHFTELXBEED
financing activities
2021 —E-—§
Bank
and other
borrowings
and film
investment Lease Promissory
loans liabilities notes
$RITR
Htfg &
VY35
KREEM HE&E ARER
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET F#ET F#ET
At 1 January 2021 W& _—&5—HA—H 509,919 4,718 1,000
Changes from financing MEBREMEEH
cash flows (119,817) (3,032) (1,000)
New leases WHEE - 2,884 -
Early termination of a REBELIE-BEREESY
lease contract - (375) -
Interest expense FERZ - 298 -
Exchange realignment ERAE 954 - -

At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+"_H=+—H 391,056 4,493 -
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32. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 2. ZEHERERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continueq)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MIBEEHMFTELXBRES @
financing activities (continuea)
2020 TECTE
Bank
and other
borrowings
and film Lease Promissory
investment loans liabilities notes
RITR
Hitfg &
MUREF
KREE HEaR ARERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
& TFET FET
At 1 January 2020 RZE_EF5—HF—H 361,701 6,312 9,000
Changes from financing MEREREES
cash flows 149,043 (2,962) (8,000)
New leases wHEE = 1,557 =
Disposal of subsidiaries RENBAD - (495) =
Interest expense FEREX - 306 -
Exchange realignment B A (825) - -
At 31 December 2020 RIZEZZF+ZA=+—H 509,919 4,718 1,000
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERERMHIEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FARESREXRZEERS R 4EEET
statement of cash flows is as follows: T
2021 2020
—E—F “ESF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Within operating activities KETEENA 216 842
Within financing activities MEEER 3,032

3,248
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

3. EEMBAT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHET
Net assets disposed of: BHEEEFME
Property, plant and equipment ME-BERZE - 61
Club debenture BrES - 320
Right-of-use assets ERAREE = 516
Prepayments, other receivables and FE{IRIE ~ EMEWRIE K
other assets HM&EE 2,560 29
Cash and bank balances H& MIRITHEER 7 101
Trade payables B2 ENIE - (3,330)
Other payables and accruals HhfERIB R ESHE A (4,641) (1,409)
Lease liability HEaR’ = (495)
Tax payable FEIHRIE (188) (38)
Non-controlling interests JEFERR = 25,010 =
(22,748) (4,245)
Exchange fluctuation reserve BE R BN 4,062 1,790
26,810 (2,455)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries BN BATIMN (B) i (26,810) 2,455

Satisfied by:
Cash

BUUTHESE
RE

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

FHREENBARMNEERFETSEERE R

in respect of the disposal of the subsidiaries is as follows: MAR DT T -
2021 2020
g% “ECEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FATT TAT
Cash consideration HERE - =
Cash and bank balances disposed of B HEMIRE & IBITAER (7) (101)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents BREENB AT ZHE &
in respect of the disposal of HEFEBEEFERA
subsidiaries @) (101)

In February 2021, the Group disposed of the Gaming
Operation and the underlying assets and liabilities to an
independent third party for a nominal consideration of
HK$39.21.

A— T —

N == —

E_R AEEREBEEBRIE
MEENRBBELRET R2BUF=FH %E
REA39.218 7T




34.

35.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

(@)  The Group had the following capital commitments at
the end of the reporting period:

RIFEIR ML

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

34. B KIE
(a) ATEBRREPREUTZERKIE

qﬂ%

Notes to Financial Statemerits- =

2021 2020
—E-—F “ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Contracted, but not provided for: B 5T49 > (BR B -
Film investments BREERE 215,969 44,114

(b)  The Group has no lease contracts that have not yet
commenced as at 31 December 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the following
outstanding balance with a related party as at 31
December 2021:

() Contract asset receivable from a
related party

b) WZEBE-_—F+_-_RA=+—H>K&EH
WE S ARBHBNEAESH -

35. Rt B33

R _E_—F+A=+—H BRREUH
WERMSFARZHMZZ 0 AEE LR
AT REBER

() BUR—REABAEZENEE

2021 2020

g% “ECEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FAT FAET

A related company — Horgos Feixia —BRBAH A B —E TR ETRAC 18,257 41,484

On 19 April 2019, the Group signed a TV drama
series investment agreement with Horgos Feixia
Film and TV Culture Media Limited (‘Horgos Feixia”),
which is a subsidiary of Hangzhou Xindingming
Enterprise Management Consultancy Co., Ltd. On
12 July 2019, Hangzhou Xindingming Enterprise
Management Consultancy Co., Ltd. became a
shareholder of the Group. The receivable from
Horgos Feixia became a related party balance
thereafter.

RIZZE—AFHEBTAB  "EEEMN
MR XERANERADZWE
AR EMRERRE G EBEARE
ERE (TEWMRHMM) KT BRE
BREEMZ - R_E—NAFELtA+Z
B M RAEEAZRNEERRLA
PR AN EE B 2 IR R o FE UK E 7 SR HT AR R
BYTR IR BB 12 AY A R Bk 73 4G B

!
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continueq)

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

The remuneration of the key management of the
Group during the year was as follows:

35. Al ARS =

FEBTEZEEA SN

FREAEERTEZEEASFHMOT :

2021 2020

—E-—&§ —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FAET

Short term employee benefits R EERT 5,991 8,549
Retirement benefit scheme BIRERHEIHE

contributions 18 18

6,009 8,567

The remuneration of Directors and other members
of key management is determined by the board
of Directors having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

Further details of Directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

EERHEMTZEEBREZHMEE
EEE2EAAXRRRTHEBEE -

ERESERIBTHRABHMZE—D
EACE A NEEE R




35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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35. B3RS @

(continueq)

(i) Amounts due from a Director (i) B —RESBMRIEA
2021 2020
—E—% TEIEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT

Amounts due from a Director — Luo fEW—LEEHIFE—

Lei (note 18) #E (Mf5E18) 872 2,092

(iv)

The amounts due from a Director are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

BUR—2EEMEASAERT  RE R
BREE-

Amounts due to a Director (iv) Bft—%EFMIE
2021 2020
—E—F —ECSF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFAET
Amounts due to a Director - Chau  Eff—ZEERIE—
Chit (note 22) B (fiEE22) 180 =

The amounts due to a Director are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

BN —REETMEALERT RERE
BREE -

Amount due to a shareholder (v) FE(F—%BRERIE
2021 2020
—E—F “EIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Amount due to a shareholder FES — & IR ERIE 1,227 1,188

The amount due to a shareholder is non-trade in
nature, unsecured, and interest-free. The balance as
at 31 December 2021 is repayable in 2022 (2020:
repayable in 2022).

R — 2R RAIEAER S N E T
WRRE N_B-—fF+-A=t—
ANEBRAR "S- —EH#E (TS
BE ARSI CEEE)

- ﬂﬂ
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continueq)

(vi) Film investment loans

35. B3RS @

(vi) BERREEW

2021 2020

—E-—£F —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TF#7T FHETT

A shareholder — Jiangyin Binjiang —BREIIRETL 30,420 30,247

On 20 October 2018 and 5 November 2018, the
Group signed film investment loan agreements with
Jiangyin Binjiang Technology Venture Investment
Co., Ltd. (“Jiangyin Binjiang”), whereby the Group
was provided with film investment loan totaling
HK$30,420,000 (2020: HK$30,247,000), which is
trade in nature, unsecured and with an interest rate
of 6%. On 8 May 2019, Jiangyin Binjiang became
a shareholder of the Group. The loan is overdue
as at 31 December 2021 with accrued interests
of HK$3,951,000 and late payment penalties of
HK$3,584,000. As at the date of this report, the
Group is in the process of renegotiating the terms
of the loan with Jiangyin Binjiang, which includes,
among others, to extend the maturity dates. The
interest and late payment penalties had been
accrued according to the provision of the current
loan agreement.

RN_E—-N\E+BE-_+BEKR_E—N\F
+—BHER > AEBETRBIRKA
ERERRAT (DIREIL) BIEE
REER B B ZEBRESER
BEER S 30,420,000 T (CE-F
£ 130,247,000 7))  ZERARZ
B BRI RAIERAC% R _E—NE
AANB IEEIRARER 2R
RHoR_BE_—F+_BA=+—H %
EREEin BRI E A3,951,0008 7T
R % 743,584,000 75 o IR AR & H
O AEFERTIRBEISNHEER
&= U (EpeE) EREEH - B /EA
BERAENEERBIREERMZENEX
sTiR o




CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

RIS IR N

31 December 2021 —_E_—F+_HF=+—H

36. HEANBNHNEMTR

RBERR EMITARBESENREET

instruments as the end of the reporting period are as T 5
follows:
2021 —E-—&
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
B RAS st =
ZEREE
Financial assets SHEE HK$’000
FAET
Trade receivables B 5 ERIA 33,650
Contract assets BHNEE 28,451
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t A FB{ =018 ~ H fth FE U 20 18 K
other receivables and other assets HUMWEEZ CRIEE 107,163
Cash and cash equivalents HEeERIBSEEEB 157,105
326,369
Financial liabilities
at fair value
BATEFEN
EmasE
Designated as Financial
such upon liabilities at
initial recognition amortised cost Total
BEHEMAE
RIaERRIETE ZEMER st
Financial liabilities ERaR HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAET FHET
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmasE 16,140 = 16,140
Financial liabilities at fair value BATEGABENERAR
through profit or loss 192,023 - 192,023
Interest-bearing bank and other HERTRAMEEUR
borrowings and film investment loans ~ BE R BEE® - 391,056 391,056
Amounts due to a shareholder e —aRERHIE - 1,227 1,227
Financial liabilities included in trade and st A B 7 R EtELTIEZ
other payables SRHEE - 162,502 162,502

208,163

554,785 9
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continueq)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

36. ENAPHNEMTIAE @

RBEHRR - ERMITARZBESBENREEBET

instruments as the end of the reporting period are as T @)
follows: (continued)
2020 T
Financial
assets at
amortised cost
BN A E
ZEMEE
Financial assets HK$’000
TR
Trade receivables B 5 ERIA 67,233
Contract assets 94,025
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t A FB{ =018 ~ H fth FE U 20 18 K
other receivables and other assets HUMWEEZ CRIEE 104,050
Cash and cash equivalents ReRR+EEER 142,837
408,145
Financial liabilities
at fair value
BATEHEN
By =K
Designated as Financial
such upon liabilities at
initial recognition amortised cost Total
BRI A2
RNERERRIEE ZERER st
Financial liabilities HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT AT AT
Derivative financial liabilities 17,945 - 17,945
Interest-bearing bank and other HERTRAMEEUR
borrowings and film investment loans -7 ™ = 509,919 509,919
Amounts due to a shareholder R —aREIE - 1,188 1,188
Promissory note = - 1,000 1,000
Financial liabilities included in trade and 5t A B 7 R At TIEZ
other payables - 156,656 156,656
17,945 668,763 686,708
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as
follows:

A F5ER AR B EE

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

37. %EEIEE’\J’AEFE&’AEFEE

FEETHMIA CREEEARATESERES
BRSN BEREERAFENT !

Carrying amounts Fair values
IRE(E ATE
2021 2020 2021 2020
—g—F "EB°%¥ ZEZ—F ZEBIZ

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FART THTT FTET THAT

Financial liabilities EMEE
Interest-bearing bank and other FEIRITRAMMBEE
borrowings and film investment loans UK BEHZREER

391,056 509,919 384,335 501,010

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, contract assets, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in trade
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, and amounts
due to a shareholder approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

EEEENLEEAREEEERE ANE
E B HBWRIE StATANRIE  HfthiE Uk
MERHEMWEEZSRMEE - SFABZEN
MECHMEIRERESERZEHERE
EANBRABIFERRRREBREMN—BR
ERBEZATERHKEERES TEHN
ZETEREONEHRREIE-

AEBBRMBEEAENYHEREEFES
MIARAFESBNERRKRER MHLEE
EENVBRERBERZRZETER -NER
SEE MBHRPAONERIABENES
B TEEGHEMBNIZHABIR HE
M BEEERT R E - HEEERGERS
EREEGSFETMRwm  UFRHAR
FEMBHRR
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 37. EMIANAFERATFEE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and film investment
loans have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and film investment loans as at
31 December 2021 were assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of the derivative financial liability as of 31
December 2021 was related to variable interest rate of
certain film investment loans, which was calculated based
on the discounted cash flow model under the income-
based approach. The key assumptions included discount
rate, forecast revenue and profits tax rate. A significant
increase in the estimated cash inflow and the growth rates
in isolation would result in a significant increase in the
fair value of the derivative financial liability. A significant
decrease in discount rate in isolation would result in
a significant increase in the fair value of the derivative
financial liability.

The discount for lack of marketability represents the
amounts of premiums and discounts determined by the
Group that market participants would take into account
when pricing the investments.

R =)

THEEREBBZATERZIANEREE
BEMRS GFRENFEMEHE) RARih
ZERBRIER -G AFERFRBUTHER

B :

SARRTREMEEUARBEEREGMZIF
RS DN AFENDRBRAN AR BLUE
PoEEREBRRFGFEHNIANRITHNE
MRERARRERBAE -AEER T
T+ ZRA=+—HKFRRITREME
BEURBEREERNTEOARERNA
FEEHHEDBLFEK

EsMmAaERE_E_—F+HA=+—
AN AFERETEFREERNOIEF] X
B RBRAZETHNMRERESREE
H-TERIROEHEX - BAKRZRFER
Ko AT IREMARIE ERPAIEIE N
EYMETHEBENQATFEKNBIEMZS
HENAERIBERTESHEBENATF
(EPN=pRI

RZAIHENER A EBRMEETH2RE
ERREEBEREEEBNEEBMITESR




37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2021

Notes to Financial Statements \
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BTSRRI |
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37%HIEWQ¥E&Q¥EE
67

AFEER
TRITAEESHIAZ ATEFBER:

BRATEREZAR:
R-ZE-—%+-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERNTREMFZ ATEHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

REE  ERUER EATTERER
MHRE BARR BARE Hast

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

E—R (-t (BE=H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET

Financial liabilities at fair value through ~ AT EF ABRNEHEE

profit or loss - - 192,023 192,023
Derivative financial liabilities TEEmar - - 16,140 16,140
- - 208,163 208,163

As at 31 December 2020

N2 _EF+_HF=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ERUTRIERFZ ATERHE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs Total

AR BAUBR EATUEER

mIFRE BAHE BAHE szt
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—1R) (EZR (BE=%)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FET FET
Derivative financial liabilities fTESRaE - - 17,945 17,945

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and

financial liabilities (2020: nil).

RERN B—REE _RZELFESEL
mEE W’E%ﬁfﬁé&%ﬁﬂﬁfiﬁkﬂ
HE=BER (CE_2F:
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37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 7. M TANATFERATFEE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 3
INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) RNEEBSR @
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TERBANR ZZEZ—FRZEZZF+TA
significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of financial =+t HEMIAGEMERZGERTE
instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis BEAROERGABBUREEFEEDNT:
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:
Significant
Valuation  unbservable Sensitivity of fair value
techniques inputs Range to the input
EXFAER ATEHBAYE
fh{E R i WARE #E ISR
Financial liabilities at fair Income-based Estimated  2021: HK$61,643,000 to 5% increase/decrease
value through profit or approach revenue HK$316,299,000 in estimated revenue
loss from motion would result in increase/
pictures decrease in fair value
by HK$8,724,000/
HK$11,513,000
BATESABEN BA%R  RBRRZ IZEIZ—F 61,643,000 Betikagm,/
EREE FEithha  HTES16,299,000% 7T 5% 8 EHATEIEM

/08,724,000 7T
/11,513,000 7T

Discount rate  2021: 17.46% t0 23.35% 5% increase/decrease in
discount rate would result

in decrease/increase in

fair value by HK$455,000/

HK$591,000

BEE ZEZ—F I 1746%F REIRZIE M,/ R D5%
23.35% EERATEHEL /LM

455,000/ 7%,/591,000

BT




Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
significant unobservable inputs to the valuation of financial
instruments together with a quantitative sensitivity analysis
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

37. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Y,
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37. %EEIEE'\J’AEFE&’AEFEE
R =)

NEERER =)

I3 3

=+—H ﬁ%ﬂlﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁzfﬁﬁﬁm&
ERATIHRRRABBURE

EHRED

Significant
Valuation  unbservable Sensitivity of fair value
techniques inputs Range to the input
EXFAER ATEHBARE
fh{E R i WABE #E ISR
Derivative financial liabilities Income-based Estimated 2021: HK$10,346,000- 5%(2020:5%) increase/
approach revenue  HK$316,299,000 (2020: decrease in estimated
from motion HK$10,287,000 to revenue would result in
pictures HK$387,147,000) increase/decrease in fair
value by HK$1,294,000/
HK$1,293,000 (2020:
HK$2,345,000/
HK$2,414,000)
TEEmar BWA%R  kBRRZ ZEIZ—F 10,346,000 §+umtmnu/ A
st #TES16,299,000 5% (CTIEE 1 5%)
BT (CEZEE: BERATEEM/
10,287,000 T E 2,294,000 7T
387,147,000 7T) /1,293,000 7T

Discount rate

RHEE

2021: 17.46% to 23.35%
(2020: 18.01% to
24.08%)

TEC—F L 1T46%FE
23.35% (ZE-TH
18.01%ZE24.08% )

(ZEZEH 12,345,000
HIT,/2,414,000% )

5%(2020:5%) increase/
decrease in discount rate
would result in decrease/

increase in fair value by

HK$58,000/HK$59,000

(2020: HK$64,000/
HK$66,000)
ﬁﬁiﬁzi'ﬂu/ H5% (=
TTTF 1 5%)
SERAFERD /&M
58,0007 7T,//59,0007 7T
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MERAEEEBRREER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise AEBENFERNETREBREARTER TR
promissory notes, interest-bearing bank and other RTREMEEURERKREER - TES
borrowings and fim investment loans, derivative financial REEURRERIREEFEEE ZFT/
liabilities and cash and cash equivalents. The main TEAENFEENDAXRERNREEEES
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance o AEEBREREHMEMEEREE W
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other BERRBEEKENEGTRUREBERE S E
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and fIFRIE

trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial REXAEREHRITANFTIEZRARANER
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, B NERE S EERBAREBESRM E
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of Directors reviews EEERIREEESBERABNEE > B
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and BRI RS T 3L o

they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk FEE =

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market FAEER 2 —F+"A=+—HEEW
interest rates as at 31 December 2021 relates primarily to MG EEHEAMTEEAREFNFEFH =X
the Group’s interest-bearing film investment loans with a FERERREERERM-

floating interest rate.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk using FEBZHEAUBENERELRBETE
a mix of fixed rate and movie performance specific debts. EEEEEREBEMNERM -AEBEWE
The Group has not used any financial instruments to hedge FREMNER T AR FBEFEES-

potential fluctuations in interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal. 7 £ [ BE B A == 3| B Al o




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.
None (2020:None) of the Group’s sales were denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the
operating units making the sale.

In addition, the Group has currency exposures from its
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and film
investment loans.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the RMB and USD exchange rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax
(due to changes in the fair values of monetary assets and
liabilities).

Notes to Financial Statemeﬁts’- .
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38. MEEMGEEBERBE @

S L B

AERRRRZERER ZEARDER
MEBUNBUZEERLUN 2 ERETT
BEEMEL AEELE (CE22F | §) i
ERNETHEZKEBMUNEERUING
EWstE

5h *EBEERE S BRITAREMBE
UREBZREERNEREER -

TRINEMEEHMEHERTIEZBR
T rEEGRABEE (AEBEERERER
TEEZFFE) BRREARARERETE
R BEP]SEEF I BRE -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
basis points loss before tax
BEL PRI AIRSIR
B, GRL) ¥, GrL)
HK$’000
F#
2021 —E-—F
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens HATRETRE
against the USD 1 (1,684)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens B TRETAE
against the USD (1) 1,684
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens B TR ARKEERE
against the RMB 1 (100)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens HETRAREHE
against the RMB (1) 100

‘ﬂy@

1
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MHEAEMEBEBREREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Foreign currency risk (continued) SIS B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in loss/profits
basis points before tax

B PRIRAIES IR,
@, Geeb)  ERIgm, Cely)

HK$'000
THET

2020 —=-=
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens HWATRETRE

against the USD 1 3,298
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens WA TRETHE

against the USD (1) (3,298)
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens WA TREAREEZE

against the RMB 1 271)
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens HWETRARBAHE

against the RMB (1) 271
Credit risk S8R
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEEEHEKITIREERTFNE=ZFXR
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers GoAREBRNRHAECMERBEESRRZN
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit BEREETERBFER N REBEHF
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are 18 BE 22 R SRR IB 45 BR ©

monitored on an ongoing basis.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MFEAMEBEBEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Credit risk (continuea) EERK @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging R A/ % 14 1 B £ K P I S R
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRETHR+ZB=+—HBHHNEEEEZRE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, RAEBREFEERENRAGEERRKO > E
which is mainly based on past due information unless ZEERBEAAEN GRIFEEMBEERAMNE
other information is available without undue cost or effort, B ARE DA EENER) URFERFEDN
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. EEDEFB -PMEINEEAZETME
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for ENREAENREBRNEERR-

financial assets and the exposure to credit risk.

As at 31 December 2021 R-_®-_—%+-H=+—H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 B 58
=858 2HEEHE
Simplified
Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—IEER FPEER B {EH & st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FERT FET FET
Contract assets* BNEE - - - 105,911 105,911
Trade receivables® BB EWRE - - - 114,560 114,560
Cash and cash equivalents ReERkAEEEER
— Not yet past due — kB 157,105 - - - 157,105
Financial assets included STATEMTIE Bt
in prepayments, other ERRIERHMEE
receivables and other assets ~ MISBIE &
- Normal™ —FE™ 107,163 - - - 107,163

264,268 = = 220,471 484,739
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continuea)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continueq)

As at 31 December 2020

EERKE @
RBAEFR O R FEXREEEER (&)

AZEo®E+-A=+—8

N—= ==

38. MEEMEEEBERBE @

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B
FEBAE 2HPEESAE
Simplified
Stage1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FMEE EREE HMEEL BIEH % st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAET TAET FTAT
Contract assets” BREE - - - 121,888 121,888
Trade receivables* B ElE - - - 138,864 138,364
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBeEEEE
- Not yet past due — B R 142,837 = = = 142,837
Financial assets included AN FIE EAf
in prepayments, other EWFER HMEE
receivables and other assets ~ MEEIEE
- Normal™ —EE* 104,050 - - - 104,050
246,887 - - 260,752 507,639

For trade receivables and contract assets which the Group
applies the simplified approach lifetime ECLs, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 17 and
19 the financial statements, respectively.

- The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial

recognition.

ok

MAERERABCH s2RREEHBENE
FERRERGNEEMS » BREEHEREN
Bl DB B IR R M ST 7R 197 4R 5E

EStARNME - HMEEURBEREMEE
NEMEESRBHEREENERZRES
RMEEBVNSBIRBEEARBERMB
PR AZEEMEENEEERRRAME

Bl



38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continuea)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had concentration of
credit risk as most of the Group’s trade receivables and
contract assets were due from a few customers, who are
mainly film distributors and are in the media and culture
segment. 29% and 33% of the Group’s trade receivables
and contract assets were due from the Group’s customer
with the largest trade receivables and contract assets
balance, and 90% and 84% were due from the customers
with five largest trade receivables and contract assets
balance, as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains

sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term.

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and
cash equivalents or have available funding through
interest bearing loans to meet its commitments over the
foreseeable future in accordance with its strategic plan.

Notes to Financial Statemeﬁts’- '
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38. MEEMGEEBERBE @

EERRE @

ERAEEREEZBWHRESIENEER
R E—F BEBURR M BRRMEF17HR

o

RIEZ—F+ZB=+—H BHRAEH
ABPDEZEBREBERGHNEEREBEE R
XIEDEHRETEABTEHEFNLHER
WAEBMEETEERBRERBER - R_T

T—ERIEZEE+ZRA=+—H > KE&E
EESERREBERENEETDRB29% K
BRARWBLAEBRRAEZRIKTNIEBERE
HEERBRNED  LIR0%%84%%4 EW B
AAREZENRERGHNEEEBINER

MENE = AR

FEBCBEATHEREMABERARBE
TER BEREFTENRESFEBELUNER
gﬂ&ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ’]uu@]ﬁ% =K o

AEBZBRABBFBER RERHH
REkBcFERERARFREHES R
BHRBFEEIREARKEBEITHAE
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MHEAEMEBEBREREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Liquidity risk (continueq) mMBEERAR @
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at BESORLBRNTI AEERREHERZ
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual THEaRIHREROT

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Group FEE
2021
—E--%
Less than 1to5
1 year years Total
bit—& —E5f ek
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TAET FET FTET
Interest-bearing bank and other HERTRAMBENR
borrowings and film investment loans ~ BEREEM 391,056 - 391,056
Amounts due to a shareholder P —%REIA - 1,227 1,227
Lease liabilities HE&R 3,181 1,888 5,069
Trade and other payables BARAMENRE 162,502 - 162,502
Derivative financial liabilities =K 16,140 - 16,140
Financal liabilities at fair value BATESABaNEREas
through profit or loss 192,023 - 192,023
764,902 3,115 768,017
Further information regarding the Group’s liquidity risk and ERAEERES RN KMRESIRB AT
the actions taken and planned by the Directors is set out in BNTHNE—PTERNERH A AFERE

= o

note 2.1, Going concern assumption. (EE




38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Notes to Financial Stateme ts .

%?ﬁﬁmn,(

31 December 2021 —_E_—&F+_"_H=+—H

38. MEEMGEEBERBE @

Liquidity risk (continueq) MBEERAR @
Group (continued) FEE &)
2020
bl _|1 — T3 E
Less than 1105
1 year years Total
DR —F —ERE Bz
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAT FAT FAT
Interest-bearing bank and other HERTRAMEEUR
borrowings and film investment loans ~ BEHBEER 184,830 339,733 524,563
Amounts due to a shareholder e —2REHE = 1,188 1,188
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,159 2,936 5,095
Trade and other payables Bo MEMENRIE 156,656 S 156,656
Derivative financial liabilities ThEEmar 17,945 - 17,945
Promissory note ARER 1,000 - 1,000
362,590 343,857 706,447
Capital management BEFREE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. The Group made no change to its capital structure
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

FEBREAEEZHEZERARRAEEA
BRESEZE BEFRBZERLER
UXFHHEEBBEFRBEEARREE

FEERBEEBRZ S REFEEZR
BEEEEREAGRIFHBEE S&E_
T+ R=t—HLEEE TEEHN

BEAGHERBERERL
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. MHEAEMEBEBREREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)
Capital management (continued) BAEE®
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is REBRBERSELE BIMER PERUKZ
net debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net BAEERNNEH FHE) EREAR-EHFEE
debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FEERTREMEEUARERKRES ?’X .
and film investment loans, promissory notes, amounts AREBE BB AR IFERRERIE
due to non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries, trade SEMREBEREMENRBERESER ﬁE
payables and other payables and accruals, an amount due H—2REFEBEBRREENREEEER &
to a shareholder less cash and cash equivalents. Capital REESRABEBEAEBEERZ REREH
includes equity attributable to owners of the parent. The FANEAREELEERWT .
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:
2021 2020
—E—F ZEIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEEUR
borrowings and film investment loans ~ B EER 391,056 509,919
Amount due to a shareholder FE — S B ERFIE 1,227 1,188
Promissory notes AR ER - 1,000
Other payables and accruals HihfERIE KRB E B 162,502 156,656
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRERIREEEER (157,105) (142,837)
Net debt B 388 397,680 525,926
Equity attributable to owners of BABHE AEGER
the parent (189,848) 202,548
Capital and net debt EARMERFEE 207,832 728,474
Gearing ratio BEARESELE 191% 72%
Further information regarding the Group’s deficiency in net ERAEREEFERNERESAHE RS
assets and the actions taken and planned by the Directors S NITERNE— P ERENRNE2AFERE

is set out in note 2.1, Going concern assumption. fR&% o
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39. B MBIKRET

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

RESHR BERERARDZHBRRARZE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2021 2020
—E-—5F —EIEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BRE KRR 2 34
Right-of-use assets FREEE 751 =
Prepayments, other receivables and FEFUIE ~ HM WA K
other assets Hth&EE 35,100 =
Investments in subsidiaries NB AR ZRE 58,736 58,736
Total non-current assets ERSEEEE 94,589 58,770
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments, other receivables and FaTRIE N B EIE K
other assets Hth&EE 374 51,666
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS B B A B =R IE - 87,118
Cash and bank balances B KRIB1T4 R 66 960
Total current assets MENEEMEE 440 139,744
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEE
Other payables HnpE a8 8,077 5,912
Contract liabilities FHEE 18,159 26,929
Lease liabilities HEaE 509 =
Promissory notes AR - 1,000
Interest-bearing bank and other FEIRITREMESR
borrowings and film investment loans UK BEEEER 34,020 =
Total current liabilities TRENEEAEEE 60,765 33,841
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS 78 (&) /BEFE (60,325) 105,903
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBAR
LIABILITIES 34,264 164,673
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39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

Notes to Financial State

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(continueq)

39. XTI MBRAR »

2021 2020
—E-—&§ ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 244 =
Interest-bearing bank and other FFEBITREMEEUR
borrowings and film investment loans ~ BREEER - 11,400
Total non-current liabilities JERB &R 244 11,400
Net assets BEFE 34,020 153,273
Equity T
Share capital [N 82,356 82,356
Reserves (note) A s (48,336) 70,917
Total equity e m AR %R 34,020 153,273
Tang Liang Chau Chit
Ex Ay
Director Director
o BE




39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
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39. XTI MBRAR @

(CONTINUED)
Note: BT -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KABNREERROT
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
PREN=E
iR E HE REtE18 1met
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET FAETT
Balance at 1 January 2020 RIZEZEHF
—B—B#&H% 556,778 1,564 (469,532) 88,810
Total comprehensive loss FRNEEBIEREE
for the year - - (17,893) (17,893)
At 31 December 2020 and RIEZEHF
1 January 2021 +-BA=+—HK
—HB—H 556,778 1,564 (487,425) 70,917
Total comprehensive loss for the £ 2 E k51848 %8
year - - (119,253) (119,253)
At 31 December 2021 RIB_—%
+=-B=+—H 556,778 1,564 (606,678) (48,336)
EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING 40. FREHAREM

PERIOD

Subsequent to the reporting period, the Group has entered
into agreements with lenders of other borrowings and film
investment loans, among others, to extend the repayment
date of the other borrowings and film investment loans and
to mitigate the liquidity issues of the Group. Further details
are set out in note 2.1, Going concern assumption.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 21 June
2022.

RESHE FEEREMEEURERR
BETRBEAI LR (HREE) UERE
thEEUKREBEXREEMIER B RERE
Zkﬁﬂﬁmﬁléﬁﬁsﬁ E—DBENW

2 AREBRERR

M. HEESIHBERE

FEEMBREDEEFEN T __FX
BT +—H#tEREETIE#-
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Financial Summary

A5 AR

RESULTS

E S

For the year ended 31 December

BE+"A=+—HLEE

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“E—+F BE-N\FE ZE-hE BTF ZBZI—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FET FHET FHET FET
Revenue (including continuing and W& (BB KK
discontinued operations) IHREEFR) 39,958 73,485 327,065 47,761 199,386
Profit (loss) before taxation BRI AT T (F518) (297,979) (55,518) 148,097 (148,016) (416,689)
Income tax (expense) credit Fisi () KR = = (50,603) (11,785) 15,550
Profit (loss) for the year FEHF (518 (297,979) (55,518) 97,494 (162,408) (401,139)
attributable to owners of KNBEE AFEL
the Company (294,439) (49,606) 98,181 (162,275) (401,089)
attributable to non-controlling JEPERG AR AL
interests (3,540) (65,912) (687) (133) (50)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BER&RE
As at 31 December
»+=RA=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
“Z—+tE ZE-N\E ET-NE TITF ZEZI—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET FHET FHET FET
Total assets BEE 342,432 446,453 1,174,583 1,018,457 720,880
Total liabilities meE (452,877) (609,805) (865,031) (841,882) (911,747)
(110,445) (163,352) 309,552 176,575 (190,867)
Equity R
attributable to owners of ZN/NIEZ 2= DN
the Company (68,990)  (117,290) 356,296 202,548  (189,848)
attributable to non-controlling JEEIRE R (L
interests (41,455) (46,062) (46,744) (25,973) (1,019)
Total 4 st (110,445) (163,352) 309,552 176,575 (190,867)
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